MOVANO INC.
8,500,000 Shares of Common Stock
This is the initial public offering of shares of our common stock. Prior to this offering, there has been no public
market for our common stock. The initial public offering price is $5.00 per share. We have applied to list our
common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “MOVE.”
We are an “emerging growth company” as that term is used in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 and,
as such, have elected to comply with certain reduced public company reporting requirements for this prospectus
and may elect to do so in future filings. See “Prospectus Summary — Implications of Being an Emerging Growth
Company.”
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 for a
discussion of information that should be considered in connection with an investment in our securities.
Per Share

Total

Public offering price���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $5.0000 $42,500,000
Underwriting discount(1) ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $0.3200 $2,720,000
Proceeds, before expenses, to us���������������������������������������������������������������������������� $4.6800 $39,780,000
(1)

We have also granted a warrant to the underwriter in connection with this offering and agreed to reimburse the underwriter
for certain expenses incurred by it. See “Underwriting” beginning on page 69 for a description of the compensation
payable by us to the underwriter.

The underwriter may also purchase up to an additional 1,275,000 shares from us at the initial public offering price,
less the underwriting discount, within 45 days of the date of this prospectus, to cover over-allotments if any.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to
the contrary is a criminal offense.
The underwriter expects to deliver the shares of common stock to investors on or about March 25, 2021.
Sole Book-Running Manager

National Securities Corporation
The date of this prospectus is March 22, 2021.
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Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Movano”, “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company”
refer to Movano Inc.
You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and any related free writing prospectus
that we may provide to you in connection with this offering. We have not, and the underwriter has not,
authorized anyone to provide you with additional or different information. If anyone provides you with
different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not, and the underwriter is not,
making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should
assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover
of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed
since that date.
For investors outside the United States: neither we nor the underwriter have done anything that would permit
this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus or any free writing prospectus we may provide
to you in connection with this offering in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other
than in the United States. You are required to inform yourselves about and to observe any restrictions relating
to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus and any such free writing prospectus outside of the
United States.
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Prospectus Summary
This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and does not contain all of
the information that you should consider before investing in our common stock. You should carefully read this
prospectus and the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part in their entirety before investing in our
common stock, including the information discussed under “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 and our financial
statements and notes thereto that appear elsewhere in this prospectus.
Our Company
We are a health-focused technology company developing simple, smart and personalized devices designed to help
individuals on their health journey maintain good health today and prevent and manage chronic diseases in the
future.
We are developing a proprietary platform that uses Radio Frequency (“RF”) technology, which we believe will
enable the creation of low-cost and scalable sensors that are small enough to fit into a wearable and other small form
factors. We expect that our platform will provide users with the ability to measure and continuously monitor vital
health data and provide actionable feedback to jumpstart changes in behaviors.
Our platform is the foundation for our first product in development, which is a non-invasive and cuffless wearable
that simultaneously measures glucose, blood pressure and heart rate. It is intended to combine the functionality
of a continuous glucose monitor (“CGM”) and a cuffless RF-based blood pressure monitor (“rBPM ®”) into one
wearable device. Once developed, we believe it will allow users to manage their health with confidence and in a
manner that best fits their lifestyle, ultimately improving health outcomes.
Risks Related to Our Business
An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks
summarized below. These risks are discussed more fully in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus immediately
following this prospectus summary. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

We have a history of operating losses, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

•

If we fail to obtain and maintain necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for our proposed wearable
product, or if clearances or approvals for other future applications and indications are delayed or not
issued, our commercial operations will be harmed.

•

Our efforts may never result in the successful development of commercial applications based on our
technology.

•

Expected net proceeds from this offering are not expected to be sufficient for us to complete the
development and commercialization of our proposed wearable product or the balance of our long-term
business plan, and if we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we may be required to curtail
the development of our technology or materially curtail or reduce our operations.

•

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our current business, predict our future
results or forecast our financial performance and growth.

•

Competition in the glucose and blood pressure monitoring market is intense and we may be unable to
successfully compete.

•

We will depend on third parties to design, manufacture and seek regulatory approval of our planned
products. If any third party fails to successfully design, manufacture and gain regulatory approval of our
planned products, our business will be materially harmed.

•

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our financial condition, results of operations and the
value of our technology and products could be adversely affected.
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Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the
JOBS Act, and, for as long as we continue to be an “emerging growth company,” we expect to take advantage of
exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth
companies,” including, but not limited to, (i) being required to present only two years of audited financial statements
and related financial disclosure, (ii) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (iii) extended transition periods available under the JOBS Act
for complying with new or revised accounting standards, (iv) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and (v) exemptions from the requirements of holding a
nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments
not previously approved. We could be an “emerging growth company” for up to five years, or until the earliest of
(i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed $1.07 billion, (ii) the date that we
become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act (“Exchange Act”) of
1934, as amended, which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds
$700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, or (iii) the date on
which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year period.
We are also a “smaller reporting company” and will remain a smaller reporting company while either (i) the market
value of our stock held by non-affiliates was less than $250 million as of the last business day of our most recently
completed second fiscal quarter or (ii) our annual revenue was less than $100 million during our most recently
completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates was less than $700 million as of the
last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter. If we are still considered a “smaller reporting
company” at such time as we cease to be an “emerging growth company,” we will be subject to increased disclosure
requirements. However, the disclosure requirements will still be less than they would be if we were not considered
either an “emerging growth company” or a “smaller reporting company.” Specifically, similar to “emerging growth
companies”, “smaller reporting companies” are able to provide simplified executive compensation disclosures in
their filings; are exempt from the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that independent
registered public accounting firms provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting; and have certain other decreased disclosure obligations in their Securities and Exchange Commission
filings, including, among other things, being required to provide only two years of audited financial statements in
annual reports.
Market and Industry Data
This prospectus contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business, and
the markets for our products, including data regarding the estimated size of those markets and their projected
growth rates, as well as market research, estimates and forecasts prepared by our management. Unless otherwise
expressly stated, we obtained this industry, business, market and other data from publicly available information,
reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared by market research firms and other third parties, industry
and general publications, government data and similar sources. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts,
projections, market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or
circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances that are assumed in this information based on
various factors, including those discussed under the heading ‘Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. We
believe that these sources and estimates are reliable but have not independently verified them and cannot guarantee
their accuracy or completeness. We caution you not to give undue weight to such projections, assumptions and
estimates.
Corporate Information
We were incorporated in Delaware in January 2018 under the name Maestro Sensors Inc. On August 3, 2018,
we changed our name to Movano Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 6200 Stoneridge Mall
Rd., Suite 300, Pleasanton, CA 94588, and our telephone number is (415) 651-3172. Our website address is
www.movano.com. The information contained on, or accessible through, our website is not incorporated by reference
into this prospectus, and you should not consider any information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our
website as part of this prospectus or in deciding whether to purchase our common stock.
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Qualified Small Business Stock
We believe that upon the close of this offering (i) we will be an “eligible corporation” as defined in Section 1202(e)(4)
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or Code, (ii) we will not have made any purchases of our own
stock during the one-year period preceding the closing having an aggregate value exceeding 5% of the aggregate
value of all our stock as of the beginning of such period and (iii) our aggregate gross assets, as defined by Code
Section 1202(d)(2), at no time and through the closing will have exceeded or will exceed $50 million, taking into
account the assets of any corporations required to be aggregated with us in accordance with Code Section 1202(d)(3).
As such, we believe that the common stock offered hereby should be “qualified small business stock” pursuant to
Code Section 1202(c). Certain prospective purchasers may be eligible for an exemption from federal income tax on
capital gains with respect to “qualified small business stock” held for more than five years. For such exemption to
apply to such purchaser, we will have to meet certain active business tests during substantially all of the prospective
purchaser’s holding period, which tests may be impacted by our future operations and our utilization of the proceeds
of this offering. We cannot assure that we will meet all or any of such tests during substantially all of a prospective
purchaser’s holding period. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors with regard to the
applicability or interpretation of Section 1202 of the Code.
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THE OFFERING
Common Stock Offered By Us���������������������������� 8,500,000 shares
Common Stock Outstanding After This
Offering������������������������������������������������������������ 30,849,412 shares (1)(2)
Over-allotment Option���������������������������������������� We have granted the underwriter the option to purchase up to an
additional 1,275,000 shares from us at the public offering price,
less the underwriting discount, within 45 days of the date of this
prospectus, to cover over-allotments, if any.
Use of Proceeds���������������������������������������������������� We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be
approximately $38.6 million (or approximately $44.6 million if
the underwriter exercises in full its over-allotment option). We
intend to use the net proceeds from this offering to fund product
development and for working capital and other general corporate
purposes. See “Use of Proceeds” for additional information.
Risk Factors���������������������������������������������������������� See the section entitled “Risk Factors” and other information
included in this prospectus for a discussion of factors you should
carefully consider before deciding to invest in shares of our
common stock.
Proposed Nasdaq Capital Market symbol �������� MOVE
(1)

(2)

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 6,393,069 shares
of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020, gives effect to the conversion of our outstanding
shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible notes at
December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock, and excludes the following:
•

961,743 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, at a weighted
average exercise price of $2.08 per share;

•

3,188,011 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options issued
pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $0.66 per share;

•

1,254,489 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our Omnibus Incentive Plan;
and

•

shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of the underwriter warrant.

Except as otherwise indicated herein, all information in this prospectus assumes or gives effect to:
•

the conversion of our outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and
outstanding convertible notes at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our
common stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering;

•

the adoption of our Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and
Restated Bylaws in connection with the consummation of this offering; and

•

no exercise of the underwriter’s over-allotment option.

4

SUMMARY SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following tables set forth a summary of our historical financial data at, and for the period ended on, the
dates indicated. We have derived the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the statements
of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 from our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read this data together with our historical financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus and the section of this prospectus entitled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Our historical results
are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in any future period.
Summary Statement of Operations Data
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Year Ended
December 31,
2020

Operating expenses:
Research and development��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
General and administrative��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Total operating expenses��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Loss from operations����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Other income (expense), net����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Net loss and comprehensive loss ��������������������������������������������������������������������������
Accretion and dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock��������������������
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ������������������������������������������������������
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted(1)��������
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted(2) ����������������������������������������������������������������������
Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted, attributable to common
stockholders (unaudited)(1) ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Weighted average shares used in computing pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted(2) ����������������������������
(1)

(2)

Year Ended
December 31,
2019

$8,373 $6,515
2,734
1,997
11,107
8,512
(11,107)
(8,512)
(1,924)
72
(13,031)
(8,440)
(8,914)
(6,041)
$(21,945) $(14,481)
$(6.85) $(9.18)
3,201,430

1,577,714

$(0.73)
17,161,358

See Note 14 of the notes to our financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus for further details on the
calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders. The unaudited pro forma net loss
per share, basic and diluted, attributable to common has been computed to give effect to the conversion of all outstanding
shares of the Series A and B redeemable convertible preferred stock and the conversion of the convertible promissory notes
and related accrued interest immediately prior to a public offering upon an initial public offering as if the proposed initial
public offering had occurred on the later of the beginning of the period or the issuance date of the related instrument. The
numerator in the calculation has been adjusted to remove accretion and dividends on redeemable convertible preferred
stock, the change in fair value of the derivative liability resulting from remeasurement of the derivative liability, and
interest expense on the convertible promissory notes.
The unaudited pro forma weighted average number of shares outstanding used to determine pro forma basic and diluted
net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2020 included the impact of the
conversion of all outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible
promissory notes at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of common stock.

5

Summary Balance Sheet Data
The following table presents our summary balance sheet data:
•

on an actual basis as of December 31, 2020;

•

on a pro forma basis to reflect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Series A and B preferred
stock and outstanding convertible into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock upon the
closing of this offering; revaluation of the warrant liability; reclassification of the warrant liability to
equity; and write-off of the derivative liability; and

•

on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give further effect to our sale of 8,500,000 shares of common stock in
this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $5.00 per share, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Actual

As of December 31, 2020
Pro Forma as
Pro Forma
Adjusted

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents��������������������������������������������������������� $5,710 $5,710 $
Working capital(1) ���������������������������������������������������������������������
5,741
5,741
Total assets �������������������������������������������������������������������������������
7,083
7,083
Convertible promissory notes, net �������������������������������������������
11,342
—
Derivative liability���������������������������������������������������������������������
121
—
Warrant liability �����������������������������������������������������������������������
1,549
—
Other noncurrent liabilities�������������������������������������������������������
973
531
Total liabilities��������������������������������������������������������������������������
15,145
1,691
Redeemable convertible preferred stock�����������������������������������
32,818
—
Total Stockholders’ (deficit) equity �����������������������������������������
(40,880)
5,392
(1)

Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.
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44,315
44,346
45,688
—
—
—
531
1,691
—
43,997

RISK FACTORS
An investment in our common stock is speculative and involves a high degree of risk, including the risk of a loss
of your entire investment. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other
information contained in this prospectus before purchasing any common stock.
The risks set forth below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties may exist that
could also adversely affect our business, operations and prospects. If any of the following risks actually materialize,
or if additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial later
materialize, our business, financial condition, prospects and/or operations could suffer. In such event, the value
of your investment could decline, and you could lose all or a substantial portion of the money that you pay for the
common stock.
The risks discussed below include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ substantially from
those discussed in these forward-looking statements. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and
Other Information Contained in this Prospectus.”
Risks Related to Our Business
We are a recently-formed, start-up, development-stage technology company with no history of generating revenue,
have a history of operating losses, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.
We are a technology company that was formed in January 2018. We have a very limited operating history and have
engaged in only limited research and development activities relating to our proposed technology. The likelihood
of success of our business plan must be considered in light of the challenges, substantial expenses, difficulties,
complications and delays frequently encountered in connection with developing and expanding early-stage
businesses and the regulatory and competitive environment in which we operate. Technology product development is
a highly speculative undertaking, involves a substantial degree of risk and is a capital-intensive business.
As of December 31, 2020, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $40.9 million. Even assuming the
sale of the common stock in this offering, without additional capital our existing cash and cash equivalents will
be insufficient to fully fund our business plan. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future,
and these losses will likely increase as we prepare for and begin to commercialize our first product. Our ability to
achieve revenue-generating operations and, ultimately, achieve profitability will depend on whether we can obtain
additional capital when we need it, complete the development of our technology, receive regulatory approval of our
technology, potentially find strategic collaborators that can incorporate our technology into applications which can
be successfully commercialized and achieve market acceptance. There can be no assurance that we will ever generate
revenues or achieve profitability. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain
profitability in subsequent periods.
We may be unable to continue as a going concern if we do not successfully raise additional capital on favorable
terms, or at all, or if we fail to generate sufficient revenue from operations.
Primarily as a result of our lack of revenue, history of losses to date and our lack of liquidity, there is substantial
uncertainty as to our ability to continue as a going concern. As of December 31, 2020, we had total assets of
approximately $7.1 million and total liabilities of approximately $15.1 million. We expect our operating costs to
be substantial as we incur costs related to the development of our proposed technologies and products and that we
will operate at a loss for the foreseeable future. As described below under “Use of Proceeds,” we believe that the net
proceeds from this offering, together with our current cash, will be sufficient to fund the development and internal
and external testing of our planned wearable product to the point where we are able to generate data that will enable
us to submit to FDA the 510(k) clearance application for this product. However, the expected net proceeds from this
offering are not expected to be sufficient for us to complete the development and commercialization of our proposed
wearable product or the balance of our long-term business plan. Our forecast of the period of time through which
our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and involves risks
and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed
elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong,
and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect.
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We do not have any prospective arrangements or credit facilities as a source of future funds after this offering, and
there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable terms, or at all.
If we are unable to raise additional capital or if we are unable to generate sufficient revenue from our operations,
we may not stay in business. We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity
offerings, debt financings and strategic collaborations. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or
convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders could be significantly diluted and
these newly-issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of the common
stock offered hereby. Debt financing, if obtained, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, which could increase our expenses
and require that our assets secure such debt. Moreover, any debt we incur must be repaid regardless of our operating
results. However, we do not own any significant assets that we expect could serve as acceptable collateral for a bank
or other commercial lender. The above circumstances may discourage some investors from purchasing our stock,
lending us money or from providing alternative forms of financing. In addition, the current economic instability in
the world’s equity and credit markets may materially adversely affect our ability to sell additional securities and/or
borrow cash. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional working capital on acceptable terms
or at all.
If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we may be required to curtail the development of our
technology or materially curtail or reduce our operations. We could be forced to sell or dispose of our rights or
assets. Any inability to raise adequate funds on commercially reasonable terms would have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operation and financial condition, including the possibility that a lack of funds could
cause our business to fail and liquidate with little or no return to investors.
Even if we take these actions, they may be insufficient, particularly if our costs are higher than projected or
unforeseen expenses arise. Additionally, if we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or
marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams or products or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we
choose to expand more rapidly than we presently anticipate, we may also need to raise additional capital sooner than
expected.
Our efforts may never demonstrate the feasibility of any product.
We have developed a working prototype of our proposed wearable product that is capable of generating data we
believe will be able to be used to measure blood glucose and blood pressure levels, but significant additional
research and development activity will be required before we achieve a commercial product. We have conducted
limited studies to compare the data our prototype device generates to measurements from conventional blood
glucose and blood pressure measuring tools, and we are using the data generated in those studies to refine our
product design and to develop the algorithms our product in development will utilize. However, we have not yet
conducted any studies that demonstrate that our planned product is able to measure blood glucose or blood pressure
levels at any particular accuracy level and we may never be able to complete any clinical studies that demonstrate
accuracy levels that would be necessary for a commercial product. Our research and development efforts remain
subject to all of the risks associated with the development of new products based on emerging technologies,
including unanticipated technical or other problems and the possible insufficiency of funds needed in order to
complete development of these products and enable us to execute our business plan. Any such problems may result
in delays and cause us to incur additional expenses that would increase our losses. If we cannot complete, or if we
experience significant delays in, developing our technology and products and services based on such technology
for use in potential commercial applications, particularly after incurring significant expenditures, our business may
fail. To our knowledge, the technological concepts we are applying to develop commercial applications have not
previously been successfully applied by anyone else.
Accordingly, you should consider our prospects in light of the costs, uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequently
encountered by companies in the early stages of development, especially technology companies such as ours.
Potential investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties that a company with a limited operating
history typically faces. In particular, potential investors should consider that we cannot assure you that we will be
able to:
•

successfully implement or execute our current business plan, or that our business plan is sound;
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•

successfully develop the radio frequency (“RF”) based technology necessary to develop our planned
wearable product having the functionality and characteristics we discuss herein;

•

successfully develop a prototype or a practical, efficient or economical commercial version of one or
more products;

•

obtain any additional issued patents;

•

successfully develop proprietary technology and trade secrets and secure market exclusivity and/or
adequate intellectual property protection for our products by way of patent protection or otherwise;

•

successfully protect any such proprietary technology and trade secrets from competitors and third parties
claiming infringement or misappropriation;

•

attract and retain an experienced management and advisory team; and

•

raise sufficient funds in the capital markets to effectuate our business plan, including for the
development and commercialization of our products.

If we cannot successfully execute any one of the foregoing, our business may not succeed and your investment will
be adversely affected.
We face competition from other technology companies and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete
effectively.
The technology industry, generally, and the glucose and blood pressure monitoring and general wellness markets, in
particular, are intensely competitive, subject to rapid change, and significantly affected by new product introductions
and other market activities by industry participants. To compete successfully, we will need to demonstrate the
advantages of our products and technologies over well-established alternative solutions, products and technologies,
as well as newer ones, and convince consumers and enterprises of the advantages of our products and technologies.
Traditional glucometers and blood pressure monitors remain an inexpensive alternative to our proposed wearable
product. With respect to our planned wearable product, we will face direct and indirect competition from a number
of competitors who have developed or are developing products for continuous or periodic monitoring of glucose
and blood pressure levels as well as general wellness, and we anticipate that other companies will develop additional
competitive products in the future. We have existing competitors and potential new competitors, many of which have
or will have substantially greater name recognition, financial resources and expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and sales and marketing
of approved products than we have. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic
industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors.
Established competitors may invest heavily to quickly discover and develop novel technologies that could make
obsolete or uneconomical the technology or the products that we plan to develop. Other small or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large
and established companies. Any new product that we develop that competes with a competitor’s existing or future
product may need to demonstrate compelling advantages in cost, convenience, quality, and safety to be commercially
successful. In addition, new products developed by others could emerge as competitors to our proposed product
development candidates. If our technology under development or our future products are not competitive based on
these or other factors, our business would be harmed, and our financial condition and operations will suffer. For
additional information regarding our competition, see the “Business – Competition” section of this prospectus.
The outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes COVID-19, has and could continue
to adversely impact our business.
Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks could adversely impact our business. In December 2019,
a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), surfaced in
Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to countries around the world and has been declared a pandemic
by the World Health Organization. Beginning in February 2020, we undertook temporary precautionary measures
to help minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, including by temporarily requiring most employees to work
remotely, pausing all non-essential travel worldwide for our employees, and limiting employee attendance at industry
events and in-person work-related meetings, to the extent those events and meetings are continuing. We also took
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certain actions to reduce our cash expenses and changed the way we worked with certain of our outside vendors in
an effort to mitigate potential delays in our development programs caused by the effects the pandemic was having on
the operations of such vendors. We may take additional measures, any of which could negatively affect our business.
In addition, third-party actions taken to contain the spread and mitigate the public health effects of COVID-19 may
negatively affect our business.
As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, or similar pandemics, we have and may in the future experience disruptions
that could severely impact our business, including:
•

interruption of attendance at industry events due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by
federal or state governments, employers and others;

•

absenteeism or loss of employees at the Company, or at our collaborator companies, due to health
reasons or government restrictions or otherwise, that are needed to develop, validate and perform other
necessary functions for our operations;

•

government responses, including orders that make it difficult for us to remain open for business, and
other seen and unforeseen actions taken by government agencies;

•

equipment failures, loss of utilities and other disruptions that could impact our operations or render them
inoperable; and

•

effects of a local or global recession or depression that could depress economic conditions for a
prolonged period and limit access to capital by the Company.

These and other factors arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could worsen in the United States or locally at the
location of our offices or the offices of our collaborator companies, each of which could further adversely impact
our business generally and could have a material adverse impact on our operations and financial condition and
results.
If we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully
implement our business strategy. In addition, the loss of the services of our founder would adversely impact our
business prospects.
Our ability to implement our business plan depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain highly
qualified managerial and engineering personnel. We will need to hire additional personnel as we further develop
our products. Competition for skilled personnel in our market is intense and competition for experienced engineers
may limit our ability to hire and retain highly qualified personnel on acceptable terms. Despite our efforts to retain
valuable employees, members of our management and engineering teams may terminate their employment with us
on short notice. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers or other key employees could potentially
harm our business, operating results or financial condition. In particular, we believe that the loss of the services of
our founder, Michael Leabman, would have a material adverse effect on our business. Currently, we do not maintain
key man insurance policies with respect to any of our executive officers or employees.
Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level
and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level and senior engineering personnel. Other technology companies
with which we compete for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles
and longer histories than we have. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career
advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to high-quality candidates than what we have to
offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, the rate and success at which we can
develop and commercialize products would be limited.
We are subject to risks associated with our utilization of consultants.
To improve productivity and accelerate our development efforts while we build out our own engineering team, we
use experienced consultants to assist in selected business functions, including the development of our integrated
circuits. We take steps to monitor and regulate the performance of these independent third parties. However,
arrangements with third party service providers may make our operations vulnerable if these consultants fail
to satisfy their obligations to us as a result of their performance, changes in their own operations, financial
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condition or other matters outside of our control. Effective management of our consultants is important to our
business and strategy. The failure of our consultants to perform as anticipated could result in substantial costs,
divert management’s attention from other strategic activities or create other operational or financial problems for
us. Terminating or transitioning arrangements with key consultants could result in additional costs and a risk of
operational delays, potential errors and possible control issues as a result of the termination or during the transition.
We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.
As we expand our activities, there will be additional demands on our financial, technical, operational and
management resources. To manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our
financial, technical, operational and management systems and continue to recruit and train additional qualified
personnel. Due to our limited financial resources and operating history, we may not be able to effectively manage
the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel. The expansion of our operations
may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to
manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations.
We may acquire businesses or products, or form strategic alliances, in the future, and we may not realize the
benefits of such acquisitions.
We may acquire additional businesses or products, form strategic alliances or create joint ventures with third
parties that we believe will complement or augment our existing business. If we acquire businesses with promising
markets or technologies, we may not be able to realize the benefit of acquiring such businesses if we are unable
to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture. We may encounter numerous
difficulties in developing, manufacturing and marketing any new products resulting from a strategic alliance or
acquisition that delay or prevent us from realizing their expected benefits or enhancing our business. We cannot
assure you that, following any such acquisition, we will achieve the expected synergies to justify the transaction.
We received funds from the Paycheck Protection Program enacted by Congress under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief
and Economic Security Act, which funds must be repaid if we do not meet the criteria for forgiveness established
by the U.S. Small Business Administration.
On April 23, 2020, we obtained a loan in the amount of approximately $351,000 (“PPP Loan”) pursuant to the
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES
Act”) that was signed into law in March 2020. In accordance with the PPP, we are permitted to use the PPP Loan
proceeds to fund designated expenses, including certain payroll costs, rent, utilities and other permitted expenses.
On May 7, 2020, we elected to fully repay the PPP Loan until further guidance on the eligibility requirements were
provided by the lending authorities. On May 27, 2020, we again obtained a loan in the amount of approximately
$351,000. The PPP Loan is evidenced by a promissory note (“PPP Note”), dated effective May 27, 2020. The PPP
Loan is unsecured with a 2-year term, matures on May 27, 2022, and bears interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum,
payable monthly commencing on November 27, 2020, following an initial deferral period as specified under the
PPP. Under the terms of the PPP, the PPP Loan may be prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment
penalties. In addition, up to the entire amount of principal and accrued interest may be forgiven to the extent the
PPP Loan proceeds are used for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act and applicable implementing
guidance issued by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) under the PPP (including that at least 60% of
such loan funds are used for payroll). Although we believe our use of the PPP Loan proceeds met the conditions for
forgiveness of the loan and expect the loan to be forgiven, we cannot assure you that the PPP Loan will be forgiven,
or that we will not take actions that could cause the PPP Loan to be ineligible for forgiveness, in whole or in part.
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Risks Related to Product Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization
We are highly dependent on the success of our proposed wearable product and cannot give any assurance that it
will receive regulatory approval or clearance or be successfully commercialized.
We are highly dependent on the success of our initial wearable product under development. There is no guarantee
that we will be successful in the development of this or any other future product. Our proposed wearable product will
require substantial additional clinical development, extensive preclinical testing and clinical trials in order to receive
regulatory clearance or approval. We cannot give any assurance that our proposed wearable product will receive
regulatory clearance or approval or be successfully commercialized. Any failure to obtain regulatory clearance or
approval of or to successfully commercialize the proposed wearable product would have a material adverse effect on
our business.
We will depend on third parties to design, manufacture, market and distribute our products. If any third party
fails to successfully design, manufacture, market or distribute any of our products, our business will be materially
harmed.
We expect to depend on strategic partners such as third-party original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”),
value-added resellers (“VARs”) and other distributors to complete the design, manufacture, market and distribute
our product under development or other future products. If these strategic partners fail to successfully complete the
design, manufacture, market or distribute our product under development or other future products, our business will
be materially harmed.
The products that we intend to develop are complex and will require the integration of a number of components that
are themselves complex. In light of this complexity, we expect that we may determine not to complete the design
of or manufacture these products ourselves and instead develop relationships with suitable third-party OEMs to
complete these tasks. Similarly, we do not anticipate building a sales or marketing function and instead expect that
our products under development will be marketed and sold through strategic partners such as OEMs, VARs or other
distributors. We do not currently have a relationship with any OEM, VAR or other distributor, and may never be able
to find any OEMs, VARs or other distributors that are willing to work with us on acceptable terms, or at all. We will
have limited control over the efforts and resources that any third-party OEMs, VARs and other distributors would
devote to designing, manufacturing, marketing or distributing our products under development. An OEM may not
be able to successfully design and manufacture our products and such failure by an OEM could substantially harm
the value of our business. Similarly, the OEMs, VARS or other distributors we engage with to market and sell our
product under development may not be successful at marketing and selling such product. If we cannot find suitable
strategic partners or our strategic partners do not perform as expected, our potential for revenue may be dramatically
reduced and our business could be harmed.
Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures.
Our computer systems, as well as those of our contractors and consultants, are vulnerable to damage from computer
viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters (including earthquakes), terrorism, war and telecommunication
and electrical failures. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in
a material disruption of our development programs. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store
sensitive data, including intellectual property, proprietary business information, personal data and personally
identifiable information of our clinical trial subjects and employees, on our networks. The secure processing,
maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. Despite our security measures, our
information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or internal bad actors, or breached
due to employee error, a technical vulnerability, malfeasance or other disruptions. Although, to our knowledge, we
have not experienced any such material security breach to date, any such breach could compromise our networks
and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or
other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of
personal information and significant regulatory penalties, and such an event could disrupt our operations, damage
our reputation and cause a loss of confidence in us and our ability to conduct clinical trials, which could adversely
affect our reputation and delay our development of our products.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Other Legal Matters
It is difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies, and we may not be
able to ensure their protection.
Our success depends significantly on our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our proprietary rights to the
technologies used in our products. Patents and other proprietary rights provide uncertain protections, and we may
be unable to protect our intellectual property. At December 31, 2020, we had two issued U.S. patents having a total
of 60 claims, 45 pending U.S. patent applications having a total of 1,053 claims, with an earliest priority date of
August 16, 2018, and six pending Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) International patent applications having a total
of 443 pending claims.
While we plan to file additional patent applications, we may never develop any invention that results in any
additional issued patents. Even if we obtain patents, we may be unsuccessful in defending our patents (and other
proprietary rights) against third party challenges. Although we expect to attempt to obtain patent coverage for our
technology where available and where we believe appropriate, there may be aspects of the technology for which
patent coverage may never be sought or received. We may not possess the resources to or may not choose to pursue
patent protection outside the United States or any or every country other than the United States where we may
eventually decide to sell our future products. Our ability to prevent others from making or selling duplicate or similar
technologies will be impaired in those countries in which we have no patent protection.
Any patent applications we have filed or may file in the future may never result in issued patents, or patents issued
based upon such applications may issue only with limited coverage or may issue and be subsequently successfully
challenged by others and held invalid or unenforceable. There may exist prior art that may prevent our patent
applications from resulting in issued patents, and there may be other inventors who file patent applications on
inventions that are the same or similar to ours or that otherwise may be found to anticipate our inventions before we
file patent applications of our own on our inventions, which may result in the issue of patents on our inventions or
similar or anticipatory inventions to those other inventors.
Even if patents issue based on our current or any future applications, any issued patents may not provide us with
any competitive advantages. Competitors may be able to design around our patents or develop products that
provide outcomes comparable or superior to ours. Our patents may be held invalid or unenforceable as a result
of legal challenges by third parties, and others may challenge the inventorship or ownership of our patents and
pending patent applications. In addition, if we choose to and are able to secure protection in countries outside the
United States, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent
as do the laws of the United States. In the event a competitor infringes upon our patents or other intellectual property
rights, enforcing those rights may be difficult, expensive and time consuming and we may elect not to enforce our
patents or other intellectual property rights based on the facts and circumstances known to us at the time. Even if
successful, litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend our patents against challenge could be
expensive and time consuming and could divert our management’s attention. We do not now have and may not have
in the future, even assuming the success of this offering, sufficient resources to enforce our intellectual property
rights or to defend our patents against a challenge.
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information and know-how, the value of our
technology and products could be adversely affected.
In addition to our patent activities, we rely upon, among other things, unpatented proprietary technology, processes,
trade secrets and know-how. Any involuntary disclosure to or misappropriation by third parties of our confidential or
proprietary information could enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, potentially
eroding our competitive position in our market. While we require all of our employees, consultants, advisors and any
third parties who have access to our proprietary know-how, information and technology to enter into confidentiality
agreements, we cannot be certain that this know-how, information and technology will not be disclosed or that
competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent
information and techniques. These agreements may be terminated or breached, and we may not have adequate
remedies for any such termination or breach. Furthermore, these agreements may not be enforceable or provide
meaningful protection for our trade secrets and know-how in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure. The
disclosure of trade secrets or other proprietary information would impair our competitive position and may
materially harm our business.
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We may in the future be a party to intellectual property litigation or administrative proceedings that could be
costly and could interfere with our ability to develop our products.
Because our industry is characterized by competing intellectual property, we may be sued for violating the
intellectual property rights of others. Determining whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and
factual issues, and the outcome of patent litigation actions is often uncertain. We have not conducted any significant
search of patents issued to third parties, and no assurance can be given that third party patents containing claims
covering our product under development, parts of our product under development, technology or methods do not
exist, have not been filed, or could not be filed or issued. Because of the number of patents issued and patent
applications filed in our technical areas or fields, our competitors or other third parties may assert that our products
and the methods we plan to employ in the use of our products are covered by United States or foreign patents held
by them. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue and because publication schedules
for pending applications vary by jurisdiction, there may be applications now pending of which we are unaware, and
which may result in issued patents that our product under development or other future products would infringe. Also,
because the claims of published patent applications can change between publication and patent grant, there may be
published patent applications that may ultimately issue with claims that we infringe. There could also be existing
patents that one or more of our future products or parts may infringe and of which we are unaware. As the number of
competitors in our market increases, and as the number of patents issued in this area grows, the possibility of patent
infringement claims against us increases. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex
patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any
uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on
our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations.
In the event that we become subject to a patent infringement or other intellectual property lawsuit and if the relevant
patents or other intellectual property were upheld as valid and enforceable and we were found to infringe or violate
the terms of a license to which we are a party, we could be prevented from selling any infringing products of ours
unless we could obtain a license or were able to redesign the product to avoid infringement. If we were unable to
obtain a license or successfully redesign, we might be prevented from selling our product under development or
other future products. If there is an allegation or determination that we have infringed the intellectual property
rights of a competitor or other person, we may be required to pay damages, or a settlement or ongoing royalties. In
these circumstances, we may be unable to sell our products at competitive prices or at all, and our business could be
harmed.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or
disclosed confidential information of their former employers or other third parties or claims asserting ownership
of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
We do and may employ and contract with individuals who were previously employed by other technology
companies. Although we seek to protect our ownership of intellectual property rights by ensuring that our
agreements with our employees, collaborators and other third parties with whom we do business include provisions
requiring such parties to assign rights in inventions to us and to not use the know-how or confidential information
of their former employer or other third parties, we cannot guarantee that we have executed such agreements with all
applicable parties. We may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors
have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or
other third parties. We may also be subject to claims that former employers or other third parties have an ownership
interest in our patents. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. There is no guarantee of success
in defending these claims, and if we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we
may lose valuable personnel or intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable
intellectual property. Even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our
management and other employees.
In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees, contractors and other third parties who may be involved
in the conception or development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property
to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops
intellectual property that we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property rights under such agreements
may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims
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against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard
as our intellectual property. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
We could become subject to product liability claims, product recalls and warranty claims that could be expensive,
divert management’s attention and harm our business.
Our business exposes us to potential liability risks that are inherent in the manufacturing, marketing and sale of
products used by consumers. We may be held liable if our product under development or other future products
cause injury or death or are found otherwise unsuitable during usage. Our future products to be developed are
expected to incorporate sophisticated components and computer software. Complex software can contain errors,
particularly when first introduced. In addition, new products or enhancements may contain undetected errors or
performance problems that, despite testing, are discovered only after installation. While we believe our technology
will be safe, because our proposed wearable product is an RF-based technology that is being designed to be used
in close proximity to users, users may allege or possibly prove defects, some of which could be alleged or proved
to cause harm to users or others. A product liability claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome, could result
in significant legal defense costs. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain products liability insurance; if
we do, however, the coverage limits of any insurance policies that we may choose to purchase to cover related risks
may not be adequate to cover future claims, and the cost of insurance, if obtainable, could be prohibitive. If sales
of our products increase or we suffer future product liability claims, we may be unable to maintain product liability
insurance in the future at satisfactory rates or with adequate amounts. A product liability claim, any product recalls
or excessive warranty claims, whether arising from defects in design or manufacture or otherwise, could negatively
affect our sales or require a change in the design or manufacturing process, any of which could harm our reputation
and result in a decline in revenue, each of which would harm our business.
In addition, if a product we designed or manufactured is defective, whether due to design or manufacturing defects,
improper use of the product or other reasons, we may be required to notify regulatory authorities and/or to recall
the product. A required notification to a regulatory authority or recall could result in an investigation by regulatory
authorities of our products, which could in turn result in required recalls, restrictions on the sale of the products
or other penalties. The adverse publicity resulting from any of these actions could adversely affect the perception
of customers and potential customers. These investigations or recalls, especially if accompanied by unfavorable
publicity, could result in our incurring substantial costs, losing revenues and damaging our reputation, each of which
would harm our business.
Risks Related to Regulation
We expect to need FDA clearance or approval for our planned wearable product, which may be difficult to
achieve, and existing laws or regulations or future legislative or regulatory changes may affect our business.
Our proposed wearable product will be subject to current and future regulation by the Food and Drug Administration
(“FDA”) and may be subject to regulation by other federal, state and local agencies. These agencies and regulations
require manufacturers of medical devices to comply with applicable laws and regulations governing development,
testing, manufacturing, labeling, marketing and distribution of medical devices. Devices are generally subject to
varying levels of regulatory control, based on the risk level of the device. Governmental regulations specific to
medical devices are wide-ranging and govern, among other things:
•

product design, development and manufacture;

•

laboratory, pre-clinical and clinical testing, labeling, packaging, storage and distribution;

•

premarketing clearance or approval;

•

record keeping;

•

product marketing, promotion and advertising, sales and distribution; and

•

post-marketing surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries and recalls and correction
and removals.
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Before a new medical device or a new intended use for an existing product can be marketed in the United States, a
company must first submit and receive either 510(k) clearance or premarketing approval (“PMA”) from FDA, unless
an exemption applies. The typical duration to receive a 510(k) approval is approximately nine to twelve months
from the date of the initial 510(k) submission and the typical duration to receive a PMA approval is approximately
two years from the date of submission of the initial PMA application, although there is no guarantee that the timing
will not be longer.
We expect our proposed wearable product would be classified as a Class II medical device that will require a 510(k)
clearance prior to marketing. In some instances, the 510(k) pathway for product marketing may be used with only
proof of substantial equivalence in technology for a given indication with a lawfully marketed device (a “predicate
device”). In other instances, FDA may require additional clinical work to prove efficacy in addition to technological
equivalence and basic safety. Whether clinical data is provided or not, FDA may decide to reject the substantial
equivalence argument we present. If that happens, our device would be automatically designated as a Class III
device and we would have to fulfill the more rigorous PMA requirements, or request a “de novo” reclassification of
the device into Class I or II. Thus, although at this time we do not anticipate that we will be required to do so, it is
possible that one or more of our planned products may require PMA approval de novo reclassification.
We may not be able to obtain the necessary clearances or approvals or may be unduly delayed in doing so, which
could harm our business. Furthermore, even if we are granted regulatory clearances or approvals, they may include
significant limitations on the indicated uses for the product, which may limit the market for the product. Delays in
obtaining clearance or approval could increase our costs and harm our revenues and growth.
In addition, we will be required to timely file various reports with FDA, including reports required by the medical
device reporting regulations that require us to report to certain regulatory authorities if our devices may have caused
or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a
death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. If these reports are not filed timely, regulators may impose
sanctions and sales of our products may suffer, and we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions, all of
which could harm our business.
If we initiate a correction or removal for one of our devices to reduce a risk to health posed by the device, we would
be required to submit a publicly available Correction and Removal report to FDA and, in many cases, similar reports
to other regulatory agencies. This report could be classified by FDA as a device recall which could lead to increased
scrutiny by FDA, other international regulatory agencies and our customers regarding the quality and safety of
our devices. Furthermore, the submission of these reports has been and could be used by competitors against us
in competitive situations and cause customers to delay purchase decisions or cancel orders and would harm our
reputation.
FDA and FTC also regulate the advertising and promotion of our products to ensure that the claims we make are
consistent with our regulatory clearances, that there are adequate and reasonable data to substantiate the claims
and that our promotional labeling and advertising is neither false nor misleading in any respect. If FDA or FTC
determines that any of our advertising or promotional claims are misleading, not substantiated or not permissible, we
may be subject to enforcement actions, including warning letters, and we may be required to revise our promotional
claims and make other corrections or restitutions.
FDA and state authorities have broad enforcement powers. Our failure to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements could result in enforcement action by FDA or state agencies, which may include any of the following
sanctions:
•

adverse publicity, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;

•

repair, replacement, refunds, recall or seizure of our products;

•

operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

•

refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PMA of new products, new intended uses or modifications
to existing products;

•

withdrawing 510(k) clearance or PMAs that have already been granted; and

•

criminal prosecution.
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If any of these events were to occur, our business and financial condition would be harmed.
The cost of compliance with new laws or regulations governing our technology or future products could adversely
affect our financial results. New laws or regulations may impose restrictions or obligations on us that could force us to
redesign our technology under development or other future products, and may impose restrictions that are not possible
or practicable to comply with, which could cause our business to fail. We cannot predict the impact on our business of
any legislation or regulations related to our technology or future products that may be enacted or adopted in the future.
If any OEMs contracted to manufacture our proposed wearable product fail to comply with FDA’s Quality System
Regulations or other regulatory bodies’ equivalent regulations, manufacturing operations could be delayed or
shut down and the development of our proposed wearable product could suffer.
The manufacturing processes of third-party OEMs are required to comply with FDA’s Quality System Regulations
and other regulatory bodies’ equivalent regulations, which cover the procedures and documentation of the design,
testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, storage and shipping of our planned wearable,
non-invasive, wearable product. They may also be subject to similar state requirements and licenses and engage in
extensive recordkeeping and reporting and make available their manufacturing facilities and records for periodic
unannounced inspections by governmental agencies, including FDA, state authorities and comparable agencies
in other countries. If any OEM fails such an inspection, our operations could be disrupted and our manufacturing
interrupted. Failure to take adequate corrective action in response to an adverse inspection could result in, among
other things, a shut-down of our manufacturing operations, significant fines, suspension of marketing clearances and
approvals, seizures or recalls of our products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which would
cause our business to suffer. Furthermore, these OEMs may be engaged with other companies to supply and/or
manufacture materials or products for such companies, which would expose our OEMs to regulatory risks for the
production of such materials and products. As a result, failure to meet the regulatory requirements for the production
of those materials and products may also affect the regulatory clearance of a third-party manufacturers’ facility. If
FDA determines that any of the facilities that manufacture of our proposed wearable product is not in compliance
with applicable requirements, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would impede or
delay our ability to develop, obtain regulatory clearance or approval for, or market our proposed wearable product,
if developed and approved. Additionally, our key component suppliers may not currently be or may not continue to
be in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements, which may result in manufacturing delays for our product
and cause our results of operations to suffer.
We expect our planned wearable product to be subject to certain Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”)
regulations.
Our RF-based technology involves the transmission of RF energy, and as such, will be subject to regulation by the
FCC, including the FCC’s equipment authorization regulations and its regulations governing human exposure to
RF energy. In particular, we expect the planned wearable product to be regulated under Part 18 of the FCC’s rules
governing industrial, scientific, and medical (ISM) equipment, and to be classified as consumer ISM equipment
under that rule part. Based on the expected frequency and power of operation, we expect that the product will
comply with the Part 18 technical specifications for these type of devices, which we will be required to verify under
FCC equipment authorization procedures. We also expect, based on the device’s frequency and power of operation,
that the product will comply with the FCC’s requirements governing human exposure to RF energy. There is the risk
that the product, as we expect it to be developed, may not comply with these requirements, which could significantly
affect our development costs and delay commercialization of the product. There is also the risk that we will be
unable to cost effectively develop and produce a wearable product using RF technology that complies with these
FCC requirements.
Our planned wearable product may in the future be subject to product recalls that could harm our reputation.
Regulatory agencies have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material
regulatory deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us could
occur as a result of component failures, manufacturing errors or design or labeling defects. Recalls of our planned
wearable product would divert management’s attention, be expensive, harm our reputation with customers and harm
our financial condition and results of operations. A recall announcement would also negatively affect the price of our
securities.
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Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevent our planned wearable product’s commercial success.
There have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to
the healthcare system in ways that could harm our future revenues and profitability and the future revenues
and profitability of our potential customers. Federal and state lawmakers regularly propose and, at times, enact
legislation that would result in significant changes to the healthcare system, some of which are intended to contain
or reduce the costs of medical products and services. For example, one of the most significant healthcare reform
measures in decades, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Affordability Reconciliation Act (the “Affordable Care Act”), was enacted in 2010. The Affordable Care Act contains
a number of provisions, including those governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, reimbursement
changes and fraud and abuse measures, all of which may impact existing government healthcare programs and result
in the development of new programs. The Affordable Care Act imposed a 2.3 percent excise tax on sales of medical
devices. The excise tax was suspended by statute twice before being repealed in December 2019. While this tax has
been repealed, Congress could enact future legislation or further change the law related to the medical devise excise
tax in a manner that could negatively impact our operating results. The financial impact such future taxes could have
on our business is unclear.
Other significant measures contained in the Affordable Care Act include research on the comparative clinical
effectiveness of different technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies,
such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers and physicians, and initiatives to promote
quality indicators in payment methodologies. The Affordable Care Act also includes significant new fraud and abuse
measures, including required disclosures of financial payments to and arrangements with physician customers, lower
thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such violations.
Since its enactment, there have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the Affordable Care
Act. In January 2017, Congress voted to adopt a budget resolution for fiscal year 2017 (the “Budget Resolution”),
which authorized the implementation of legislation that would repeal portions of the Affordable Care Act. The
Budget Resolution is not a law; however, it was widely viewed as the first step toward the passage of legislation
that would repeal certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act. Further, on January 20, 2017, President Trump signed
an Executive Order directing federal agencies to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation
of any provision of the Affordable Care Act that would impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on states, individuals,
healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. Additionally, the 2020
federal spending package permanently eliminated the mandated “Cadillac” tax on high-cost employer-sponsored
health coverage, effective January 2020 and the health insurance tax, effective January 2021. The potential impact of
these efforts to repeal or defer and delay enforcement of PPACA on our business remains unclear.
It remains unclear whether changes will be made to the Affordable Care Act, or whether it will be repealed or
materially modified. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 repealed the tax penalty associated with the
“individual mandate” portion of Affordable Care Act. The repeal of the penalty associated with this provision, which
requires most Americans to carry a minimal level of health insurance, became effective in January 2019. Following
the repeal of the tax penalty, in December 2019 the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit in Texas v. U.S. upheld
a lower court ruling that the individual mandate in PPACA is no longer constitutional, and the 5th Circuit court
remanded the case back to the lower court for additional analysis on whether the remainder of the law must be
struck down as unconstitutional. In March 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court agreed to review the constitutionality
of the individual mandate and the Affordable Care Act as a whole, granting certiorari in California v. Texas. A
decision in this case is expected in 2021. Congress also could consider subsequent legislation to replace elements
of the Affordable Care Act that are repealed. Because of the continued uncertainty about the implementation of the
Affordable Care Act, including the outcome of California v. Texas and the potential for further legal challenges or
repeal of the law, we cannot quantify or predict with any certainty the likely impact of the Affordable Care Act or its
repeal on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
There likely will continue to be legislative and regulatory proposals at the federal and state levels directed at
containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future or
their full impact. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and
other payers of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare may harm our ability to set a price that
we believe is fair for our products, our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability and the
availability of capital.
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If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations with respect to our planned wearable product, we could face
substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Even though we do not and will not control referrals of healthcare services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid
or other third party payers, certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse
and patients’ rights will be applicable to our business. We could be subject to healthcare fraud and abuse and patient
privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. The regulations
that will affect how we operate include:
•

the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, any person
from knowingly and willfully offering, soliciting, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order
or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under federal healthcare
programs, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;

•

the federal False Claims Act, which prohibits, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, false claims, or knowingly using false statements, to obtain
payment from the federal government;

•

federal criminal laws that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or
making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

•

the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, created under the Affordable Care Act, and its
implementing regulations, which require manufacturers of drugs, medical devices, biologicals and
medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health
Insurance Program to report annually to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services information
related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as
ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;

•

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, which governs the conduct of certain electronic
healthcare transactions and protects the security and privacy of protected health information; and

•

state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws,
which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payer, including commercial
insurers.

The Affordable Care Act, among other things, amends the intent requirement of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute
and criminal healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or
specific intent to violate it. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provides that the government may assert that a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or
fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act.
Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial
costs. It is possible that governmental and enforcement authorities will conclude that our business practices do
not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or
other healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including
the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, possible
exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and similar foreign healthcare programs,
contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings and curtailment of our operations,
any of which could harm our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
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Risks Related to this Offering, Owning Our Securities and Our Financial Results
As an investor, you may lose all of your investment.
Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. As an investor, you may never recoup all, or even part, of
your investment and you may never realize any return on your investment. You must be prepared to lose all of your
investment.
Our quarterly and annual results may fluctuate significantly, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of
our business and may result in decreases in the price of our securities.
Our financial condition and operating results may fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year
due to a variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control. Our operating results will be affected by numerous
factors such as:
•

variations in the level of expenses related to our proposed products;

•

status of our product development efforts;

•

execution of collaborative, licensing or other arrangements, and the timing of payments received or
made under those arrangements;

•

intellectual property prosecution and any infringement lawsuits to which we may become a party;

•

regulatory developments affecting our products or those of our competitors;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain FCC clearance and/or FDA approval for our products, which have not
yet been approved for marketing;

•

our ability to commercialize our products;

•

market acceptance of our products;

•

the timing and success of new products and feature introductions by us or our competitors or any
other change in the competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among competitors,
customers or strategic partners;

•

the amount and timing of costs and expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business
and operations;

•

general economic, industry and market conditions;

•

the hiring, training and retention of key employees, including our ability to develop a sales team;

•

litigation or other claims against us;

•

our ability to obtain additional financing;

•

business interruptions caused by events such as pandemics and natural disasters; and

•

advances and trends in new technologies and industry standards.

Any or all of these factors could adversely affect our cash position requiring us to raise additional capital, which may
be on unfavorable terms and result in substantial dilution.
The estimates of potential market size for our planned wearable product included in this prospectus may prove to
be inaccurate, and even if the markets in which we compete are such estimated size, our business may not be able
to establish a sufficient market share, if any at all.
Estimates of market size are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions that may not prove to
be accurate. The forecasts in this prospectus relating to, among other things, the expected market for our planned
wearable product are based on a number of third-party estimates and assumptions, including, without limitation,
level of penetration of CGM in the diabetes treatment market, the level of payer and patient acceptance of CGM
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technology, the number of people who have diabetes and hypertension, the number of people with diabetes actively
treating with insulin, the number of people at risk of developing diabetes or hypertension, current and projected
prevalence of diabetes and hypertension among different populations, the demand for blood pressure monitoring
devices, and the demand for noninvasive monitoring and measurement of vital health data in general. While we
believe the assumptions and the data underlying our estimates are reasonable, these assumptions and estimates may
not be correct, and the conditions supporting our assumptions or estimates may change over time. As a result, our
estimates may prove to be inaccurate.
Even if demand matches our expectations as described in this prospectus, we may not be able to capitalize by
obtaining a sufficient market share, if any at all. Our growth is subject to many factors, including whether there
exist markets for our planned products, the rate of market acceptance of our planned products versus the products
of our competitors and our success in implementing our business strategies, each of which is subject to many risks
and uncertainties. Accordingly, the forecasts of market growth included in this prospectus should not be taken as
indicative of our future growth.
Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.
Upon completion of this offering, we will become subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange
Act, and will be required to maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to reasonably assure
that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the SEC, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
As a public company, we will also be required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any
material weaknesses in those internal controls. Such internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. We have identified three material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting at December 31,
2020. The material weaknesses relate to (i) lack of proper segregation of duties across significant accounting cycles,
(ii) lack of effective information technology security policies and control over access to key systems, and (iii) lack
of precision in the design of internal control over financial reporting. Although we are making efforts to remediate
these issues, these efforts may not be sufficient to avoid similar material weaknesses in the future. Designing and
implementing internal controls over financial reporting will be time consuming, costly and complicated as we are a
small organization with limited management resources.
If the material weaknesses in our internal controls are not fully remediated or if additional material weaknesses
are identified, those material weaknesses could cause us to fail to meet our future reporting obligations, reduce the
market’s confidence in our financial statements, harm our stock price and subject us to sanctions or investigations by
Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. In addition, our common stock may not be able to remain listed on
Nasdaq or any other securities exchange.
For as long as we are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, or a non-accelerated filer, as
defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, our auditors will not be required to attest as to our internal control
over financial reporting. If we continue to identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting, are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, are unable to assert that our
internal control over financial reporting is effective or, once required, our independent registered public accounting
firm is unable to attest that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence
in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could decrease.
We could also become subject to stockholder or other third-party litigation as well as investigations by the securities
exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional
financial and management resources and could result in fines, trading suspensions or other remedies.
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Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that
all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.
The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, our equity incentive plan, upon
exercise of outstanding warrants or otherwise will dilute our existing stockholders.
If we issue additional equity securities, our existing stockholders’ percentage ownership will be reduced and these
stockholders may experience substantial dilution. We may also issue equity securities that provide for rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of our common stock. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and
regulations, we may issue our shares of common stock in connection with a financing, acquisition, our equity
incentive plan, upon exercise of outstanding warrants or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial
dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
Prior to the completion of our initial public offering, there will have been no public trading market for our
common stock. An active public trading market for our common stock may not develop and our securities may
trade below the public offering price.
The offering under this prospectus is an initial public offering of our common stock. Prior to the closing of the
offering, there will have been no public market for our common stock. An active public trading market for our
common stock may not develop after the completion of the offering. If an active trading market for our common
stock does not develop after this offering, the market price and liquidity of our common stock may be materially and
adversely affected. The public offering price for our common stock has been determined by negotiation among us
and the underwriter based upon several factors, and the price at which our common stock trades after this offering
may decline below the public offering price. Investors in our common stock may experience a significant decrease in
the value of their shares of common stock regardless of our operating performance or prospects.
Even if an active trading market for our common stock develops after the offering, the market price of our
common stock may be significantly volatile.
Even if an active market for our common stock develops (and we cannot assure you that this will occur), the market
price for our common stock may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to factors including the
following:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

•

changes in financial or operational estimates or projections;

•

conditions in markets generally;

•

changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies similar to ours; and

•

general economic or political conditions in the United States or elsewhere.

In particular, the market prices of technology companies like ours have been highly volatile due to factors, including,
but not limited to:
•

any delay or failure to commercialize products acceptable to the market;

•

developments or disputes concerning our product’s intellectual property rights;

•

our or our competitors’ technological innovations;

•

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships,
joint ventures, capital commitments, new technologies, or patents; and

•

failure to complete significant transactions or collaborate with vendors in manufacturing our product.
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Any of these factors may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and trading price of our common stock.
The stock market, generally, has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are
not related to the operating performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may also materially and
adversely affect the market price of shares of our common stock.
Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq could result in a de-listing of our common stock.
We have applied to list our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market. Subject to Nasdaq’s approval, upon the
closing of this offering, our common stock will be listed on Nasdaq Capital Market. If, after listing, we fail to satisfy
the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, such as the corporate governance requirements or the minimum
closing bid price requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our common stock. Such a delisting would likely have
a negative effect on the price of our common stock and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common
stock when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, we would take actions to restore our compliance with
Nasdaq’s listing requirements, but we can provide no assurance that any such action taken by us would allow our
common stock to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity of our common stock,
prevent our common stock from dropping below the Nasdaq minimum bid price requirement or prevent future
non-compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements.
Our Certificate of Incorporation will designate specific courts as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that
may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us.
Our Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which will become effective upon the closing of
this offering (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), specifies that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for most
legal actions involving claims brought against us by stockholders; provided that, the exclusive forum provision will
not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the rules
and regulations thereunder or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided
further that, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any such action for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. Our
Certificate of Incorporation further provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Any
person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have
notice of and to have consented to the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation described above.
We believe these provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law by
chancellors particularly experienced in resolving corporate disputes and in the application of the Securities Act
by federal judges, as applicable, efficient administration of cases on a more expedited schedule relative to other
forums and protection against the burdens of multi-forum litigation. However, the provisions may have the effect of
discouraging lawsuits against our directors, officers, employees and agents as it may limit any stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such stockholder finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, employees or agents. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’
certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any
applicable action brought against us, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Certificate
of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. If a court were to find the choice of forum
provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may
incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations.
We have not paid dividends in the past and have no immediate plans to pay dividends.
We plan to reinvest all of our earnings, to the extent we have earnings, in order to further develop our technology
and potential products and to cover operating costs. We do not plan to pay any cash dividends with respect to our
securities in the foreseeable future. We cannot assure you that we would, at any time, generate sufficient surplus cash
that would be available for distribution to the holders of our common stock as a dividend. Therefore, you should not
expect to receive cash dividends on the common stock we are offering.
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We may allocate the net proceeds from this offering in ways that differ from the estimates discussed in the section
titled “Use of Proceeds” and with which you may not agree.
The allocation of net proceeds of this offering set forth in the “Use of Proceeds” section below represents our
estimates based upon our current plans and assumptions regarding industry and general economic conditions, and
our future revenues and expenditures. The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures will depend on numerous
factors, including market conditions, cash generated by our operations, business developments and related rate of
growth. We may find it necessary or advisable to use portions of the proceeds from this offering for other purposes.
Circumstances may give rise to a change in the use of proceeds. You may not have an opportunity to evaluate the
economic, financial or other information on which we base our decisions on how to use our proceeds. As a result,
you and other stockholders may not agree with our decisions. Our failure to apply the net proceeds from this offering
effectively could result in financial losses that could have a material adverse impact on our business, cause the price
of our common stock to decline and delay the development of our technology and potential products. See “Use of
Proceeds” for additional information.
You will experience immediate dilution in the book value per share of the common stock you purchase.
Because the price per share of our common stock being offered is substantially higher than the book value per share
of our common stock, you will experience substantial dilution in the net tangible book value of the common stock
you purchase in this offering. Based on the offering price of $5.00 per share, if you purchase shares of common stock
in this offering, you will experience immediate and substantial dilution of $3.57 per share as of December 31, 2020,
representing the difference between our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share, after giving effect
to this offering. See the section of this prospectus captioned “Dilution” for a more detailed discussion of the dilution
you will incur if you purchase common stock in this offering.
Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and significant stockholders may
prevent new investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.
All decisions with respect to the management of the Company will be made by our board of directors and our
executive officers, who, before this offering, beneficially own approximately 7.6% of our common stock. After the
issuance of our common stock in this offering, management will beneficially own at least approximately 5.8% of our
common stock if all shares of common stock offered by this prospectus are sold. In addition, before this offering,
(i) Leabman Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately 16.7% of our common stock (including shares of which
such stockholder has the right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days pursuant to conversion privileges),
and after this offering will beneficially own approximately 12.6% of our common stock and (ii) the Fairbairn Trusts
beneficially own approximately 16.0% of our common stock (including shares of which the Fairbairn Trusts have the
right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days pursuant to conversion privileges), and after this offering will
beneficially own approximately 12.1% of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise
a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors,
amendment of our Certificate of Incorporation and approval of significant corporate transactions. This control could
have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of the Company or changes in management, in each
case, which other stockholders might find favorable, and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or
impossible without the support of these significant stockholders.
We are an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we expect to take advantage of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
“emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, (i) being required to present only two years of audited
financial statements and related financial disclosure, (ii) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (iii) extended transition periods for complying with new or
revised accounting standards, (iv) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic
reports and proxy statements and (v) exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
We have taken, and in the future may take, advantage of these exemptions until such time that we are no longer an
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“emerging growth company. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we
rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our common stock and the price of our common stock may be more volatile.
We will remain an “emerging growth company” for up to five years, although we will lose that status sooner if our
annual revenues exceed $1.07 billion, if we issue more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in a three-year period,
or if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30.
We will incur significant increased costs as a result of becoming a public company that reports to the SEC and
our management will be required to devote substantial time to meet compliance obligations.
As a public company listed in the United States, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that
we did not incur as a private company. We will be subject to reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq that impose significant
requirements on public companies, including requiring the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure
and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Protection Act includes significant corporate governance and executive compensation-related provisions
that will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming
or costly and may also place undue strain on our personnel, systems and resources. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. In addition, these
rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to
obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people
to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse
opinion about our business, the price of our common stock and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities
analysts publish about us or our business. We do not currently have and may never obtain research coverage by
securities and industry analysts. If no or few analysts commence research coverage of us, or one or more of the
analysts who cover us issues an adverse opinion about our company, the price of our common stock would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases research coverage of us or fails to regularly publish reports on us,
we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the price of our common stock or trading
volume to decline.
Our charter documents and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover that stockholders consider favorable.
Upon the closing of this offering, provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws and applicable provisions
of Delaware law may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in control or change
in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their
shares, or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests. The provisions in our
Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws:
•

authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval and to designate
the rights, preferences and privileges of each class; if issued, such preferred stock would increase
the number of outstanding shares of our common stock and could include terms that may deter an
acquisition of us;

•

classifies our board of directors into three classes, with members of each class serving staggered
three-year terms;

•

limit who may call stockholder meetings;

•

do not provide for cumulative voting rights;

•

provide that all vacancies may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of directors then in office,
even if less than a quorum;
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•

provide that stockholders must comply with advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder
proposals and the nomination of candidates for director;

•

provide that stockholders may only amend our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws upon a
supermajority vote of stockholders; and

•

provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for certain legal
claims.

In addition, once we become a publicly traded corporation, section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
may limit our ability to engage in any business combination with a person who beneficially owns 15% or more of
our outstanding voting stock unless certain conditions are satisfied. This restriction lasts for a period of three years
following the share acquisition. These provisions may have the effect of entrenching our management team and may
deprive you of the opportunity to sell your shares to potential acquirers at a premium over prevailing prices. This
potential inability to obtain a control premium could reduce the price of our common stock. See “Anti-Takeover
Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Charter Documents” for additional information.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND
OTHER INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROSPECTUS
This prospectus contains forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical facts
contained in this prospectus, including statements regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial
position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans, objectives of management and expected market growth
are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future
events. You can find many (but not all) of these statements by looking for words such as “approximates,” “believes,”
“hopes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “may” or
other similar expressions in this prospectus. These statements may be found principally under the sections entitled
“Prospectus Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Use of Proceeds,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business.” These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks
and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from our historical experience and our present
expectations or projections. Actual results may differ materially from those discussed as a result of various factors,
including, but not limited to:
•

our limited operating history and our ability to achieve profitability;

•

our ability to demonstrate the feasibility of and develop products and their underlying technologies;

•

the impact of competitive or alternative products, technologies and pricing;

•

the impact of the COVID-19 on our business and local and global economic conditions;

•

our ability to continue as a going concern and our need for and ability to obtain additional capital in the
future;

•

our ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, including the retention of our founder;

•

our dependence on consultants to assist in the development of our technologies;

•

our ability to manage the growth of our Company and to realize the benefits from any acquisitions or
strategic alliances we may enter in the future;

•

our dependence on the successful commercialization of our proposed wearable product;

•

our dependence on third parties to design, manufacture, market and distribute our proposed products;

•

the adequacy of protections afforded to us by the patents that we own and the success we may have in,
and the cost to us of, maintaining, enforcing and defending those patents;

•

our ability to obtain, expand and maintain patent protection in the future, and to protect our non-patented
intellectual property;

•

the impact of any claims of intellectual property infringement, trade secret misappropriation, product
liability, product recalls or other claims;

•

our need to secure required FCC, FDA and other regulatory approvals from governmental authorities in
United States;

•

the impact of healthcare regulations and reform measures;

•

the accuracy of our estimates of market size for our planned wearable product;

•

our ability to implement and maintain effective control over financial reporting and disclosure controls
and procedures;

•

our success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing items; and

•

other factors discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus.
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These statements reflect our views with respect to future events as of the date of this prospectus and are based on
assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance
on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions
only as of the date of this prospectus and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or review
publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after the
date of this prospectus. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments will cause our views to change. You
should read this prospectus and the documents referenced in this prospectus and filed as exhibits to the registration
statement, of which this prospectus is a part, completely and with the understanding that our actual future results
may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these
cautionary statements.
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BUSINESS
Overview
Movano Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a health-focused technology company developing simple, smart and
personalized devices designed to help individuals on their health journey maintain good health today and prevent
and manage chronic diseases in the future.
The Company is developing a proprietary platform that uses Radio Frequency (“RF”) technology, which we believe
will enable the creation of low-cost and scalable sensors that are small enough to fit into a wearable and other small
form factors. We expect that our platform will provide users with the ability to measure and continuously monitor
vital health data and provide actionable feedback to jumpstart changes in behaviors.
The Company’s platform is the foundation for its first product in development, which is a non-invasive
and cuffless wearable that simultaneously measures glucose, blood pressure and heart rate. It is intended to
combine the functionality of a continuous glucose monitor (“CGM”) and a cuffless RF-based blood pressure
monitor (“rBPM ®”) into one wearable device. Once developed, we believe it will allow users to manage their health
with confidence and in a manner that best fits their lifestyle, ultimately improving health outcomes.
While we expect that our flagship product will be an FDA-cleared or approved wearable that simultaneously
measures glucose, blood pressure and heart rate, it is possible that we may decide to create two separate devices —
a wearable non-invasive CGM and a wearable, cuffless rBPM. We may also develop a wearable product that targets
the general wellness market by providing users actionable feedback designed to encourage a healthy lifestyle and
maintain a general state of health and does not require FDA clearance or approval. Over time, our technology
platform could also enable the measurement and continuous monitoring of a variety of other health data.
Problem
Wearable medical technology today, including CGMs and blood pressure monitors, have made it easier for people
to manage diabetes, prediabetes and hypertension, but many of these devices are still widely considered invasive,
inconvenient and expensive.
Diabetes
Diabetes is a chronic, life-threatening disease for which there is no known cure. The disease is caused by the body’s
inability to produce or effectively utilize the hormone insulin, which prevents the body from adequately regulating
blood glucose levels. If a person’s glucose levels are not managed properly, it can lead to serious health conditions
and complications, including heart disease, limb amputations, loss of kidney function, blindness, seizures, coma
and even death. According to the 2019 International Diabetes Federation Atlas, an estimated 463 million people
worldwide had diabetes as of the date of the report. The number of people with diabetes (“PWDs”) worldwide is
estimated to grow to 700 million by 2045, driven primarily by growth in type 2 diabetes and due to various reasons,
including a change in dietary trends, an aging population and increased prevalence of the disease in younger people.
In order to maintain blood glucose levels within the normal range, many PWDs seek to actively monitor their blood
glucose levels. The traditional method of self-monitoring of blood glucose requires lancing the fingertips, commonly
referred to as finger sticks, multiple times per day to obtain a blood drop to be applied to a test strip inside a blood
glucose meter. This method of monitoring glucose levels is inconvenient and can be painful. Additionally, because
each measurement represents a single blood glucose value at a single point in time, it provides limited information
regarding trends in blood glucose levels.
In contrast, CGMs are generally less painful and typically involve the insertion of a microneedle sensor into the body
to measure glucose levels in the interstitial fluid throughout the day and night, providing real-time data that shows
trends in glucose measurements. As a result, CGMs improve glycemic control and quality of life, particularly in
patients with type 1 diabetes treated with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion or multiple daily insulin injection
therapy, and support avoidance of hypoglycemia.
However, most of today’s CGMs are still invasive, inconvenient and expensive. Many require inserting a needle
into the body — and after 10-14 days, the sensor and needle must be replaced. This process can be uncomfortable,
increases susceptibility to infections, and is expensive to manage. As a result, the vast majority of PWDs, as well as
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people with prediabetes, do not use a CGM. Moreover, the broader health-conscious population lacks the ability to
easily monitor blood glucose levels, which can serve as a proxy for metabolic health and risk for chronic diseases.
Notwithstanding the above, demand for CGMs, in general, continues to increase, with approximately three million
worldwide users and industry sales estimated at more than $4.0 billion in 2019, according to published Wall Street
analyst estimates.
Hypertension
Blood pressure is the pressure on the walls of arteries caused by the heart pumping blood through the circulatory
system. When the force against blood vessel walls becomes too high, the heart works harder, which can cause
damage to blood vessels, ultimately leading to a condition called hypertension, or high blood pressure.
According to the American Heart Association, high blood pressure affects nearly one third of the adult population
worldwide. Called “the silent killer,” many people are not aware that they have high blood pressure until it is too late
because there are typically no symptoms. However, hypertension can lead to life-threatening conditions like heart
attacks, strokes, kidney damage, amongst other problems. While there is no cure, using prescription medications,
making dietary changes, increasing activity levels and maintaining awareness of blood pressure can significantly
reduce the risks associated with hypertension.
Because hypertension usually has no symptoms, the only way to detect hypertension is through a blood pressure test.
The test traditionally requires a healthcare provider to place an inflated cuff with a pressure gauge around the upper
arm to squeeze the blood vessels. When the cuff is fully inflated, no blood flow occurs through the artery. As the
cuff is deflated below the systolic pressure, the reducing pressure exerted on the artery allows blood to flow through
it and sets up a detectable vibration in the arterial wall. When the cuff pressure falls below the patient’s diastolic
pressure, blood flows smoothly through the artery in the usual pulses, without any vibration being set up in the wall.
In recent years, blood pressure monitoring devices have become available for personal, in-home use, so people can
gain an understanding of their blood pressure in between their regular doctor visits. While there are medical device
and consumer electronic companies selling blood pressure monitors today, they still have limitations and tend to
be cumbersome. Some provide blood pressure estimates, rather than exact readings. Often times, blood pressure
cuffs require a very specific fit based on arm size and can be very sensitive to placement on the arm, movement
and body position. If not used properly, errors in measuring blood pressure can occur. Most blood pressure cuffs
are not continuous, which require the user to remember to take readings at the same general time of day to avoid
inconsistencies when looking at trends over time. Notwithstanding the above, demand for blood pressure monitoring
devices, in general, continues to increase, with industry sales estimated at approximately $1.3 billion in 2019,
according to published industry estimates.
If we are able to develop a device that can successfully measure blood pressure continuously and non-invasively, the
device could potentially help a person understand in real-time how food intake, sleep, activity levels, stress and more
can directly impact their heart health. With the ability to get actionable feedback, people should be able to be more
engaged in making better decisions for their health.
Solution
We are developing a wearable that measures glucose, blood pressure and heart rate without a needle or cuff, with
the goal of accurately measuring blood glucose, blood pressure and heart rate directly from the blood vessel. We
intend to measure blood glucose, systolic and diastolic blood pressure and heart rate from the blood vessel by
utilizing mmWave RF to probe the arteries to identify various RF properties, which include, but are not limited to,
RF connectivity, permittivity and reflectivity. As these properties change, we can measure the changes in glucose and
blood pressure concentrations in the blood vessels and arteries. Using our signal processing algorithms, we intend to
separate the pulse pressure and glucose waveforms to jointly solve for blood pressure, pulse and glucose. We intend
to provide the user real-time data, including trending lines and time-in-range information, through our proprietary
cloud-based network app, and enable data sharing with healthcare providers, caregivers and family to optimize care
and reinforce positive behaviors and behavioral change. By providing real-time knowledge about glucose levels,
blood pressure and heart rate, we believe our wearable will be a valuable preventative care tool that will help users
make smarter health decisions, ultimately increasing a person’s ability to self-manage diabetes and hypertension and
reducing the frequency of doctor and hospital visits.
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Image: A non-functional rendering of what Movano’s wearable product
currently in development may ultimately look like
Proprietary Technology
We are using patent-pending RF technology that leverages ultra-wideband multi-antenna RF with advanced signal
processing and interference cancellation, machine learning and the cloud to develop our planned wearable product.
Our RF technology is deeply rooted in military and telecom applications, and key members of our engineering team
worked with the pioneers of this technology.
We intend to leverage the potential of this technology to design miniature, dynamic integrated circuits (“ICs”)
and proprietary algorithms that, if small and low-powered enough, may be embeddable into a variety of devices
including a wearable, standalone phone case, ring or skin patch. These devices could communicate on a
minute-by-minute basis, using Bluetooth Low Energy (“BLE”) to a smartphone or a mobile device. Our intention
is to design the system to be capable of connecting to Movano’s cloud service, which is currently in development.
Combined with our cloud analytics, we expect the technology will allow medical professionals, family members,
caregivers and individuals to understand glucose, blood pressure and heart rate trends and make educated decisions
about health, care and treatment based on that data. The goal of our development efforts is to combine machine
learning with different statistical signal processing algorithms, which we believe will enable us to take advantage of
multiple strains of continuous, real time Movano sensor data to generate advanced analytics like predictive alerts,
risk profiles, and more, which are personalized for each wearer.
We believe that the main advantage of our technology under development, as compared to certain existing
technologies like cameras and infrared (“IR”) sensors, will be the ability to achieve fine RF mapping in a
cost-effective and small form factor. As it relates to CGM and blood pressure monitor applications, we believe that
our competitive edge will be that our technology can be deployed on a non-invasive and cuffless basis, packaged in
a wearable, so wearers feel like people, not patients, and priced more affordably for users and payers compared to
existing devices.
Our Planned Wearable Product
Our first planned product is currently in the development stage. For initial testing, we are developing an
iPhone-sized prototype that uses four proprietary ICs. In its current state, this prototype allows us to collect data,
which we are using to generate glucose, blood pressure and heart rate estimates. The accuracy of the technology will
be refined as our algorithms are improved and as we test larger cross sections of people in our external studies. We
are currently in the process of shrinking the iPhone-sized prototype to fit into a wearable similar to the one that is
depicted in the image above.
We have conducted preliminary tests thus far to diversify the data we are collecting, enabling us to better optimize
our system. Our preliminary blood pressure testing took place in 2020 over a three-month period during which we
collected nearly a hundred hours of data on six internal subjects. Data collections with our prototype were compared
to a traditional blood pressure monitor before each test. Our preliminary glucose testing took place in 2020 over a
4 to 5-month time period during which we collected several hundreds of hours of data on three internal test subjects.
Data collections with our prototype were compared to fingerstick data every 5 minutes over the course of an hour.
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In November 2020, we obtained approval from an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) to conduct our first external
blood pressure test, which took place in December 2020. The test was conducted on 40 external test subjects of
different genders, ethnicities, age groups and weights. We are using this data to refine our product design and to
develop the algorithms our product in development will use to estimate blood pressure levels. In 2021, we also plan
to do additional blood pressure testing using our smaller form factor.
As a precursor and dry run to the trials we will conduct for FDA 510(k) clearance process, we expect to conduct a
pivotal prep blood pressure study in the first half of 2022. If that study is successful in demonstrating that our device
is able to measure blood pressure levels with sufficient accuracy, we plan to conduct pivotal clinical trials in the
second half of 2022.
In December 2020, we obtained approval from an IRB and conducted our first external glucose tests. In this study,
we tested 10 external subjects, all of whom were persons with type 1 diabetes, as the IRB agreed that our prototype
met the criteria for a Non-Significant Risk Device and thus an investigational device exemption submission to FDA
was not required. The IRB-approved clinical study compared the glucose measurements from Movano’s device
directly to data from finger sticks. We are using this data to refine our product design and to develop the algorithms
our product in development will use to estimate glucose levels.
In 2021, we plan to transition to begin using our small form factor wearable for further external tests and trials. We
will then seek IRB-approval for an additional glucose clinical study, where we expect to begin a 10-20 person trial
with an independent lab using a YSI glucose analyzer, which will be used to compare data from Movano’s system
with that of the recognized standards for the diagnostic measurement of blood glucose. As a precursor and dry run
to the trials we will conduct for FDA 510(k) clearance process, we expect to test 15-20 subjects during our pivotal
prep study. We hope to begin this pivotal prep study in 2022. If that study is successful in demonstrating that our
device is able to measure blood glucose levels with sufficient accuracy, we plan to conduct pivotal clinical trials with
approximately 100 subjects. Ideally, the data from the larger study will be submitted to FDA in support of 510(k)
clearance application.
Our current primary development goal is to integrate our four proprietary ICs into a single module and shrink
the size of our technology so that it is embeddable into a wearable. We also expect our product design and
algorithms to evolve over the next year as we optimize for accuracy and movement. We have not developed or
launched a first commercial product and do not have a history of revenue or earnings or of product development or
manufacturing. As described further below under “Regulation” and “Strategy”, before we are able to commercialize
our planned wearable product, we will need to obtain FDA clearance or approval for the product and determine our
commercialization strategy.

Image: Our 2” x 2” CGM prototype board using Movano’s 4 custom ICs
Additional Technology Use Cases
While Movano’s wearable, which is intended to combine the functionality of a CGM and rBPM, is the Company’s
top priority and currently the only product in development, we believe our proprietary technology platform may
also be used to develop other intelligent, reliable and user-friendly solutions for use cases beyond measuring and
managing blood glucose and blood pressure. For example, we may also develop a wearable product that is targeted at
the general wellness market.
We believe our proprietary RF-powered platform will enable us to build low-cost, small form-factor, non-invasive,
and scalable 3D sensors that are designed to image the environment around them. This could allow us to build
applications that can track movements, distinguish between inanimate and animate objects, identify gestures to allow
fine touchless control, among other things, over time.
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Because the technology has these capabilities, there may come a time in the future where we explore developing
technologies in various verticals, including, but not limited to the following:
Health: Beyond glucose and blood pressure, our technology has shown promise in its ability to measure the
body’s pulse pressure wave, and hence derive meaningful statistics that can be indicators of cardiovascular disease,
ventricular failure and more.
In Home Monitoring: Our 3D RF sensors may be able to track movement, distinguish people from other moving
objects, understand where people are in space, and then take appropriate contextual action. This could enable
the creation of an intelligent home system without the invasiveness of cameras. It would be able to do things like
identify the behaviors and habits that make-up someone’s daily routine, and when those routines have been broken
and/or a potential health or security risk is detected, send alerts to in-home users, their families, caregivers and first
responders. This is especially useful for the longevity economy, helping people age more independently at home.

Image: Movano’s 8” x 11” in home monitoring transmitter prototype
Intellectual Property
We are committed to developing and protecting our intellectual property and, where appropriate, filing patent
applications to protect our technology. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret
laws and other agreements with employees and third parties to establish and protect our proprietary intellectual
property rights. We require our officers, employees and consultants to enter into standard agreements containing
provisions requiring confidentiality of proprietary information and assignment to us of all inventions made during
the course of their employment or consulting relationship. We also enter into nondisclosure agreements with our
commercial counterparties and limit access to, and distribution of, our proprietary information.
At December 31, 2020, we had two issued U.S. Utility patents (providing method, system, and device protection)
having a total of 60 claims (U.S. Pat. Nos. 10,856,766, expiring on November 13, 2039, and 10,874,314, expiring on
December 18, 2039), 45 pending U.S. patent applications having a total of 1,053 claims, with an earliest priority date
of August 16, 2018, and six pending Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) International patent applications having a total
of 443 pending claims. The PCT International patent applications preserve the opportunity to pursue patent rights in
a majority of the world’s countries, including most of the major industrialized countries. We plan to file additional
provisional and utility patent applications to protect some of the intellectual property on which our sensor system
is expected to be based, including a 3D sensor IC architecture using RF beamforming or machine-learning. Our
pending patent claims and future patentable focus areas are directed at the following areas related to our technology:
•

Machine learning for glucose and blood pressure measurement

•

Advanced IC architecture for radar

•

Skin antenna designs

•

A variety of calibration and alignment techniques

•

Signal processing and filtering for glucose and blood pressure measurement
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While we have not registered any of the copyrights in our software code, our software code, once written, would be
protected by applicable U.S. copyright law.
Regulation
FDA Regulation
Our planned wearable product in development must be approved or cleared by FDA before it is marketed in the
U.S. Before and after approval or clearance in the U.S., our planned wearable product will be subject to extensive
regulation by FDA under the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FD&C Act”) and/or the Public Health Service
Act, as well as by other regulatory bodies. FDA regulations govern, among other things, the development, testing,
manufacturing, labeling, safety, storage, record-keeping, market clearance or approval, advertising and promotion,
import and export, marketing and sales, and distribution of medical devices and pharmaceutical products. There may
be certain commercial applications for our technology that require less regulatory scrutiny than described below.
FDA Approval or Clearance of Medical Devices
In the U.S., medical devices are subject to varying degrees of regulatory control and are classified in one of three
classes depending on the extent of controls FDA determines are necessary to reasonably ensure their safety and
efficacy:
•

Class I: general controls, such as labeling, establishment registration, device listing, and, for some
devices, adherence to quality system regulations;

•

Class II: the general controls plus certain special controls, FDA clearance via a premarket notification,
or 510(k) submission, specific controls such as performance standards, patient registries and post-market
surveillance and additional controls such as labeling and adherence to quality system regulations; and

•

Class III:

general and special controls and approval of a premarket approval (“PMA”) application.

We expect our planned wearable product in development will be classified as a Class II medical device and thus
require FDA clearance prior to marketing by means of a 510(k) clearance rather than a PMA application.
To request marketing authorization by means of a 510(k) clearance, we must submit a notification demonstrating
that the proposed device is substantially equivalent to another legally marketed medical device, a “predicate device,”
has the same intended use, and is as safe and effective as the predicate device and does not raise different questions
of safety and effectiveness than a legally marketed device. 510(k) submissions generally include, among other
things, a description of the device and its manufacturing, device labeling, medical devices to which the device is
substantially equivalent, safety and biocompatibility information and the results of performance testing. In this case,
the 510(k) submission will likely also include data from human clinical studies demonstrating performance and other
parameters. Marketing may commence only when FDA issues a clearance letter finding substantial equivalence. The
typical duration to receive a 510(k) approval is approximately six to twelve months from the date of the initial 510(k)
submission, although there is no guarantee that the timing will not be longer.
In some instances, the 510(k) pathway for product marketing may be used with only proof of substantial equivalence
in technology for a given indication with a predicate device. In other instances, FDA may require additional
clinical work to prove efficacy in addition to technological equivalence and basic safety. Whether clinical data is
provided or not, FDA may decide to reject the substantial equivalence argument we present. If that happens, the
device is automatically designated as a Class III device. The device sponsor must then fulfill more rigorous PMA
requirements, or can request a risk-based classification determination for the device in accordance with the “de
novo” process, which may determine that the new device is of low to moderate risk and that it can be appropriately
be regulated as a Class I or II device. If a de novo request is granted, the device may be legally marketed and a new
classification is established. If the device is classified as Class II, the device may serve as a predicate for future
510(k) submissions. If the device is not reclassified through de novo review, then it must go through the standard
PMA process for Class III devices.
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After a device receives 510(k) clearance, any product modification that could significantly affect the safety or
effectiveness of the product, or that would constitute a significant change in intended use, requires a new 510(k)
clearance or, if the device would no longer be substantially equivalent, a PMA. If FDA determines that the product
does not qualify for 510(k) clearance, then a company must submit, and FDA must approve, a PMA before
marketing can begin.
A PMA application must provide a demonstration of safety and effectiveness, which generally requires extensive
pre-clinical and clinical trial data. Information about the device and its components, device design, manufacturing
and labeling, among other information, must also be included in the PMA. As part of the PMA review, FDA will
inspect the manufacturer’s facilities for compliance with quality system regulation requirements, which govern
testing, control, documentation and other aspects of quality assurance with respect to manufacturing, testing,
and storage of medical devices. If FDA determines the application or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable,
FDA may outline the deficiencies in the submission and often will request additional testing or information.
Notwithstanding the submission of any requested additional information, FDA ultimately may decide that the
application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval. During the review period, an FDA advisory
committee, typically a panel of clinicians and statisticians, is likely to be convened to review the application and
recommend to FDA whether, or upon what conditions, the device should be approved. FDA is not bound by the
advisory panel decision. While FDA often follows the panel’s recommendation, there have been instances in
which FDA has not. FDA must find the information to be satisfactory in order to approve the PMA. The PMA
approval can include post-approval conditions, including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion,
sale and distribution, or requirements to do additional clinical studies after approval. Even after approval of a
PMA, a new PMA or PMA supplement is required to authorize certain modifications to the device, its labeling or
its manufacturing process. Supplements to a PMA often require the submission of the same type of information
required for an original PMA, except that the supplement is generally limited to that information needed to support
the proposed change from the product covered by the original PMA. The typical duration to receive PMA approval is
approximately two years from the date of submission of the initial PMA application, although there is no guarantee
that the timing will not be longer.
Clinical Trials of Medical Devices
One or more clinical trials are generally required to support a PMA application and are sometimes necessary to
support a 510(k) submission. Clinical studies of unapproved or uncleared medical devices or devices being studied
for uses for which they are not approved or cleared (investigational devices) must be conducted in compliance
with FDA requirements. If an investigational device could pose a significant risk to patients, the sponsor company
must submit an investigational device exemption application to FDA prior to initiation of the clinical study. If an
institutional review board determines that device study does present a significant risk, an investigational device
exemption submission to FDA is not required. An investigational device exemption application must be supported
by appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory test results, showing that it is safe to test the device on humans
and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound. Except for studies involving certain banned devices, the
investigational device exemption will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by FDA unless FDA
notifies the company that the investigation may not begin. Clinical studies of investigational devices may not begin
until an institutional review board has approved the study.
During the study, the sponsor must comply with FDA’s investigational device exemption requirements. These
requirements include investigator selection, trial monitoring, adverse event reporting, and record keeping. The
investigators must obtain patient informed consent, rigorously follow the investigational plan and study protocol,
control the disposition of investigational devices, and comply with reporting and record keeping requirements. The
sponsor, FDA, or the institutional review board at each institution at which a clinical trial is being conducted may
suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that the subjects are being exposed to
an unacceptable risk. During the approval or clearance process, FDA typically inspects the records relating to the
conduct of one or more investigational sites participating in the study supporting the application.
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Post-Approval Regulation of Medical Devices
After a device is cleared or approved for marketing, numerous and pervasive regulatory requirements continue to
apply. These include:
•

FDA quality systems regulation, which governs, among other things, how manufacturers design, test,
manufacture, exercise quality control over, and document manufacturing of their products;

•

labeling and claims regulations, which prohibit the promotion of products for unapproved or “off-label”
uses and impose other restrictions on labeling; and

•

the Medical Device Reporting regulation, which requires reporting to FDA of certain adverse
experiences associated with use of the product.

Good Manufacturing Practices Requirements
Manufacturers of medical devices are required to comply with the good manufacturing practices set forth in the
quality system regulation promulgated under Section 520 of the FD&C Act. Current good manufacturing practices
regulations require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding
maintenance of records and documentation. The manufacturing facility for an approved product must be registered
with FDA and meet current good manufacturing practices requirements to the satisfaction of FDA pursuant to
a pre-PMA approval inspection before the facility can be used. Manufacturers, including third party contract
manufacturers, are also subject to periodic inspections by FDA and other authorities to assess compliance with
applicable regulations. Failure to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements subjects a manufacturer
to possible legal or regulatory action, including the seizure or recall of products, injunctions, consent decrees
placing significant restrictions on or suspending manufacturing operations, and civil and criminal penalties.
Adverse experiences with the product must be reported to FDA and could result in the imposition of marketing
restrictions through labeling changes or in product withdrawal. Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance
with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur
following the approval.
Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”) Regulations
Our RF-based technology involves the transmission of RF energy, and as such, will be subject to regulation by the
FCC, including the FCC’s equipment authorization regulations and its regulations governing human exposure to
RF energy. In particular, we expect the planned wearable product to be regulated under Part 18 of the FCC’s rules
governing industrial, scientific, and medical (ISM) equipment, and to be classified as consumer ISM equipment
under that rule part. Based on the expected frequency and power of operation, we expect that the product will
comply with the Part 18 technical specifications for these type of devices, which we will be required to verify under
FCC equipment authorization procedures. We also expect, based on the device’s frequency and power of operation,
that the product will comply with the FCC’s requirements governing human exposure to RF energy.
Strategy
We are a recently-formed development-stage start-up company without a history of operations or revenue, and
therefore intend to explore alternative business strategies, including:
•

selling directly to consumers and enterprise customers through retail channels and through our website
or other distribution channels;

•

partnering with original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), and value-added resellers (“VARs”); and

•

partnering with industry partners to incorporate our technology into new and existing devices.
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Selling our products directly to consumers would not depend on locating a suitable OEM or VAR, but would require
us to complete the development and manufacture of our planned wearable product and commercialize the product on
our own without the assistance a suitable OEM or VAR could provide. We may use distributors to help distribute our
product to consumers, and the costs of working with such distributors, including without limitation the compensation
to such distributors and the administrative and other costs of working with such distributors, would reduce our profit
margin.
We expect that partnering with OEMs and VARs may accelerate product acceptance into our target market and allow
us to take advantage of the sales and marketing and distribution infrastructure of those OEMs or VARs. In particular,
we believe that a maker of ICs or a manufacturer of wearables would be an ideal strategic partner for the Company.
One of the challenges of IC development is ensuring the ability to source quality ICs with enough volume and
competitive pricing. In order to strengthen our supply chain and prepare for the future, we formed a strategic
partnership with a leading specialty foundry, for manufacturing and supplying our ICs. Pursuant to this strategic
partnership, our partner agreed to accept $500,000 of convertible notes from us in partial payment for IC services.
Competition
The technology industry, generally, and the glucose monitoring market, in particular, are intensely competitive,
subject to rapid change and significantly affected by new product introductions and other market activities by
industry participants. To compete successfully, we will need to demonstrate the advantages of our products and
technologies over well-established alternative solutions, products, and technologies, as well as newer ones, and
convince consumers and enterprises of the advantages of our products and technologies.
With respect to our planned wearable product, we will face direct and indirect competition from a number of
competitors who have developed or are developing products for continuous monitoring of glucose levels. These
competitors include DexCom, Inc., Abbott Laboratories, Medtronic plc, Roche Diagnostics, LifeScan, Inc., Ascensia
Diabetes Care Holdings AG, Senseonics Holdings, Inc., Integrity Applications, Inc., Nemaura Medical, Biolinq Inc.,
and Profusa, Inc. Our planned wearable product will also compete with traditional glucometers which remain an
inexpensive alternative. Many of the companies we will compete with enjoy significantly greater name recognition,
and have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing,
preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and sales and marketing of approved
products than we have.
We will also face direct and indirect competition from a number of competitors who have developed or are
developing products that monitor blood pressure. These competitors include OMRON Corporation, Welch Allyn,
A&D Medical, American Diagnostic Corporation, GE Healthcare, Masimo Corporation, Philips, SunTech Medical
Inc., Aktiia, Biobeat and Blumio. Many of the companies we will compete with enjoy significantly greater
name recognition and have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and sales and marketing
of approved products than we have.
With respect to a potential wearable product that is targeted at the general wellness market, we would face direct and
indirect competition from a number of competitors who have developed and commercialized similar products. These
competitors include Apple, Samsung, Garmin, Fitbit, WHOOP and Oura Health. Many of such potential competitors
enjoy significantly greater name recognition and have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in
research and development, manufacturing, and sales and marketing than we have.
Mergers and acquisitions in the medical device, biotechnology and diagnostic industries may result in even more
resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Other small or early stage companies may
also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established
companies. There are also a number of academic and other institutions involved in various phases of technology
development regarding blood glucose monitoring devices.
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We believe the ability to deploy our technology on a non-invasive basis, packaged in a wearable that is painless,
cuffless, simple, smart and competitively priced, will provide us with a competitive advantage. We cannot however
assure you that we will be able to compete successfully.
Employees and Human Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2020, we had 15 employees, all of whom are employed on a full-time basis. None of our
employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and we believe our relationship with our employees is
good.
Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and
integrating our existing and new employees, advisors and consultants. The principal purposes of our equity incentive
plans are to attract, retain and reward personnel through the granting of stock-based compensation awards, in order
to increase stockholder value and the success of our company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best
of their abilities and achieve our objectives.
Properties
Our principal office is located at 6200 Stoneridge Mall Rd., Suite 300, Pleasanton, California.
We also rent office space in Dublin, California under a lease agreement. The term of the lease commenced in
October 2019 and will expire in September 2021. The rent is approximately $4,600 per month.
Legal Proceedings
We are not a party to any pending legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together
with the section entitled “Summary Financial Data” and our financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this prospectus. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere
in this prospectus, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related
financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results may differ materially from those described below. You should read
the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the
following discussion and analysis.
Overview
We are a health-focused technology company developing simple, smart and personalized devices designed to help
individuals on their health journey maintain good health today and prevent and manage chronic diseases in the
future.
We are developing a proprietary platform that uses Radio Frequency (“RF”) technology, which we believe will
enable the creation of low-cost and scalable sensors that are small enough to fit into a wearable and other small form
factors. We expect that our platform will provide users with the ability to measure and continuously monitor vital
health data and provide actionable feedback to jumpstart changes in behaviors.
Our platform is the foundation for our first product in development, which is a non-invasive and cuffless wearable
that simultaneously measures glucose, blood pressure and heart rate. It is intended to combine the functionality
of a continuous glucose monitor (“CGM”) and a cuffless RF-based blood pressure monitor (“rBPM ®”) into one
wearable device. Once developed, we believe it will allow users to manage their health with confidence and in a
manner that best fits their lifestyle, ultimately improving health outcomes.
Plan of Operations
Our technology is in the development phase. We intend to maximize the value and probability of the
commercialization of our technology by focusing on research, testing, optimizing, conducting pilot studies and
partnering for more extensive, later stages of clinical development, as well as seeking extensive patent protection and
intellectual property development.
Since we are a development stage company, the majority of our business activities to date and our planned future
activities will be devoted to further research and development. We plan to use the majority of the net proceeds from
this offering to fund these research and development efforts (see “Use of Proceeds”).
A fundamental part of our corporate development strategy is to establish one or more strategic partnerships that
would allow us to more fully exploit the potential of our technology, although other than the partnership with a
leading specialty foundry discussed above under “Business — Strategy” no definitive agreement in that regard has
been entered into as of the date of this prospectus.
Our research and development expenses primarily include wages, fees and equipment for the development of our
technology and our proposed products. Additionally, we incur certain costs associated with the protection of our
products and inventions through a combination of patents, licenses, applications and disclosures.
Going Concern
Our financial statements have been presented on the basis that we are a going concern, which contemplates the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. We have not generated any
revenues from operations since inception and do not expect to do so in the foreseeable future. We have experienced
operating losses and negative operating cash flows since inception and expect to continue to do so for at least the
next few years. We have financed our working capital requirements during this period through the sale of its equity
securities including convertible promissory notes. At December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling
$5.7 million available to fund the Company’s ongoing business activities.
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Because we are currently engaged in research at a relatively early stage, it will take a significant amount of time and
resources to develop any product or intellectual property capable of generating sustainable revenues. Accordingly,
our business is unlikely to generate any sustainable operating revenues in the next several years and may never do so.
In addition, to the extent that we are able to generate operating revenues, there can be no assurances that we will be
able to achieve positive earnings and operating cash flows.
Operating Expenses
We generally recognize operating expenses as they are incurred in two general categories, general and administrative
expenses and research and development expenses. Our operating expenses also include non-cash components related
to depreciation of property and equipment and stock-based compensation, which are allocated, as appropriate, to
general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.
General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for executive, legal, finance, human
resources, information technology and administrative personnel, as well as professional fees, insurance costs, and
other general corporate expenses. Management expects general and administrative expenses to increase in future
periods as the Company adds personnel and incurs additional expenses to support the expansion of its research
and development activities and its operation as a public company, including higher legal, accounting, insurance,
compliance, compensation and other administrative expenses.
Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses, fees paid to consultants,
outside service providers, facility expenses, and development and clinical trial expenses. We charge research and
development expenses to operations as they are incurred. Management expects research and development expenses
to increase in the future as the Company increases its efforts to develop technology for potential future products
based on its technology and research.
Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Our statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 as discussed herein are presented
below.
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2020
2019
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development�������������������������������������������������������������� $8,373 $6,515
General and administrative��������������������������������������������������������������
2,734
1,997
Total operating expenses��������������������������������������������������������������
11,107
8,512
Loss from operations����������������������������������������������������������������������������

(11,107)

Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Change in fair value of warrant liability������������������������������������������
Change in fair value of derivative liability��������������������������������������
Interest and other income, net����������������������������������������������������������
Other income (expense), net��������������������������������������������������������

(1,004)
(1,511)
564
27
(1,924)

(8,512)
—
13
—
59
72

1,858
737
2,595
(2,595)
(1,004)
(1,511)
564
(45)
(1,996)

Net loss and comprehensive loss ��������������������������������������������������������
(13,031)
(8,440)
(4,591)
Accretion and dividends on redeemable convertible preferred
stock ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(8,914)
(6,041)
(2,874)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ������������������������������������ $(21,945) $(14,481) $(7,464)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $(6.85) $(9.18)
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted��������������
3,201,430
1,577,714
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Research and Development
Research and development expenses totaled $8.4 million and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. This increase of $1.9 million was due primarily to the growth of the Company and its
activities. Research and development expenses for year ended December 31, 2020 included expenses related to
employee compensation of $2.2 million, tools and equipment expenses of $0.8 million, rent of $0.1 million, other
professional fees of $5.2 million, and other expenses of $0.1 million. Research and development expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2019 included expenses related to employee compensation of $1.7 million, research and
laboratory expenses of $0.9 million, rent of $0.1 million, other professional fees of $3.6 million, and other expenses
of $0.2 million.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses totaled $2.7 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. This increase of $0.7 million was due primarily to the growth of the Company and its
activities. General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 included expenses related to
employee and board of director compensation of $1.6 million, professional and consulting fees of $0.9 million, and
other expenses of $0.2 million. General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 included
expenses related to employee and board of director compensation of $0.9 million, professional and consulting fees
of $0.9 million, and other expenses of $0.2 million.
Loss from Operations
Loss from operations was $11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to $8.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2020 was a net other expense of $1.9 million as
compared to a net other income of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Other income (expense), net
for the year ended December 31, 2020 included interest expense of $1.0 million related to the accrual of interest
and amortization of debt discounts on the convertible promissory notes, $1.5 million related to the change in the fair
value of warrant liability, and $0.6 million related to the change in fair value of the derivative liability. Other income
for the year ended December 31, 2019 was comprised primarily of interest and other income, net.
Net Loss
As a result of the foregoing, net loss was $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to
$8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s financial statements are presented on a basis that it is a going concern, which contemplates the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. We have not generated any
revenues from operations since inception, and do not expect to do so in the foreseeable future. We have experienced
operating losses and negative operating cash flows since inception and expect to continue to do so. We have financed
our working capital requirements during this period through the sale of equity securities and convertible notes.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $5.7 million and $4.3 million, respectively,
available to fund our ongoing business activities. Additional information concerning our financial condition and
results of operations is provided in the financial statements presented in this prospectus.
This offering is expected to generate net proceeds of approximately $32.3 million (or approximately $37.4 million if
the underwriter exercises in full its over-allotment option). We intend to use such proceeds as described in the section
of this prospectus titled “Use of Proceeds”.
We believe that the net proceeds from this offering combined with our existing cash resources, will be sufficient to
fund our projected operating requirements for at least 12 months subsequent to the closing of this offering. However,
the expected net proceeds from this offering are not expected to be sufficient enable us to complete the development
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and commercialization of our proposed wearable product. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses
and increasing operating losses for at least the next several years. We anticipate that our expenses will increase
substantially as we:
•

advance the engineering design and development of our proposed wearable and other potential products;

•

prepare applications required for marketing approval of our proposed wearable product in the
United States;

•

develop our plans for manufacturing, distributing and marketing our proposed wearable and other
potential products;

•

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel
to support our product development, planned commercialization efforts and our operation as a public
company.

Until we can generate a sufficient amount of revenue from our planned products, if ever, we expect to finance future
cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or corporate collaborations and licensing
arrangements. Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at
all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of
our research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. To the extent that we raise additional funds
by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, and debt financing, if available,
may involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaborations and licensing
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or applications or grant licenses
on terms that may not be favorable to us. We may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever
conditions are favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for additional capital at that time.
Operating Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company used cash of $10.7 million in operating activities, as
compared to $8.2 million used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019.
The $10.7 million used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily attributable
to our net loss of $13.0 million during the period and changes in our operating assets and liabilities totaling
$0.7 million. These items were offset by non-cash items, including stock-based compensation of $0.3 million for
a stock grant and stock-based compensation of $0.4 million, accretion of the debt discount on our convertible
promissory notes of $0.7 million, accrued interest on our convertible promissory notes of $0.3 million,
non-employee services of $0.4 million under convertible promissory notes, change in fair value of warrant liability
of $1.5 million, and offset by a $0.6 million change in the fair value of our derivative liability.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company used cash of $8.2 million in operating activities, which was
primarily attributable to our net loss of $8.4 million. The difference between cash used in operating activities and net
loss consisted primarily of depreciation, stock-based compensation, and changes in operating assets and liabilities.
Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company did not have any investing activities.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company used cash of $13,000 in investing activities, consisting
of $13,000 for the purchase of office and laboratory equipment.
Financing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company was provided cash of $12.1 million from financing
activities, comprised of $11.8 million from the issuance of convertible promissory notes which was partially offset
by $0.7 million of issuance costs, $0.7 million in proceeds from the Paycheck Protection Program loan which was
partially offset by the repayment of $0.4 million, and $0.7 million from the issuance of common stock.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company was provided cash of $9.4 million from financing
activities, consisting primarily of $9.4 million from the issuance of the Series B redeemable convertible preferred
stock.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our contractual obligations and commitments pertain to our facilities lease agreements. The future minimum lease
agreements are $41,400 for the calendar year 2021.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates
and assumptions for the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Our
estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions and any such differences may be material.
While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the Note 3 to our audited financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, we believe the following discussion addresses our most critical accounting
policies, which are those that are most important to our financial condition and results of operations and require our
most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
The Company records all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock at their respective issuance price less
issuance costs on the dates of issuance. Under certain circumstances the Company will be required to redeem the
Series A and Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock unless an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) has been
consummated prior to April 1, 2021, or an extension or waiver is obtained upon approval of a majority of the holders
of such preferred stock. As the preferred stock becomes redeemable due to the passage of time and the Company
believes the likelihood of an event requiring conversion prior April 1, 2021 is remote, the Company considers the
preferred stock to be redeemable as of April 1, 2021. The Company records the accretion of the Series A and B
preferred stock balances to their respective redemption amounts using the effective interest method. The redeemable
convertible preferred stock is presented outside of stockholders’ deficit on the balance sheets.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
The Company accounts for funds received from the Paycheck Protection Program as a financial liability with
interest accrued and expensed over the term of the loan under the effective interest method. The loan will remain
recorded as a liability until the Company has been legally released from the liability or the Company repays the
liability. Any amount that is ultimately forgiven by the lender would be recognized in the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss as a gain extinguishment.
Convertible Financial Instruments
The Company bifurcates embedded redemption and conversion options from their host instruments and accounts
for them as freestanding derivative financial instruments at fair value, if certain criteria are met. The criteria include
circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not
clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument
that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-measured at fair value
under otherwise applicable GAAP with changes in fair value reported in earnings as they occur and (c) a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered a derivative instrument.
Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized to interest expense using the interest method over the earlier
of the term of the related debt or their earliest date of redemption.
From time to time, the Company issues convertible financial instruments to nonemployees in payment for services
that are provided. Until the services are completely rendered, the Company will expense the principal and any
interest earned prior to the service completion to the representative expense account for the services performed and
will record a noncurrent liability for the expected amount of the principal balance. Upon completion of the services,
the Company will reclassify the noncurrent liability balance to the balance of an outstanding convertible financial
instrument and assess the embedded redemption and conversion options that are applicable at that time.
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Common Stock Warrants
During the normal course of business, from time to time, we issue warrants to purchase common stock as part of a
debt or equity financing or to vendors as consideration to perform services. We assess each warrant to determine if
it meets the characteristics of a liability or a derivative, and if the warrant does meet the characteristics of a liability
or a derivative, we classify the warrant as a liability measured at fair value. The derivative liabilities are remeasured
at each period end, on a recurring basis, to the estimated fair value with the changes in fair value reflected as current
period income or loss until the warrant is exercised, extinguished, or expires. If the warrant does not meet the
characteristics of a liability or a derivative, we classify the warrant as equity, and record the warrant at its fair value
on the date of issuance. The fair value of our warrants are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures equity classified stock-based awards granted to employees, directors, and nonemployees
based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant and recognizes compensation expense of those awards on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award.
The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. This valuation model for stock-based compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and
judgments about the variables used in the calculation including the expected term, the volatility of the Company’s
common stock, and an assumed risk-free interest rate. As a result, if we revise our assumptions and estimates, our
stock-based compensation expense could change. These assumptions include:
Dividend Rate — The expected dividend rate was assumed to be zero, as we have not previously paid
dividends on common stock and have no current plans to do so.
Expected Volatility — The expected volatility was derived from the historical stock volatilities of several public
companies within our industry that we consider to be comparable to our business over a period equivalent to
the expected term of the stock option grants.
Risk-Free Interest Rate — The risk-free interest rate is based on the interest yield in effect at the date of grant
for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the option’s expected term.
Expected Term — The expected term represents the period that our stock options are expected to be
outstanding. The expected term of option grants that are considered to be “plain vanilla” are determined using
the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting and the
contractual life of the options. For other option grants not considered to be “plain vanilla,” we determined the
expected term to be the contractual life of the options.
Forfeitures — We account for forfeitures as they occur.
Fair Value of Common Stock
Historically, for all periods prior to this initial public offering, the fair values of the shares of our common stock
underlying our share-based awards and warrant grants were estimated on each grant date by our board of directors.
In order to determine the fair value of our common stock, our board of directors considered, among other things,
valuations of our common stock prepared by an independent third-party valuation firm in accordance with
the guidance provided by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide, Valuation of
Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation.
The fair value of the Company’s common stock was estimated using a two-step process. First, the Company’s
enterprise value was established using generally accepted valuation methodologies, such as comparable public
company and market adjusted option pricing analysis as well as consideration of company financing transactions.
The enterprise value was allocated among the securities that comprise the capital structure of the Company using
the option-pricing method. The option-pricing method treats all levels of the capital structure as call options on
the enterprise’s value, with exercise price based on the “breakpoints” between each of the different claims on the
securities. The inputs necessary for the option-pricing model include the current equity value (the enterprise value
as previously calculated), breakpoints (the various characteristics for each class of equity, including liquidation
preferences and priority distributions, in accordance with the Company’s certificate of incorporation, as amended
and restated), term, risk-free rate, and volatility.
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Given the absence of a public trading market for our common stock, our board of directors exercised their judgment
and considered a number of objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our
common stock, including valuations performed by an independent third party, developments in our operations, sales
of preferred stock, the prices, rights, preferences and privileges of our preferred stock relative to the common stock,
actual operating results and financial performance and capital resources, the conditions in the our industry and the
economy and capital markets in general, the stock price performance and volatility of comparable public companies,
the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for shares of our common stock underlying these stock options, such as
an initial public offering or sale of our company, and the lack of liquidity of our common stock, among other factors.
After the closing of this offering, our board of directors will determine the fair value of each share of underlying
common stock based on the closing price of our common stock as reported on the date of the grant. Our board of
directors intended all options granted to be exercisable at a price per share not less than the per share fair value of
our common stock underlying those options on the grant date.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and net operating loss and credit carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits using a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company establishes
a liability for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will
be due. The Company records an income tax liability, if any, for the difference between the benefit recognized and
measured and the tax position taken or expected to be taken on the Company’s tax returns. To the extent that the
assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination
is made. The liability is adjusted considering changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit.
The provision for income taxes includes the impact of liability provisions and changes to the liability that are
considered appropriate. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in
judgment occurs.
For interim periods, the Company estimates its annual effective income tax rate and applies the estimated rate to the
year-to-date income or loss before income taxes. The Company also computes the tax provision or benefit related to
items reported separately and recognizes the items net of their related tax effect in the interim periods in which they
occur. The Company also recognizes the effect of changes in enacted tax laws or rates in the interim periods in which
the changes occur.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 3 of the audited financial statements for a discussion of recently issued and recently adopted accounting
pronouncements.
Off Balance Sheet Transactions
We do not have any off-balance sheet transactions.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The following table sets forth the names and ages of all of our executive officers and directors. Our officers are
appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of, the board of directors.
Name

Michael Leabman
Phil Kelly
Jeremy (“J.”) Cogan
Emily Wang Fairbairn
John Mastrototaro
Rubén Caballero
Brian Cullinan

Age

47
61
52
59
60
52
61

Position

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Chief Technology Officer and Vice President of Engineering
Chief Financial Officer
Director and Chair of the Board
Director
Director
Director

Biographical information with respect to our executive officers and directors is provided below. There are no family
relationships between any of our executive officers or directors.
Officers and Directors
Michael Leabman founded the Company and has served as its President and CEO, and a member of its board of
directors, since January 2018. Upon Mr. Mastrototaro’s appointment as our President and CEO, Mr. Leabman has
agreed to assume the role of Chief Technology Officer. As a serial entrepreneur with a passion for envisioning,
inventing and executing, Mr. Leabman has previously founded four other companies in the wireless space and
has more than 200 patents issued in smart antenna array for telecom/power. Most recently, Mr. Leabman founded
Energous Corporation (Nasdaq: WATT), a wireless charging company, in October 2012, and served as a member
of its board of directors from October 2012 until May 2018, and its Chief Technology Officer from October 2013
until January 2018. Prior to Energous, Mr. Leabman founded and served as President of TruePath Wireless, a service
provider and equipment provider in the broadband communications industry and founded and served as CTO for
DataRunway Inc., a wireless communication company providing broadband internet to airlines. Mr. Leabman
received both his Bachelor of Science degree and Master of Engineering degree in electrical engineering from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. We believe Mr. Leabman is qualified to serve as a member of our board of
directors based on his background, experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, including founding our Company
and his executive leadership and technical experience in the wireless and broadband communications industry.
John Mastrototaro, Ph.D. has served as a director of the Company since December 2020 and has agreed to become
our President and CEO no later than April 1, 2021. Mr. Mastrototaro has over 30 years of experience in the medical
device industry, leading innovation and bringing new products to the market. Mr. Mastrototaro has served as the
Chief Operating Officer of Orthosensor, Inc. since 2017. Previously, Mr. Mastrototaro spent the majority of his
career with Medtronic, PLC. and MiniMed, Inc., where he was instrumental in initiating and leading a series of firsts
in the world of diabetes, including the ambulatory continuous glucose monitoring system, the sensor augmented
insulin pump and the early generations of the artificial pancreas. Prior to joining Orthosensor, Mr. Mastrototaro
was Medtronic’s first VP of Informatics from 2013 to 2017, a role in which he helped develop a corporate strategy
for the use of data and analytics to improve healthcare delivery. During his tenure in Medtronic’s Diabetes division,
Mr. Mastrototaro held a number of positions, including CTO, VP of R&D and Business Development and Global
VP of Clinical Research and Health Affairs. Mr. Mastrototaro started his career with Eli Lilly. He holds a B.A. in
Mathematics and Physics from Holy Cross College and M.S. and Ph.D. in Biomedical Engineering from Duke
University. Mr. Mastrototaro has authored over 50 peer reviewed manuscripts and holds over 60 US patents. We
believe Mr. Mastrototaro is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his background, experience,
qualifications, attributes and skills, and that his significant knowledge of, and breadth of experience in, the medical
device industry in general and diabetes monitoring and care in particular provides valuable insight to our board.
Phil Kelly has served as the Company’s Chief Technology Officer and Vice President of Engineering since
March 2018. Upon Mr. Leabman’s appointment as our Chief Technology Officer, Mr. Kelly has agreed to assume the
role of Vice President of Engineering. From April 2014 to December 2017, Mr. Kelly served as Chief Scientist and
Vice President Systems Engineering at Energous Corporation, a wireless power company. Prior to joining Energous,
Mr. Kelly was an engineering specialist at Northrop Grumman, an aerospace company, working on advanced
research and development projects. Mr. Kelly received both his Bachelor of Science and Master of Engineering
degrees in electrical engineering from the University of California, Davis.
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Jeremy (“J.”) Cogan has served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer since May 2019. Mr. Cogan brings
24 years of financial experience to the Company. From July 2007 to December 2018, Mr. Cogan managed the
Leisure & Media portfolio at Ascend Capital, a multi-billion-dollar, long/short equity hedge fund, based in the San
Francisco Bay Area. At Ascend, he was also a member of the firm’s Executive Committee. From January 1995
to May 2007, Mr. Cogan was a member of the equity research team at Banc of America Securities LLC (and its
predecessors). For the majority of his tenure at Banc of America Securities, Mr. Cogan was a Principal and Senior
Equity Research Analyst, responsible for the Gaming and Lodging sectors. Mr. Cogan received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Communications from the University of Pennsylvania and has been a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
Charterholder since September 2000.
Emily Wang Fairbairn has served as a director of the Company and Chair of the Board since March 2018.
Ms. Fairbairn was co-founder and CEO of multi-billion-dollar hedge fund, Ascend Capital, from 1999 to 2018.
The firm established a long/short equity hedge fund business focused on managing assets for institutional clients
such as pensions, endowments and public companies. From 1987 to 1997, Ms. Fairbairn built a successful practice
managing equity portfolios for high net worth clients for Merrill Lynch. From 1985 to1987 Ms. Fairbairn worked as
a process engineer and supervisor for Pepsi’s Frito-Lay brand. Ms. Fairbairn is an active philanthropist with a history
of supporting education, athletics, and medical research. She also serves on the funding board of MIT Sandbox
Innovation Fund to actively mentor entrepreneurs. Ms. Fairbairn received her Bachelor of Science in chemical
engineering from California State Polytechnic University Pomona. We believe Ms. Fairbairn is qualified to serve
on our board of directors based on her background, experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, including her
background in investment and finance matters, and extensive executive leadership and management experience.
Rubén Caballero has served as a director of the Company since November 2019. Since April 2020, Mr. Caballero
has served as Microsoft’s Corporate Vice President of Devices & Technology Engineering for the Mixed Reality
Division, where he oversees Mixed Reality, AI and other special projects. Mr. Caballero served as a Vice President of
Engineering at Apple from 2005 until April 2019, where he was one of the founding leaders of the iPhone hardware
design team and later expanded his role to include iPad, Apple Watch, Macintosh, and other hardware products.
Mr. Caballero’s senior role at Apple provided him with the opportunity to build and scale global teams, including the
Wireless Design and Technology team for all the products/ecosystems at Apple, including the iPhone, iPad, Macs,
AirPods, HomePod, and accessories. Before Apple, Mr. Caballero worked at two start-ups, where he led efforts for
designing innovative products and core technology for wireless networked audio components and devices. Since
August 2019, Mr. Caballero has served as a member of the board of directors of Resonant Inc. (Nasdaq: RESN), a
company that is working to transform the way radio frequency, or RF, front-ends are being designed and delivered
for mobile handset and wireless devices. Mr. Caballero received a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from
École Polytechnique de Montréal, a Master in Electrical Engineering from New Mexico State University and an
Honorary Doctorate from École Polytechnique de Montréal. We believe Mr. Caballero is qualified to serve on our
board of directors based on his extensive experience in the technology industry, and his technical expertise gained
from working with wireless technologies and commercializing products for one of the world’s largest technology
companies.
Brian Cullinan has served as a director of the Company since August 2020. Mr. Cullinan was a partner at
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) from July 1997 through June 2020. While at PwC, Mr. Cullinan served as a
Senior Relationship and Global Engagement Partner with responsibility for numerous PwC Fortune 500 clients. In
addition, he served on PwC’s U.S. Board of Partners & Principals from 2010 to 2018, including two terms as Lead
Director from 2012 to 2016. Mr. Cullinan simultaneously served as a member of PwC’s Global Board from 2013 to
2017 and as Managing Partner — Southwest Region from 2011 to 2017. Mr. Cullinan has served in numerous other
leadership roles during his career at PwC, including West Region Assurance Leader from 2009 to 2012 and U.S.
Entertainment, Media & Communications Assurance Leader from 2007 to 2009. He received a Bachelor of Arts
from Cornell University and a Master of Science in Financial Accounting from Northeastern University. We believe
Mr. Cullinan is qualified to serve on our board of directors based on his extensive knowledge of, and experience
in, the application of accounting principles and the financial reporting process, as well as his extensive executive
leadership and management experience.
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Director Independence
Our board of directors has determined that Rubén Caballero, Brian Cullinan and Emily Fairbairn are “independent
directors” as such term is defined by Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2). We have established an Audit
Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. Each of
Mr. Caballero, Mr. Cullinan, and Ms. Fairbairn serve as members of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Cullinan
is an audit committee financial expert, as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC, and that all members of
the Audit Committee are “independent” within the meaning of the applicable Nasdaq listing standards and the
independence standards of Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act. Each of the members of the Audit Committee meets the
requirements for financial literacy under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq.
Staggered Board
In accordance with the terms of our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws to be in effect upon completion of this
offering, our board of directors will be divided into three staggered classes of directors and each director is assigned
to one of the three classes. At each annual meeting of the stockholders, a class of directors is elected for a three-year
term to succeed the directors of the same class whose terms are then expiring. The terms of the directors will expire
upon the election and qualification of successor directors at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held during the
years 2022 for Class I directors, 2023 for Class II directors and 2024 for Class III directors.
Currently, our directors are classified as follows:
Class I
•

Emily Wang Fairbairn

•

Michael Leabman

Class II
•

John Mastrototaro

•

Ruben Caballero

Class III
•

Brian Cullinan

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time by
a resolution of the majority of our board of directors.
The division of our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or discourage
efforts to effect a change of our management or a change in control.

48

EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Our compensation philosophy is to offer our executive officers compensation and benefits that are competitive
and meet our goals of attracting, retaining and motivating highly skilled management, which is necessary to
achieve our financial and strategic objectives and create long-term value for our stockholders. We believe the
levels of compensation we provide should be competitive, reasonable and appropriate for our business needs and
circumstances and our board of directors uses benchmark compensation studies in determining compensation
elements and levels. The principal elements of our executive compensation program have to date included base
salary, annual bonus opportunity and long-term equity compensation in the form of stock options. We believe
successful long-term Company performance is more critical to enhancing stockholder value than short-term
results. For this reason and to conserve cash and better align the interests of management and our stockholders, we
emphasize long-term performance-based equity compensation over base annual salaries.
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation earned by our Chief Executive Officer and
our two most highly compensated executive officers other than the individual who served as our Chief Executive
Officer during 2020 (collectively, the “named executive officers”) and 2019:
Summary Compensation Table

Name & Position

Michael Leabman
Chief Executive Officer
Phil Kelly
Chief Technology Officer
and VP of Engineering
J. Cogan
Chief Financial Officer
(1)
(2)

(3)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

Bonus
($)

Option
Awards
($)(2)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Fiscal
Year

Salary
($)

Total
($)

2020
2019
2020

275,000
150,192
250,000

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
118,800
—

—
—
—

275,000
268,992
250,000

2019
2020
2019(3)

250,813
250,000
168,269

—
—
—

—
267,400
—

29,920
155,200
100,100

—
—
—

280,733
672,600
268,369

The amounts shown in this column indicate the grant date fair value of stock awards granted in the subject year computed in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718.
The amounts shown in this column indicate the grant date fair value of option awards granted in the subject year computed
in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For additional information regarding the assumptions made in calculating these
amounts, see notes 9 and 11 to our audited financial statements included herein.
Represents a partial year of employment. Mr. Cogan joined us in May 2019.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2020 Fiscal Year-End
The following table provides information regarding equity awards held by the named executive officers as of
December 31, 2020.

Name & Position

Michael Leabman
Chief Executive Officer
Phil Kelly
Chief Technology Officer
and VP of Engineering
J. Cogan
Chief Financial Officer
(1)

Vesting
Commencement Date

11/18/19

Option Awards
Number of
Number of
Securities
Securities
Underlying
Underlying
Unexercised
Unexercised
Options
Options
Exercisable Unexercisable
(#)
(#)(1)

146,250

03/12/18
11/18/19
12/07/20

—
—

Stock Awards
Number
of Shares
of Stock
That
Have Not
Vested (#)

Market
Value of
Stock
That Have
Not Vested
($)(2)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration
Date

393,750

0.38

11/18/29

37,500

0.68

06/20/28

13,167(3)

42,924

86,000
80,000

0.38
2.00

11/18/29
12/07/30

274,896(4)

896,161

—

—

Options vest and become exercisable in equal monthly instalments through the four year anniversary of the vesting commencement
date years, subject to the named executive officer’s continued employment with us on each applicable vesting date.
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(2)
(3)
(4)

The market value of unvested stock awards is based on the fair market value of our common stock on December 31, 2020
of $3.26.
These shares vest in monthly installments of 2,833 shares each.
These shares vest in monthly installments of 9,479 shares each.

Employment Agreements and Change of Control Arrangements
Employment Agreements
The following is a summary of the employment arrangements with our executive officers as currently in effect.
Michael Leabman, Chief Executive Officer, President and currently a director of the Company, purchased
400,000 shares of common stock, effective as of January 30, 2018 pursuant to a Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement. Such shares are subject to vesting over four years based on continued services to the Company and
vesting is subject to acceleration upon a change of control transaction and, under certain circumstances, termination
of services to the Company. The Company entered into an “at-will” amended and restated offer letter with no fixed
term with Mr. Leabman, effective November 29, 2019 which was amended pursuant to a first amendment dated
February 10, 2021 (as amended, the “Leabman Offer Letter”). Under the Leabman Offer Letter: (1) Mr. Leabman
received an initial base salary of $250,000, which was adjusted to $300,000 in July 2020, and is eligible to
receive target performance bonuses equal to 100% of base salary (or any other amount approved by the Board),
and (2) Mr. Leabman was awarded stock options to acquire 540,000 shares of common stock, one fourth of
which options vested on the November 18, 2020, and the balance of which such options vest in 36 equal monthly
installments thereafter. The Leabman Offer Letter provides that (1) if Mr. Leabman is terminated by the Company
other than for Cause he is entitled to receive cash severance in an amount equal to 12 months of base salary plus
a pro-rated amount of his target bonus based on the number of days he is employed during the year of termination
and (2) if there occurs a Change in Control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) and in the period prior to
and in connection with or in anticipation of such Change in Control and ending on the one-year anniversary of
the consummation of such Change in Control, Mr. Leabman is terminated by the Company other than for Cause,
100% of any such options that remain unvested will immediately vest. “Cause” includes, among other items,
Mr. Leabman’s conviction of a felony involving fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or dishonesty in conjunction
with his duties to Company or repeated willful failure to perform his job duties as defined by the Board or uncured
material breach of the Leabman Offer Letter or Mr. Leabman’s confidential information and inventions assignment
agreement with the Company. Mr. Leabman is also entitled to participate in the Company’s regular health insurance
and other employee benefit plans established by the Company for its employees from time to time.
The Company has entered into an offer letter with Phil Kelly, the Company’s Vice President and Chief Technology
Officer, on similar terms to the agreement entered with Michael Leabman. Pursuant to his offer letter Mr. Kelly
(1) is being paid a base salary of $250,000, (2) is entitled to a target performance bonus equal to 50% of base
salary (or any other amount approved by the Board) and (3) was awarded stock options to acquire 256,000 shares of
common stock. Mr. Kelly’s Offer Letter provides for severance in connection with an involuntary termination and the
acceleration of his stock options in connection with a Change of Control on identical terms as those described in the
description of Mr. Leabman’s offer letter above.
The Company has entered into an offer letter with J. Cogan, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer on similar terms
to the agreement entered with Michael Leabman. Pursuant to his offer letter Mr. Cogan (1) is being paid a base
salary of $250,000, (2) is entitled to a target performance bonus equal to 75% of base salary (or any other amount
approved by the Board) and (3) was awarded stock options to acquire 455,000 shares of common stock. Mr. Cogan’s
Offer Letter provides for severance in connection with an involuntary termination and the acceleration of his
stock options in connection with a Change of Control on identical terms as those described in the description of
Mr. Leabman’s offer letter above.

50

The Company has entered into an offer letter with John Mastrototaro, who is currently a director of the Company
and has agreed to become President and CEO no later than April 1, 2021, on similar terms to the agreement entered
with Michael Leabman. Pursuant to his offer letter Mr. Mastrototaro (1) is will be paid a base salary of $300,000,
(2) will be entitled to a target performance bonus equal to 100% of base salary (or any other amount approved by the
Board) and (3) was awarded stock options to acquire 1,000,000 shares of common stock. Mr. Mastrototaro’s Offer
Letter provides for severance in connection with an involuntary termination and the acceleration of his stock options
in connection with a Change of Control on identical terms as those described in the description of Mr. Leabman’s
offer letter above.
Director Compensation
Each of our non-employee directors other than Ms. Fairbairn received stock option grants upon their appointment
to the Board and Ms. Fairbairn received an option grant in September 2020. The options granted are subject to
vesting with 1/48th of the shares vesting for each month of continuous service. In February, 2021, we adopted a
non-employee director compensation policy that will become effective upon the closing of this offering pursuant to
which our non-employee directors will receive a $50,000 annual cash retainer plus the following additional annual
cash fees: Chair of the Board, $25,000, Chair of the Audit Committee, $20,000 and Chair of the Compensation
Committee, $10,000. Beginning in 2022, we expect to begin to pay, in addition, $100,000 of annual equity
compensation to each non-employee director who is not Chair of the Board, and $175,000 of annual equity
compensation to the non-employee Chair of the Board.
The following table provides information regarding compensation paid to our non-employee directors during the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
Fees
earned or
paid in
cash
($)

Name

Ruben Caballero��������������
Brian Cullinan������������������
Emily Wang Fairbairn������
John Mastrototaro������������
(1)

Stock
Awards
($)

—
—
—
—

Option
Awards
($)(1)

—
—
—
—

—
312,000
775,000
868,000

All Other
Compensation
($)

—
—
—
—

Total
($)

—
312,000
775,000
868,000

The amounts shown in this column indicate the grant date fair value of option awards granted in the subject year computed
in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For additional information regarding the assumptions made in calculating these
amounts, see note 9 to our audited financial statements included herein.

The following table shows the number of shares subject to outstanding option awards held by each non-employee
director as of December 31, 2020:

Name

Ruben Caballero����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Brian Cullinan��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Emily Wang Fairbairn��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
John Mastrototaro��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
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Shares Subject
to Outstanding
Stock Option
Awards (#)

Unvested Shares
of Restricted
Stock,
Restricted
Stock Units and
Deferred Stock
Units (#)

540,000
—
—
350,000

—
183,334
385,417
—

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than compensation agreements and other arrangements, which are described as required by applicable SEC
rules under the heading “Executive and Director Compensation” above, there has not been, and there is not currently
proposed, any transaction or series of similar transactions to which we were or will be a party in which the amount
involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000 in which any director, executive officer, holder of five percent or more of
any class of our capital stock or any member of their immediate families had or will have a direct or indirect material
interest except as described below.
Michael Leabman purchased 400,000 shares of common stock, effective as of January 30, 2018, in exchange for
$5,000, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement.
SilverData Holdings LLC, which is under the direct or indirect control of Michael Leabman’s parents, purchased
400,000 shares of common stock, effective as of January 30, 2018, in exchange for $5,000, pursuant to a stock
purchase agreement. Mr. Leabman has no legal or beneficial interest in SilverData Holdings LLC.
Leabman Holdings LLC purchased 3,200,000 shares of common stock, effective as of January 30, 2018, in exchange
for $40,000, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement. DvineWave Irrevocable Trust dated December 12, 2012 is
the sole member and manager of Leabman Holdings LLC. Mr. Leabman is the sole beneficiary of the DvineWave
Irrevocable Trust. Gregory Tamkin, the trustee of the DvineWave Irrevocable Trust, has sole voting and dispositive
power with respect to all stock of the Company held by Leabman Holdings LLC.
On March 14, 2018, we entered into an agreement (the “Lead Investor Agreement”) with Emily Wang Fairbairn
(including Maestro Venture Partners LLC and certain other affiliated entities and persons, the “Series A Lead”),
pursuant to which the Series A Lead was granted (1) a right of first refusal to purchase up to 100 percent of the
securities sold in any offering of securities other than one that is led by an investor that is purchasing securities
primarily for strategic, rather than financial, reasons, (2) the right to receive a warrant to purchase a number of
shares of common stock equal to ten percent of the number of shares of common stock issued or issuable (in the
case of convertible securities) pursuant to securities purchased by the Series A Lead pursuant to the foregoing clause
(1) and (3) a pre-emptive right (subject to customary pro rata underwriter cutbacks) to purchase a percentage of
common stock sold in the Company’s initial public offering equal to the Series A Lead’s percentage ownership of the
Company’s common stock (assuming conversion of all convertible securities) as of immediately prior to such initial
public offering and certain additional preemptive and other rights. All such rights will terminate upon the Company’s
consummation of this offering. In connection with the convertible promissory note offering described below, in
August 2020 the Lead Investor Agreement was modified so that in connection with such offering the Lead Investor
was entitled to receive warrants to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock for each $1,000,000 of convertible
promissory notes purchased by the Lead Investor.
On March 14, 2018, the Series A Lead purchased 1,153,846 shares of Series A preferred stock in exchange for
$3,000,000 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement. Pursuant to the Lead Investor Agreement, in connection with
the Series A Lead’s purchase of such shares of Series A preferred stock, the Series A Lead received a warrant to
purchase 475,784 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.0125 per share. The Series A
Lead subsequently transferred a portion of these warrants to certain family members and the warrants were exercised
in full in June 2019.
On March 18, 2018, Peter Appel, a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our voting securities at that time, purchased
384,615 shares of Series A preferred stock in exchange for $999,999 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement.
On March 28, 2019, Leabman Holdings LLC purchased 477,000 shares of Series B preferred stock in exchange for
$1,001,700 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement.
On March 28, 2019, the Series A Lead purchased 238,000 shares of Series B preferred stock in exchange for
$499,800 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement. Pursuant to the Lead Investor Agreement, in connection with
the Series A Lead’s purchase of such shares of Series B preferred stock the Series A Lead received a warrant to
purchase 23,800 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.0125 per share. The Series A
Lead subsequently transferred a portion of these warrants to certain family members and the warrants were exercised
in full in June 2019.
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On March 28, 2019, Peter Appel, a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our voting securities at that time, purchased
238,000 shares of Series B preferred stock in exchange for $499,800 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement.
On February 28, 2020, the Series A Lead purchased $500,000 in unsecured convertible promissory notes pursuant to
a note purchase agreement. The convertible notes bear interest at 4.0% and mature in February 2022. The convertible
notes automatically convert into common stock if the Company completes an initial public offering before the payment
or conversion of the entire balance under each convertible note at the lower of: (a) 80% of the lowest per-share
selling price in the initial public offering or (b) an implied per-share price determined by dividing $60,000,000
by the Company’s then outstanding, fully-diluted capitalization (excluding any outstanding convertible notes and
any unallocated option pool) immediately prior to the public offering. Pursuant to the Lead Investor Agreement, in
connection with the Series A Lead’s purchase of such convertible promissory notes, the Series A Lead received warrants
to purchase 10,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an initial exercise price of $2.97 per share.
On August 27, 2020, Brian Cullinan purchased $25,000 in unsecured convertible promissory notes pursuant to a
note purchase agreement. The terms of the convertible notes are identical to those described directly above.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of
December 31, 2020 and following completion of the offering by:
•

each person or group of affiliated persons known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of
our common stock;

•

each named executive officer and director; and

•

all executive officers and directors as a group.

Unless otherwise noted below, the address of each person listed on the table is c/o Movano Inc., 6200 Stoneridge
Mall Rd., Suite 300, Pleasanton, CA 94588. To our knowledge, each person listed below has sole voting and
investment power over the shares shown as beneficially owned except to the extent jointly owned with spouses or
otherwise noted below.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. The information does not necessarily
indicate ownership for any other purpose. Under these rules, shares of stock which a person has the right to acquire
upon the exercise of options and warrants within 60 days after December 31, 2020 are deemed to be beneficially
owned and outstanding for purposes of calculating the number of shares and the percentage beneficially owned
by that person. However, these shares are not deemed to be beneficially owned and outstanding for purposes of
computing the percentage beneficially owned by any other person. The applicable percentage of common stock prior
to and following completion of the offering is based upon 6,393,069 shares outstanding on December 31, 2020 and
gives effect to the conversion of our outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and
outstanding convertible notes at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock.
The following table does not reflect any potential purchases by our executive officers, directors, their affiliated
entities or holders of more than 5% of our common stock in this offering. If any shares are purchased by these
persons or entities, the number and percentage of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them after this
offering will differ from the amounts set forth in the following table.

Name and Address of
Beneficial Owner

Common
Stock

Shares
Underlying
Preferred
Stock and
Convertible
Notes

Shares
Underlying
Options
and
Warrants

Number of
Shares
Beneficially
Owned

Percentage
of Class
Owned
Prior to
the
Offering

Percentage
of Class
Owned
Following
the
Offering

Directors and Executive
Officers
Rubén Caballero�������������������
J. Cogan(1) �����������������������������
Brian Cullinan(2) �������������������
Emily Wang Fairbairn(3)��������
Phil Kelly(4) ���������������������������
Michael Leabman�����������������
John Mastrototaro�����������������
Directors and Executive
Officers as a group
(7 persons)�������������������������

—
595,000
200,000
385,417
132,500
—
—

—
38,326
9,224
—
—
—
—

168,750
3,333
—
10,000
5,000
168,750
8,333

168,750
636,659
209,224
395,417
137,500
168,750
8,333

*
2.8%
*
1.8%
*
*
*

*
2.2%
*
1.3%
*
*
*

1,312,917

47,550

364,166

1,724,633

7.6%

5.8%

Five Percent Stockholders
Leabman Holdings LLC(5) �����
Fairbairn Trusts(6)�������������������

3,200,000
614,167

527,496
2,954,494

—
—

3,727,496
3,568,661

16.7%
16.0%

12.6%
12.1%

*
(1)

Less than one percent.
Shares represented in this row include shares owned by the Cogan/Goldberg Living Trust, the Jesse Gabriel Goldberg
Cogan Irrevocable Trust and the Maya Brooke Cogan Irrevocable Trust. Mr. Cogan is a trustee of each such trust and has
shared voting and dispositive power with respect to these shares. Mr. Cogan disclaims any beneficial ownership of such
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(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interests therein, and this prospectus shall not be deemed an admission that
Mr. Cogan is the beneficial owner of such securities. As of December 31, 2020, 274,896 of these shares were subject to
continued vesting requirements.
As of December 31, 2020, 183,334 of these shares were subject to continued vesting requirements.
As of December 31, 2020, 385,417 of these shares were subject to continued vesting requirements.
As of December 31, 2020, 13,167 of these shares were subject to continued vesting requirements.
The address of Leabman Holdings LLC is 8010 E. Cedar Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80230. DvineWave Irrevocable
Trust dated December 12, 2012 is the sole member and manager of Leabman Holdings LLC. Mr. Leabman is the sole
beneficiary of the DvineWave Irrevocable Trust. Gregory Tamkin and Dorsey & Whitney Trust Company LLC, the trustees
of the DvineWave Irrevocable Trust, share voting and dispositive power with respect to all securities of the Company held
by Leabman Holdings LLC.
Shares represented in this row include shares owned by the NC Fairbairn Family Trust, the GR Fairbairn Family Trust,
the NCF Eagle Trust and the GRF Tiger Trust (collectively, the “Fairbairn Trusts”) each of which were established by
Ms. Fairbairn for the benefit of certain members of her family. William Ho is the trustee of all of the Fairbairn Trusts as a
result of which he has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to these shares. The address of the Fairbairn Trusts is
Premier Trust Company, 4465 South Jones Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV 89103.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We estimate that we will receive net proceeds of approximately $38.6 million from this offering, or approximately
$44.6 million if the underwriter exercises its over-allotment option in full and after deducting the underwriting
discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering as follows:
•

approximately $25.0 million for product development; and

•

the balance for working capital and general corporate purposes including IP prosecution and
maintenance.

We believe that the net proceeds of this offering, together with our existing cash, will be sufficient for us to fund
the development and internal and external testing of our planned wearable product to the point where we are
able to generate data that will enable us to submit to FDA the 510(k) clearance application for this product. It is
possible that we will not achieve the progress that we expect because of unforeseen costs or factors impacting our
development and testing timelines, which are difficult to predict and are subject to risks and delays. We have no
other committed external sources of funds. The expected net proceeds from this offering are not expected to be
sufficient for us to complete the full commercialization of our planned wearable product or any other product. As a
result, we expect that we will need to finance our future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt
financings, corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements or other financing alternatives.
The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures will depend on numerous factors, including the progress and
timing of our product development and marketing efforts. Therefore, as of the date of this prospectus, we cannot
specify with certainty the specific allocation of the net proceeds to be received upon the completion of this offering.
Our management will have broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds, and investors will be relying on
the judgment of our management regarding the application of the proceeds from this offering.
Pending our use of the net proceeds from this offering, we intend to invest the net proceeds in a variety of capital
preservation investments, including short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments and U.S. government
securities.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following is a brief description of our capital stock. This summary does not purport to be complete in all
respects. This description is subject to and qualified entirely by the terms of our Third Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), and our bylaws, each of which we plan to adopt
prior to the completion of this offering and copies of which have been filed with the SEC and are also available upon
request from us.
Authorized Capitalization
Prior to the closing of this offering, our authorized capital stock consists of: 30,000,000 shares of capital stock
authorized under our Certificate of Incorporation, consisting of 22,069,652 shares of common stock with a par
value of $0.0001 per share and 7,930,348 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. As of
December 31, 2020, we had (i) 6,393,069 shares of common stock outstanding held of record by 21 stockholders,
2,692,253 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock outstanding held of record by 35 stockholders and
4,942,319 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock outstanding held of record by 187 stockholders.
Upon the closing of this offering, we will amend and restate our certificate of incorporation to provide that our
authorized capital stock will consist of (i) 75,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share
and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share. Upon the closing of this offering, all
outstanding shares of our Series A and Series B preferred stock will be converted into shares of common stock.
Each share of our Series A convertible preferred stock has accrued a dividend at a rate of 6% since its initial issuance
and will automatically convert into common stock upon the closing of this offering at a conversion price of $1.40 per
share. Assuming the offering closed on December 31, 2020, the 2,692,253 shares of Series A convertible preferred
stock currently outstanding would have converted into 5,835,078 shares of common stock. Each share of our Series
A convertible preferred stock is also voluntarily convertible by the holder thereof at any time up to 10 calendar days
prior to the closing of this offering at a conversion price equal to $1.40 per share.
Each share of our Series B convertible preferred stock has accrued a dividend at a rate of 6% since its initial issuance
and will automatically convert into common stock upon the closing of this offering at a conversion price of $2.10 per
share. Assuming the offering closed on December 31, 2020, the 4,942,319 shares of Series B convertible preferred
stock currently outstanding would have converted into 5,464,347 shares of common stock. Each share of our Series
B convertible preferred stock is also voluntarily convertible by the holder thereof at any time up to 10 calendar days
prior to the closing of this offering at a conversion price equal to $2.10 per share.
Our authorized but unissued shares of common and preferred stock are available for issuance without further action
by our stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated
quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded.
Common Stock
Based on the 6,393,069 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020, and assuming (1) the
conversion of all of the outstanding shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred
stock and convertible notes into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock and (2) the issuance by us
of shares of common stock in this offering, there will be 29,549,412 shares of common stock outstanding upon the
closing of this offering.
Holders of our common stock are entitled to such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors out of
funds legally available for such purpose. The shares of common stock are neither redeemable nor convertible.
Holders of common stock have no preemptive or subscription rights to purchase any of our securities.
Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each such share outstanding in the holder’s name. No
holder of common stock is entitled to cumulate votes in voting for directors.
In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive pro
rata our assets, which are legally available for distribution, after payments of all debts and other liabilities. All of the
outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and non-assessable. The shares of common stock offered by
this prospectus will also be fully paid and non-assessable.
57

Preferred Stock
Following the closing of this offering, there will be no shares of preferred stock outstanding. Upon the closing of
this offering, our Board of Directors will be authorized to issue from time to time, without further action by the
stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the designations,
powers, rights, preferences, qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof. These designations, powers, rights
and preferences could include voting rights, dividend rights, dissolution rights, conversion rights, exchange rights,
redemption rights, liquidation preferences, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of
such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common stock. The issuance of preferred stock
could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive
dividend payments and payments upon liquidation. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect
of delaying, deferring or preventing change in our control or other corporate action. We have no present plan to issue
any shares of preferred stock.
Convertible Notes
From February through August 2020, the Company issued approximately $12.5 million in subordinated convertible
promissory notes (the “Convertible Notes”) to 337 investors, including approximately $0.7 million for payment
for services. The Convertible Notes bear interest at 4.0% and mature in February 2022. The Convertible Notes
automatically convert into common stock if the Company completes an initial public offering before the payment
or conversion of the entire balance under each convertible note at the lower of: (a) 80% of the lowest per-share
selling price in the initial public offering or (b) an implied per-share price determined by dividing $60,000,000
by the Company’s then outstanding, fully-diluted capitalization (excluding any outstanding convertible notes and
any unallocated option pool) immediately prior to the public offering. Assuming the initial public offering was
consummated on December 31, 2020, the Convertible Notes would have converted into 4,656,918 shares of our
common stock.
Stock Options and Warrants
As of December 31, 2020, we had reserved the following shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to stock
options, warrants and Omnibus Incentive Plan:
•

961,743 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, at a weighted
average exercise price of $2.08 per share;

•

3,188,011 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options issued
pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $0.66 per share;

•

1,254,489 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Of our outstanding warrants, 231,461 were issued as consideration for placement agent services provided in
connection with the issuance of 1,066,912 shares of Series A preferred stock issued on March 13, 2018 (the “First
Closing Series A Shares”). Upon consummation of the offering and the automatic conversion of the Series A
preferred stock in connection therewith, these warrants will adjust and become exercisable for a number of shares
of common stock equal to 10% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued by the Company upon
conversion of the First Closing Series A Shares, inclusive of shares issued upon conversion of accrued dividends
on such shares. 58,153 of our outstanding warrants were issued as consideration for placement agent services
provided in connection with the issuance of 269,573 shares of Series A preferred stock issued on April 23, 2018
(the “Second Closing Series A Shares”). Upon consummation of the offering and the automatic conversion of the
Series A preferred stock in connection therewith, these warrants will adjust and become exercisable for a number
of shares of common stock equal to 10% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued by the
Company upon conversion of the Second Closing Series A Shares, inclusive of shares issued upon conversion of
accrued dividends on such shares. 458,078 of our outstanding warrants were issued as consideration for placement
agent services provided in connection with the issuance of 4,142,270 shares of Series B preferred stock issued on
March 28, 2019. Upon consummation of the offering and the automatic conversion of the Series B preferred stock
in connection therewith, these warrants will adjust and become exercisable for a number of shares of common

58

stock equal to 10% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock issued by the Company upon conversion
of such Series B preferred shares, inclusive of shares issued upon conversion of accrued dividends on such shares.
Of our outstanding warrants, 214,050 were issued to the Lead Investor and as consideration for placement agent
services provided in connection with the issuance of convertible notes as described above (the “Convertible Note
Warrants”). The Convertible Note Warrants are exercisable at an initial exercise price equal to $2.97; provided, that
upon consummation of the offering and the automatic conversion of the Convertible Notes in connection therewith
the exercise price of such warrants shall be adjusted to equal the conversion price upon which such convertible notes
are converted.
2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
In October 2019, our board of directors and stockholders approved the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan which was
amended in September 2020 and December 2020 (as amended, the “Omnibus Incentive Plan”) under which
6,000,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance and which provides for the grant of incentive stock
options and non-qualified stock options to purchase shares of our common stock, restricted stock and restricted
stock units, performance awards and other share-based awards. The purpose of the plan is to enhance the Company’s
ability to attract and retain highly qualified officers, non-employee directors, key employees and consultants, and
to motivate such persons to serve the Company and to expend maximum effort to improve the business results and
earnings of the Company, by providing to such persons an opportunity to acquire or increase a direct proprietary
interest in the operations and future success of the Company.
In February 2021, our board of directors and stockholders approved an amendment and restatement of the Omnibus
Incentive Plan which, effective upon completion of the offering, will increase the amount of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance thereunder to 7,400,000.
All officers, directors and employees and certain consultants to our company are eligible to participate under the
Omnibus Incentive Plan. The Omnibus Incentive Plan provides that options may not be granted at an exercise
price less than the fair market value of our common shares on the date of grant. The Omnibus Incentive Plan is
administered by the board of directors or a committee thereof, which currently is the Compensation Committee.
The board of directors and the committee have the discretion to determine the nature of the awards and the number
of shares subject to an award, the exercise price, vesting provisions, and the term of the award. Awards under the
Omnibus Incentive Plan are intended to be exempt from Section 16 of the Exchange Act, and will be administered to
achieve this objective.
Registration Rights Agreement
In connection with our 2018 Series A preferred stock financing and our 2019 Series B preferred stock financing we
entered into an amended and restated registration rights agreement, pursuant to which we will be required, upon the
written request at any time more than 180 days after the completion of this offering by the holders of at least 50%
of the shares that are entitled to registration rights under the registration rights agreement, to register, as soon as
practicable, all or a portion of these shares for public resale. We are required to effect only one registration pursuant
to this provision of the registration rights agreement. These demand registration rights terminate as to each investor
when their shares subject to the registration rights agreement may be sold by the investor pursuant to Rule 144 under
the Securities Act without regard to both the volume limitations for sales as provided in Rule 144.
In addition, the registration rights agreement contains piggyback registration rights with respect our capital stock
held by these investors. These piggyback registration rights terminate with respect to each stockholder when their
shares subject to the registration rights agreement may be sold by the stockholder pursuant to Rule 144 under the
Securities Act without regard to both the volume limitations for sales as provided in Rule 144.
If we register any of our securities for our own account, after the completion of this offering, the holders of these
shares are entitled to include their shares in the registration. Both we and the underwriters of any underwritten
offering have the right to limit the number of shares registered by these holders for marketing reasons, subject to
limitations set forth in the registration rights agreement with these investors.

59

Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Charter Documents
The following is a summary of certain provisions of Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation and our bylaws.
This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the corporate law of
Delaware and our Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws.
Effect of Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law, an anti-takeover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business
combination (as defined below) with any interested stockholder (as defined below) for a period of three years
following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
•

prior to that date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or
the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested
stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation
outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of
shares of voting stock outstanding (but not the voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those
shares owned by persons who are directors and officers and by excluding employee stock plans in which
employee participants do not have the right to determine whether shares held subject to the plan will be
tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

•

on or subsequent to that date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors of the
corporation and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent,
by the affirmative vote of at least 66⅔% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines “business combination” to include the following:
•

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

•

any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving
the interested stockholder;

•

subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of
any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;

•

subject to limited exceptions, any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing
the proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the
interested stockholder; or

•

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or
other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more
of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation, or who beneficially owns 15% or more of the outstanding voting
stock of the corporation at any time within a three-year period immediately prior to the date of determining whether
such person is an interested stockholder, and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by any
of these entities or persons.
Our Charter Documents. Our charter documents include provisions that may have the effect of discouraging,
delaying or preventing a change in control or an unsolicited acquisition proposal that a stockholder might consider
favorable, including a proposal that might result in the payment of a premium over the market price for the shares
held by our stockholders. Certain of these provisions are summarized in the following paragraphs.
Effects of authorized but unissued common stock. One of the effects of the existence of authorized but unissued
common stock may be to enable our board of directors to make more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain
control of our Company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby to protect
the continuity of management. If, in the due exercise of its fiduciary obligations, the board of directors were to
determine that a takeover proposal was not in our best interest, such shares could be issued by the board of directors
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without stockholder approval in one or more transactions that might prevent or render more difficult or costly the
completion of the takeover transaction by diluting the voting or other rights of the proposed acquirer or insurgent
stockholder group, by putting a substantial voting block in institutional or other hands that might undertake to
support the position of the incumbent board of directors, by effecting an acquisition that might complicate or
preclude the takeover, or otherwise.
Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our board of directors has the ability to issue preferred stock with voting or other
rights, preferences and privileges that could have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in
control of our Company or management.
Cumulative Voting. Our Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of
directors, which would allow holders of less than a majority of the stock to elect some directors.
Classified Board of Directors. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that our board of directors is
divided into three classes, with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms. Our classified Board of
Directors could have the effect of delaying or discouraging an acquisition of us or a change in management.
Vacancies. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that all vacancies may be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum.
Actions at Meetings of Stockholders; Special Meeting of Stockholders and Advance Notice Requirements for
Stockholder Proposals. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws require that any action required or permitted
to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of the stockholders and
may not be effected by a consent in writing. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws also provide that special
meetings of stockholders may be called from time to time only by a majority of our board of directors, our president,
chief executive officer or the chairman of the board for the purpose specified in the notice of meeting. In addition,
the Bylaws provide that candidates for director may be nominated and other business brought before an annual
meeting only by the Board of Directors or by a stockholder who gives written notice to us not less than 90 days,
nor more than 120 days, prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, subject to certain
exceptions. Such stockholder’s notice must set forth certain information required by the Bylaws. These provisions
may have the effect of deterring unsolicited offers to acquire our company or delaying stockholder actions, even if
they are favored by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities.
Supermajority Voting for Amendments to Our Governing Documents. Amendments to certain provisions our
Certificate of Incorporation relating to our board of directors, actions of stockholders, director liability, choice of
forum and amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation will require the affirmative vote of at least 66⅔% of
the voting power of all shares of our capital stock then outstanding. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that
the board of directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal our Bylaws and that our stockholders may
amend our Bylaws only with the approval of at least 66⅔% of the voting power of all shares of our capital stock then
outstanding.
Choice of Forum. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, subject to certain exceptions, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for any claim, including any derivative claim, (i) that
is based upon a violation of a duty by a current or former director or officer or stockholder in such capacity or (ii) as
to which the Delaware General Corporation Law, or any other provision of Title 8 of the Delaware Code, confers
jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery. Additionally, our Certificate of Incorporation provides that the federal
district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock, and do not plan to do so for the foreseeable
future. We expect that we will retain all of our available funds and future earnings, if any, for use in the operation
and expansion of our business. The terms of any loan agreement we enter into or any debt securities we may issue
are likely to contain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends on our capital stock. Subject to the foregoing, the
payment of dividends in the future, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon
such factors as earnings levels, capital requirements, restrictions imposed by applicable law, our overall financial
condition and any other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our actual cash and capitalization, each as of December 31, 2020:
•

on an actual basis;

•

on a pro forma basis giving effect to (1) the filing of our Third Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation in connection with this offering; (2) the assumed conversion of our outstanding shares of
Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible notes into an aggregate
of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock; (3) revaluation of the warrant liability; (4) reclassification of
the warrant liability to stockholders’ (deficit) equity; (4) revaluation of the derivative liability; and

•

on a pro forma as adjusted basis, to further reflect the sale by us 8,500,000 of shares of our common
stock in the offering at the initial public offering price of $5.00 per share, and after deducting the
underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us and the receipt by us of the
expected net proceeds of such sale.

The pro forma and pro forma as adjusted information below is illustrative only, and our capitalization following
the closing of this offering may differ from that shown below based on terms of this offering determined at pricing.
You should read this information together with the sections entitled “Summary Financial Data” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and the
related notes, which appear elsewhere in this prospectus.
As of December 31, 2020
Pro Forma
Actual
Pro Forma
As Adjusted

Cash and cash equivalents�������������������������������������������������������������������� $5,710 $5,710 $
Debt:
PPP Loan���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $351
Convertible promissory notes, net ������������������������������������������������������
11,342
Total debt���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
11,693
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par
value; 2,692,253 shares authorized; 2,692,253 shares issued and
outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued or outstanding
pro forma and pro forma as adjusted;����������������������������������������������
13,856
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par
value; 5,238,095 shares authorized; 4,942,319 shares issued and
outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued or outstanding
pro forma and pro forma as adjusted;����������������������������������������������
18,962

351
—
351

351
—
351

—

—

—

—

Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 22,069,652 shares
authorized; 6,393,069 shares issued and outstanding, actual;
75,000,000 shares authorized and 22,349,412 shares issued and
outstanding, pro forma, and 75,000,000 shares authorized and
30,849,412 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted�����
1
2
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; no shares authorized,
issued or outstanding, actual; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares
issued or outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted���������������
—
—
Additional paid-in capital��������������������������������������������������������������������
—
59,600
Accumulated deficit����������������������������������������������������������������������������
(40,881)
(54,210)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity������������������������������������������������������
(40,880)
5,392
Total capitalization������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $3,631 $5,743 $
(1)

44,315

3
—
98,204
(54,210)
43,997
44,348

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 6,393,069 shares of common
stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020, gives effect to the conversion of our outstanding shares of Series A preferred
stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible notes at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of
15,956,343 shares of our common stock, and excludes the following:

•

961,743 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, at a weighted
average exercise price of $2.08 per share;
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•

3,188,011 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options issued
pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $0.66 per share;

•

1,254,489 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our Omnibus Incentive Plan;
and

•

shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of the underwriter warrant.
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DILUTION
If you invest in our common stock in this offering, your ownership interest will be immediately diluted to the extent
of the difference between the initial public offering price per share of our common stock and the pro forma as
adjusted net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately after this offering.
Net tangible book value per share represents total tangible assets less total liabilities, divided by the number
of shares of common stock outstanding. Our historical net tangible book value as of December 31, 2020 was
($8.1 million), or ($1.26) per share of common stock. On a pro forma basis after giving effect to the conversion of
our outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible notes
and notes for services performed by nonemployees at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares
of our common stock and considering the revaluation of our warrant liability and derivative liability and the
reclassification of our warrant liability to equity, our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2020
would have been $5.4 million or $0.24 per share. After giving effect to our sale of 8,500,000 shares in this offering at
the initial public offering price of $5.00 per share, after deducting the underwriting discount and estimated offering
expenses payable by us, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value as of December 31, 2020 would have been
$44.0 million or $1.43 per share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book
value of $1.18 per share to existing stockholders and an immediate dilution in pro forma as adjusted net tangible
book value of $3.57 per share to investors in this offering. The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share
basis:
Initial public offering price������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
$5.00
Historical net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2020���������������� $(1.26)
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to
conversion of preferred stock and convertible notes������������������������������������������
1.50
Pro forma tangible book value per share, after giving effect to conversion of
preferred stock and convertible notes����������������������������������������������������������������
0.24
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to this
offering��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
1.18
Pro forma as adjusted tangible book value per share, after giving effect to this
offering��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
$
1.43
Dilution per share to new investors������������������������������������������������������������������������
$
3.57
If the underwriter exercises its over-allotment option in full, the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per
share after giving effect to this offering would be $1.56 per share, which amount represents an immediate increase in
pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value of $1.31 per share of our common stock to existing stockholders and
an immediate dilution in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value of $3.44 per share of our common stock to
new investors purchasing shares of common stock in this offering.
The following table summarizes, on a pro forma as adjusted basis as described above as of December 31, 2020,
the number of shares of common stock purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us and the average price
per share paid to us by our existing stockholders and by new investors purchasing shares of common stock in this
offering at the initial public offering price of $5.00 per share, before the deduction of the underwriting discount and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. Investors purchasing shares of our common stock in this offering will pay
an average price per share substantially higher than our existing stockholders paid.
Shares Purchased
Number
Percent

Existing stockholders ������
New investors������������������
Total ��������������������������������

22,349,412
8,500,000
30,849,412

Total Consideration
Amount
Percent

72.4% $30,613,540
27.6% $
42,500,000
100.0% $
73,113,540

Average Price
Per Share

41.9% $1.37
58.1% $5.00
100.0% $
2.37

If any shares are issued upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants, you may experience further dilution.
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The above discussion and tables are based on shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020, give
effect to the conversion of our outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and
outstanding convertible notes at December 31, 2020 into an aggregate of 15,956,343 shares of our common stock,
and exclude the following:
•

961,743 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, at a weighted
average exercise price of $2.08 per share;

•

3,188,011 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options issued
pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $0.66 per share;

•

1,254,489 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our Omnibus Incentive Plan;
and

•

shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of the underwriter warrant.

We may choose to raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities due to market
conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating
plans. To the extent that any of these options or warrants are exercised, new options are issued under our Omnibus
Incentive Plan or we issue additional shares of common stock or other equity securities in the future, there may be
further dilution to new investors participating in this offering.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our securities, and we cannot predict the effect, if any,
that market sales of our securities or the availability of our securities for sale will have on the market price of our
securities prevailing from time to time. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, including
shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options, in the public market following this offering could adversely
affect market prices prevailing from time to time and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of our
equity securities.
Upon the closing of this offering, we will have a total of 30,849,412 shares of our common stock outstanding
(32,124,412 shares if the underwriter exercises its over-allotment option in full), based on the 6,393,069 shares of
our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020, assuming the conversion of all of our outstanding shares
of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred stock and outstanding convertible notes into an aggregate of
15,956,343 shares of our common stock, immediately prior to the completion of this offering. Of these outstanding
shares, all of the 8,500,000 shares of common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable, except that pursuant
to lock-up agreements entered into in connection with the offering any shares purchased in the offering by our
officer and directors and their affiliates and related parties are subject to a 12 month lock-up period.
The remaining outstanding shares of our common stock will be deemed “restricted securities” as defined in
Rule 144. Restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if they are registered under the Securities
Act or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rule 144 or Rule 701 promulgated under the
Securities Act, which rules are summarized below. In addition, our executive officers, directors and substantially
all of our existing stockholders have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriter under which they have
agreed, subject to specific exceptions, not to sell any of our stock for at least 180 days following the date of this
prospectus, as described below. As a result of these agreements, subject to the provisions of Rule 144 or Rule 701,
following completion of the offering, and assuming that no shares purchased in the offering are covered by lock-up
agreements, shares will be available for sale in the public market as follows:
•

Beginning on the date of this prospectus, all of the shares sold in this offering will be immediately
available for sale in the public market;

•

Beginning 181 days after the date of this prospectus, approximately 12.7 million additional shares of
common stock will become eligible for sale in the public market, of which no shares will be held by
affiliates and subject to the volume and other restrictions of Rule 144, as described below;

•

Beginning 365 days after the date of this prospectus, approximately 9.7 million additional shares of
common stock will become eligible for sale in the public market, of which approximately 8.7 million
shares will be held by affiliates and subject to the volume and other restrictions of Rule 144, as
described below; and

•

The remainder of the shares will be eligible for sale in the public market from time to time thereafter,
subject in some cases to the volume and other restrictions of Rule 144, as described below.

Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, once we have been subject to public company reporting
requirements for at least 90 days, a person who is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates for purposes of the
Securities Act at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale and who has beneficially owned the shares proposed
to be sold for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, is entitled
to sell those shares without complying with the manner of sale, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144,
subject to compliance with the public information requirements of Rule 144. If such a person has beneficially owned
the shares proposed to be sold for at least one year, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our
affiliates, then that person would be entitled to sell those shares upon expiration of the lock-up agreements described
above, without complying with any of the requirements of Rule 144.
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In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effect, our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates
are entitled to sell upon expiration of the lock-up agreements described above, within any three-month period, a
number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:
•

1% of the number of shares of common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately
295,494 shares immediately after this offering; or

•

the average weekly trading volume of common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market during the four
calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to that sale.

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are also subject to certain
manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the availability of current public information about us.
Rule 701
Rule 701 generally allows a stockholder who purchased shares of our common stock pursuant to a written
compensatory plan or contract and who is not deemed to have been an affiliate of our company during the
immediately preceding 90 days to sell these shares in reliance upon Rule 144, but without being required to comply
with the public information, holding period, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144. Rule 701 also
permits affiliates of our company to sell their Rule 701 shares under Rule 144 without complying with the holding
period requirements of Rule 144. All holders of Rule 701 shares, however, are required by that rule to wait until
90 days after the date of this prospectus before selling those shares pursuant to Rule 701, subject to the market
standoff agreements and lock-up agreements described above.
Stock Options
As soon as practicable after the closing of this offering, we intend to file one or more registration statements on
Form S-8 under the Securities Act covering all of the shares of our common stock subject to outstanding options
and the shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under our stock plans. In addition, we intend to file a
registration statement on Form S-8 or such other form as may be required under the Securities Act for the resale of
shares of our common stock issued upon the exercise of options that were not granted under Rule 701. We expect to
file this registration statement as soon as permitted under the Securities Act and the terms of the lock-up agreements
described below. However, the shares registered on Form S-8 may be subject to the volume limitations and the
manner of sale, notice and public information requirements of Rule 144 and will not be eligible for resale until
expiration of the lock-up and market standoff agreements to which they are subject.
Lock-up Agreements
For a description of the lock-up agreements with the underwriter that restrict sales of shares by us and our executive
officers and directors, see the information under the heading “Underwriting.”
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UNDERWRITING
We are offering the shares of common stock described in this prospectus through the underwriter, National Securities
Corporation, which is acting as lead managing underwriter of the offering.
We have agreed to enter into an underwriting agreement with the underwriter prior to the closing of this offering.
Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, we will agree to sell to the underwriter, and the
underwriter will agree to purchase, at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, as it may be supplemented, shares of common stock.
The underwriter is committed to purchase all of the common shares offered by us, other than those covered by the
option to purchase additional shares described below, if they purchase any shares. The underwriting agreement
provides that the underwriter’s obligations to purchase shares of our common stock are subject to conditions
contained in the underwriting agreement. A copy of the underwriting agreement has been filed as an exhibit to the
registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.
We have been advised by the underwriter that the underwriter proposes to offer shares of our common stock directly
to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to certain dealers that are
members of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA. Any securities sold by the underwriter to such
securities dealers will be sold at the public offering price less a selling concession not in excess of $0.192 per share.
After the public offering of the shares, the offering price and other selling terms may be changed by the underwriter.
None of our securities included in this offering may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus
and any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sales of any of our common
stock, be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with
the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons who receive this prospectus are advised to inform
themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to this offering of our common stock and the distribution
of this prospectus. This prospectus is neither an offer to sell nor a solicitation of any offer to buy any of our common
stock included in this offering in any jurisdiction where that would not be permitted or legal.
The underwriter has advised us that it does not intend to confirm sales to any accounts over which they exercise
discretionary authority.
The following table shows the underwriting discount payable to the underwriter by us in connection with this
offering. Such amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriter’s over-allotment
option to purchase additional shares.
Underwriting Discounts and Expenses
Without
Over-Allotment

Public offering price���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $
Underwriting discount to be paid to the underwriter �������������������������������������������� $
Net proceeds, before other expenses���������������������������������������������������������������������� $

With
Over-Allotment

42,500,000 $
2,720,000 $
39,780,000 $

48,875,000
3,128,000
45,747,000

In addition to the discount set forth in the above table, we have agreed to issue to the underwriter and its designees
a warrant to purchase up to 9.79% of the shares of common stock sold in this offering and to pay $150,000 for their
counsel’s fees as well as $25,000 for certain of their accountable expenses. The terms of the underwriter’s warrant
are more fully described in this section under the caption, “Underwriter Warrants.”
Over-Allotment Option
We have granted to the underwriter an option, exercisable not later than 45 days after the date of this prospectus, to
purchase additional shares of our common stock (up to 15% of the shares firmly committed in this offering) at the
public offering price, less the underwriting discount, set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. The underwriter
may exercise the option solely to cover over-allotments, if any, made in connection with this offering. If any
additional shares of our common stock are purchased pursuant to the over-allotment option, the underwriter will
offer these additional shares of our common stock on the same terms as those on which the other shares of common
stock are being offered hereby.
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Determination of Offering Price Listing
We have applied to list our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “MOVE”. In order to
meet the requirements for listing on that exchange, the underwriters have undertaken to sell a minimum number of
shares to a minimum number of beneficial owners as required by that exchange.
Before this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. There is no current market for our
common stock. Our underwriter, National Securities Corporation, is not obligated to make a market in our securities,
and even if it chooses to make a market, can discontinue at any time without notice. Neither we nor the underwriter
can provide any assurance that an active and liquid trading market in our securities will develop or, if developed, that
the market will continue.
The public offering price of the shares offered by this prospectus has been determined by negotiation between us and
the underwriter. Among the factors considered in determining the public offering price of the shares were:
•

our history and our prospects;

•

the industry in which we operate;

•

our past and present operating results;

•

the previous experience of our executive officers; and

•

the general condition of the securities markets at the time of this offering.

The offering price stated on the cover page of this prospectus should not be considered an indication of the actual
value of the shares. Upon the commencement of trading, the price of our shares will be subject to change as a result
of market conditions and other factors, and we cannot assure you that the shares can be resold at or above the public
offering price.
Underwriter Warrants
In connection with this offering, we have agreed to issue to the underwriter and its designees a warrant to purchase
shares of our common stock equal to 9.79% of the shares of common stock sold in this offering. This warrant is
exercisable at $6.00 per share (120% of the price of the common stock sold in this offering), expiring five years from
the date of this prospectus. The warrant and the shares of common stock underlying the warrant have been deemed
compensation by FINRA and are therefore subject to a six-month lock-up pursuant to Rule 5110(g)(1) of FINRA.
Additionally, National Securities Corporation has contractually agreed that it (or its permitted assignees under the
Rule) will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or hypothecate this warrant or the securities underlying this warrant,
nor will it engage in any hedging, short sale, derivative, put, or call transaction that would result in the effective
economic disposition of this warrant or the underlying securities for a period of 540 days (approximately 18 months)
from the effective date of the offering.
In connection with its role as placement agent in our offerings of Series A preferred stock and Series B preferred
stock, we issued to National Securities Corporation and its designees warrants to purchase shares of our common
stock in an amount equal to 10% of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 1,336,485 shares of
our Series A preferred stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in an amount equal to 10% of the
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 4,142,270 shares of our Series B preferred stock. The warrants
relating to the Series A preferred stock are exercisable at $1.40 per share and the warrants relating to the Series B
preferred stock are exercisable at $2.10 per share, subject to proportional adjustment in the events of combinations,
subdivisions or the like. The warrants expire five year from the date of grant.
In connection with our offering of convertible notes, we issued to Newbridge Securities warrants to purchase
161,830 shares of our common stock as consideration for their services as placement agent. The warrants have
a term of five years and an initial exercise price of $2.97 per share. Upon automatic conversion of the related
promissory notes, the exercise price of these warrants is automatically adjusted to the conversion price. The warrants
and the shares of common stock underlying the warrants have been deemed compensation by FINRA and are
therefore subject to a six-month lock-up pursuant to Rule 5110(g)(1) of FINRA. Newbridge Securities (or permitted
assignees under the Rule) will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or hypothecate the warrants or the underlying
common shares, nor will it engage in any hedging, short sale, derivative, put, or call transaction that would result
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in the effective economic disposition of the warrants or the underlying common shares for a period of six months
from the effective date of the offering. Additionally, Newbridge Securities has contractually agreed that it (and
its permitted assignees under the Rule) will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or hypothecate this warrant or the
securities underlying the warrants, nor will it engage in any hedging, short sale, derivative, put, or call transaction
that would result in the effective economic disposition of the warrants or the underlying securities for a period of
540 days (approximately 18 months) from the effective date of this offering.
In connection with our offering of convertible notes, we issued to National Securities Corporation and its designees
warrants to purchase 42,220 shares of our common stock (in addition to $126,660 in cash compensation, which
comprised a portion of the aggregate $612,150 in cash compensation paid to the placement agents in connection
with the offering). Those warrants were cancelled by their holders, for no consideration, in February 2021.
Pursuant to our engagement agreement with Liquid Patent Advisors, LLC, in February 2018, we issued to Liquid
Patent Advisors, LLC warrants to purchase up to 303,000 shares of our common stock, exercisable at $0.0125 per
share, expiring after a term of five years. The warrants were issued in consideration of Liquid Patent Advisors,
LLC’s provision of consulting services. The warrants provide its holders with certain registration and piggyback
registration rights. In October 2020, all of the consulting warrants were net exercised, resulting in the issuance of
295,985 shares of common stock. The principals of Liquid Patent Advisors, LLC hold investment banking positions
with National Securities Corporation. The principals of Liquid Patent Advisors, LLC conduct their investment
banking activities at National Securities Corporation under the fictitious business name “Liquid Venture Partners”.
Liquid Venture Partners is not a broker-dealer and will not participate in this offering. While the principals of Liquid
Venture Partners will receive from National Securities Corporation a portion of the underwriting compensation,
Liquid Venture Partners will not receive any other compensation or reimbursement of expenses in connection with
this offering, directly or indirectly, from us or National Securities Corporation.
Lock-Up Agreements
In connection with our issuance of warrants to purchase shares of our common stock to Liquid Patent Advisors,
LLC and National Securities Corporation, including the underwriter warrant to be issued to National Securities upon
the completion of this offering, Liquid Patent Advisors and National Securities have agreed not to sell, transfer or
pledge, or offering to do any of the same, directly or indirectly, the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of such warrants for a period of 12 months following the close of this offering, except in the case of the warrants and
underlying common shares to be received by National Securities Corporation in connection with this offering for
which the lock-up period is 540 days (approximately 18 months) from the effective date of this offering.
We and all of our directors and officers and the holders of our common stock outstanding on the date of this
prospectus have agreed in connection with the present offering, that, without the prior written consent of National
Securities Corporation, not to sell, transfer or pledge, or offer to do any of the same, directly or indirectly, any of our
outstanding shares of common stock, for a period of 12 months following the close of this offering. The holders of
Series A preferred stock, Series B preferred stock and convertible notes have agreed in connection with the present
offering, that, without the prior written consent of National Securities Corporation, not to sell, transfer or pledge, or
offer to do any of the same, directly or indirectly, any of our securities for a period 180 days following the close of
this offering.
The underwriter may consent to an early release from the lock-up period if, in its opinion, the market for the
common stock would not be adversely impacted by sales and in cases of a financial emergency of an officer, director
or other stockholder. We are unaware of any security holder who intends to ask for consent to dispose of any of our
equity securities during the relevant lock-up periods.
Indemnification
We have agreed to indemnify the underwriter against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities
Act relating to losses or claims resulting from material misstatements in or omissions from this prospectus, the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, certain free writing prospectuses that may be used in the
offering and in any marketing materials used in connection with this offering and to contribute to payments the
underwriter may be required to make in respect of those liabilities.
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Short Positions and Penalty Bids
The underwriter may engage in over-allotment, syndicate covering transactions, and penalty bids or purchases for the
purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of the common stock, in accordance with Regulation M under
the Exchange Act.
•

Over-allotment involves sales by the underwriter of shares in excess of the number of shares the
underwriter is obligated to purchase, which creates a syndicate short position. The short position may
be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of
shares over-allotted by an underwriter is not greater than the number of shares that it may purchase in
the over-allotment option. In a naked short position, the number of shares involved is greater than the
number of shares in the over-allotment option. The underwriter may close out any short position by
either exercising its over-allotment option and/or purchasing shares in the open market.

•

Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of the common stock in the open market after the
distribution has been completed in order to cover syndicate short positions. In determining the source
of shares to close out the short position, the underwriter will consider, among other things, the price
of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which it may purchase
shares through the over-allotment option. If an underwriter sells more shares than could be covered by
the over-allotment option, a naked short position, the position can only be closed out by buying shares in
the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if an underwriter is concerned that
there could be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open market after pricing that could
adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering.

•

Penalty bids permit an underwriter to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the
shares originally sold by the syndicate member are purchased in a stabilizing or syndicate covering
transaction to cover syndicate short positions.

These syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market
price of our common stock or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common stock. As a result,
the price of the common stock may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market. These
transactions may be effected on the Nasdaq Capital Market, and if commenced, they may be discontinued at any
time.
Neither we nor the underwriter make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect
that the transactions described above may have on the price of the common stock. In addition, neither we nor the
underwriter make any representation that the underwriter will engage in these transactions or that any transaction,
once commenced, will not be discontinued without notice.
Electronic Distribution
A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the Internet sites or through other online services
maintained by the underwriter, or by its affiliates. In those cases, prospective investors may view offering terms
online and, depending upon the underwriter, prospective investors may be allowed to place orders online. The
underwriter may agree with us to allocate a specific number of shares for sale to online brokerage account holders.
Any such allocation for online distributions will be made by the underwriter on the same basis as other allocations.
Other than the prospectus in electronic format, the information on the underwriter’s website and any information
contained in any other website maintained by the underwriter is not part of the prospectus or the registration
statement of which this prospectus forms a part, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or the underwriter in
its capacity as underwriter and should not be relied upon by investors.
The underwriter’s compensation in connection with this offering is limited to the fees and expenses described above
under “Underwriting Discount and Expenses.”
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LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the shares offered hereby will be passed upon for us by K&L Gates LLP, Charlotte, North Carolina.
Greenberg Traurig, LLP, Irvine, California, has acted as counsel for the underwriter in connection with certain legal
matters related to this offering.
EXPERTS
The financial statements of Movano Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and for the years then ended, included
in this prospectus have been audited by Moss Adams, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as set
forth in their report included herein. Such financial statements have been so included in reliance upon the report of
such firm (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding a going
concern uncertainty) given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1, including exhibits, under the Securities Act
that registers the shares of our common stock to be sold in this offering. This prospectus does not contain all the
information contained in the registration statement and the exhibits filed as part of the registration statement. For
further information with respect to us and our common stock, we refer you to the registration statement and the
exhibits filed as part of the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any
contract or other document are not necessarily complete. If a contract or document has been filed as an exhibit to the
registration statement, we refer you to the copies of the contract or document that has been filed. Each statement in
this prospectus relating to a contract or document filed as an exhibit is qualified in all respects by the filed exhibit.
Upon the consummation of this offering, we will file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and
other information with the SEC under the Exchange Act. You can read our SEC filings, including the registration
statement, at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
The representations, warranties and covenants made by us in any agreement that is filed as an exhibit to the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part were made solely for the benefit of the parties to such
agreement, including, in some cases, for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to such agreements,
and should not be deemed to be a representation, warranty or covenant to you. Moreover, such representations,
warranties or covenants were made as of an earlier date. Accordingly, such representations, warranties and covenants
should not be relied on as accurately representing the current state of our affairs.
This prospectus includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications
and research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys
and studies generally indicate that they have gathered their information from sources they believe to be reliable,
although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. While we believe that these
industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have not independently verified
such data.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors
Movano Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Movano Inc. (“the Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Going Concern Uncertainty
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring losses from
operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going
concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 10, 2021
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
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Movano Inc.
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,
2020
2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $5,710 $4,291
Payroll tax credit, current portion���������������������������������������������������������������������������
500
111
Prepaid expenses and other current assets �������������������������������������������������������������
691
111
Total current assets���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
6,901
4,513
Property and equipment, net���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
38
51
Payroll tax credit, noncurrent portion�������������������������������������������������������������������������
134
304
Other assets�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
10
19
Total assets ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $7,083 $4,887
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK,
AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $246 $15
Paycheck Protection Program loan, current portion�����������������������������������������������
248
—
Other current liabilities�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
666
843
Total current liabilities ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
1,160
858
Noncurrent liabilities:
Convertible promissory notes, net �������������������������������������������������������������������������
11,342
—
Accrued interest �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
292
—
Paycheck Protection Program loan, noncurrent portion�����������������������������������������
103
—
Warrant liability �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
1,549
32
Derivative liability���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
121
—
Early exercised stock option liability���������������������������������������������������������������������
417
—
Other noncurrent liabilities�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
161
—
Total noncurrent liabilities ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������
13,985
32
Total liabilities����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
15,145
890
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,692,253
shares authorized; 2,692,253 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2020 and 2019; liquidation preference of $15,170 and $14,749 at December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,238,095 shares
authorized; 4,942,319 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and
2019; liquidation preference of $21,858 and $21,233 at December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

13,856

11,212

18,962

12,692

Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 22,069,652 shares authorized; 6,393,069
and 4,539,584 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
1
—
Additional paid-in capital���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
—
—
Accumulated deficit�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(40,881)
(19,907)
Total stockholders’ deficit���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(40,880)
(19,907)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’
deficit ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $7,083 $4,887
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Movano Inc.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development�������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $8,373 $6,515
General and administrative��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
2,734
1,997
Total operating expenses��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
11,107
8,512
Loss from operations����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(11,107)
(8,512)
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(1,004)
—
Change in fair value of warrant liability������������������������������������������������������������
(1,511)
13
Change in fair value of derivative liability��������������������������������������������������������
564
—
Interest and other income, net����������������������������������������������������������������������������
27
59
Other income (expense), net��������������������������������������������������������������������������
(1,924)
72
Net loss and comprehensive loss ��������������������������������������������������������������������������
(13,031)
(8,440)
Accretion and dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock��������������������
(8,914)
(6,041)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ������������������������������������������������������ $(21,945) $(14,481)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted���������� $(6.85) $(9.18)
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted ����������������������������������������������������������
3,201,430
1,577,714
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Movano Inc.
STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(in thousands, except share data)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A
Series B
Shares
Amount
Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 2018�������� 2,692,253
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of warrants���������������
—
Issuance of Series B redeemable
convertible preferred stock,
net of issuance costs of
$1,113������������������������������������
—
Issuance of equity classified
warrants to lead investors������
—
Stock-based compensation����������
—
Accretion of Series A and
Series B redeemable
convertible preferred stock����
—
Reclassification of negative
additional paid-in capital to
accumulated deficit����������������
—
Net loss����������������������������������������
—
Balance at December 31, 2019�������� 2,692,253

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

$(5,582) $(5,582)

$8,596

—

$—

4,040,000

$—

$—

—

—

—

499,584

—

6

—

6

—

4,942,319

9,267

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

60
90

—
—

60
90

2,616

—

3,425

—

—

—
—
$11,212

—
—
4,942,319

—
—
$12,692

—
—
4,539,584

—
—
$—

5,885
—
$—

(5,885)
—
(8,440)
(8,440)
$(19,907) $(19,907)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

$(19,907) $(19,907)

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A
Series B
Shares
Amount
Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 2019�������� 2,692,253
Stock-based compensation for
stock grant������������������������������
—
Stock-based compensation����������
—
Accretion of Series A and Series
B redeemable convertible
preferred stock ����������������������
—
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of warrants���������������
—
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of options�����������������
—
Reclassification of negative
additional paid-in capital to
accumulated deficit����������������
—
Net loss����������������������������������������
—
Balance at December 31, 2020�������� 2,692,253

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

(6,041)

—

(6,041)

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

$11,212

4,942,319

$12,692

4,539,584

$—

$—

—
—

—
—

—
—

140,000
—

—
—

267
446

2,644

—

6,270

—

—

—

—

—

295,985

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,417,500

1

258

—

259

—
—
$13,856

—
—
4,942,319

—
—
$18,962

—
—
6,393,069

—
—
$1

7,943
—
$—

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(8,914)

—
—

—

267
446

(8,914)

(7,943)
—
(13,031)
(13,031)
$(40,881) $(40,880)

Movano Inc.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $(13,031) $(8,440)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
13
11
Stock-based compensation for stock grant��������������������������������������������������������
267
—
Stock-based compensation��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
446
90
Accretion of debt discount on convertible promissory notes����������������������������
728
—
Accrued interest on convertible promissory notes��������������������������������������������
292
—
Non-employee services under convertible promissory notes����������������������������
397
—
Change in fair value of derivative liability��������������������������������������������������������
(564)
—
Change in fair value of warrant liability������������������������������������������������������������
1,511
(13)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Payroll tax credit��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(384)
(85)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ����������������������������������������������������
(580)
(111)
Other assets����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
174
168
Accounts payable ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
231
8
Other current and noncurrent liabilities��������������������������������������������������������
(166)
480
Net cash used in operating activities����������������������������������������������������������
(10,666)
(8,228)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment��������������������������������������������������������������������
Net cash used in investing activities����������������������������������������������������������

—
—

(13)
(13)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes��������������������������������������
11,753
—
Payment of issuance costs��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(695)
—
Proceeds from April 2020 Paycheck Protection Program loan������������������������������
351
—
Repayment of April 2020 Paycheck Protection Program loan������������������������������
(351)
—
Proceeds from May 2020 Paycheck Protection Program loan������������������������������
351
—
Issuance of common stock ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
676
6
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock – net of issuance
costs��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
—
9,351
Net cash provided by financing activities��������������������������������������������������
12,085
9,357
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents�������������������������������������������������������������
1,419
1,116
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ������������������������������������������������
4,291
3,175
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ���������������������������������������������������������� $5,710 $4,291
NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Accretion of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock������������������������������
Accretion of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock������������������������������
Issuance of convertible promissory notes upon completion of non-employee
services��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Issuance of common stock warrants in connection with Series B redeemable
convertible preferred stock��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Issuance of warrants in connection with convertible promissory notes����������������

$2,644 $2,616
$6,270 $3,425
$247

$— $84
$6 $—

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Movano Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — BUSINESS ORGANIZATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Movano Inc. (the “Company” or “Movano” or “Our”) was incorporated in Delaware on January 30, 2018 as Maestro
Sensors Inc. and changed its name to Movano Inc. on August 3, 2018. The Company is in the development-stage
and is a health-focused technology company creating simple, smart and personalized wearables designed to help
individuals on their health journey optimize for good health today and prevent and manage chronic diseases in the
future. The Company’s wearables are being developed to provide vital health information, including glucose and
blood pressure data, in a variety of form factors to meet individual style needs and give users actionable feedback in
order to improve the quality of their life.
Since inception, the Company has engaged in only limited research and development of product candidates and
underlying technology. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had not yet completed the development of its
product and had not yet recorded any revenues. In March and June 2019, the Company sold in a private placement
4,942,319 shares of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock (“Series B preferred stock”) and raised
approximately $9.3 million in net proceeds (See Note 8). From February 2020 to December 2020, the Company
issued subordinated convertible promissory notes of approximately $11.1 million in net proceeds (See Note 7).
Additionally in May 2020, the Company received a Paycheck Protection Program loan for $0.4 million (See Note 6.)
In December 2019, a novel coronavirus and the resulting disease (“COVID-19”) was reported, and in January 2020,
the World Health Organization (“WHO”) declared it a Public Health Emergency of International Concern. In
February 2020, the WHO raised its assessment of the COVID-19 threat from high to very high at a global level due
to the continued increase in the number of cases and affected countries, and in March 2020, the WHO characterized
COVID-19 as a pandemic. The Company is continuing to ascertain the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on Our business, but given the uncertainty about the situation, the Company cannot estimate the impact to our
financial statements from the economic crisis arising from COVID-19.
NOTE 2 — GOING CONCERN AND MANAGEMENT PLANS
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which implies the Company will continue
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Company has incurred losses from operations and has generated negative cash flows from operating activities
since inception. The Company expects to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future as it continues the
development of its technology. Based upon the Company’s current expectations and projections for the next year, the
Company believes that it will not have sufficient liquidity necessary to sustain operations through the twelve months
from the date of issuance of these financial statements if the Company is unable to raise additional funding. The
Company is currently pursuing additional funding through equity financing; however, no assurance can be given that
the Company will be successful in raising the required capital at reasonable cost and at the required times, or at all.
These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible effects on the recoverability and
classification of recorded assets and liabilities that may be necessary in the event the Company cannot continue as a
going concern.
NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The Company has prepared the accompanying financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).
Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods’ financial statements to conform to the current period
presentation. These reclassifications did not result in any change in previously reported net loss, total assets or
stockholders’ deficit.
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Movano Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods.
Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include, but are not limited to, the
accrual of research and development expenses, the valuation of common stock, stock options and warrants, the
valuation of the embedded redemption derivative liability and income tax expense. Estimates are periodically
reviewed in light of changes in circumstances, facts, and experience. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period
in which they become known. Actual results could differ from those estimates or assumptions.
Segment Information
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is
available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company views its operations and manages its business in one
segment. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the chief executive officer.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk
Cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk. All
cash and cash equivalents are held in United States financial institutions. Cash equivalents consist of interest-bearing
money market accounts. The amounts deposited in the money market accounts exceeds federally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses related to this account and believes the associated credit risk to be minimal
due to the financial condition of the depository institutions in which those deposits are held.
The Company has no financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk of loss.
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets is comprised of prepaid expenses, other current receivables, and deferred
offering costs, which consist of legal, accounting, filing and other fees related to the IPO that have been capitalized.
The deferred offering costs will be offset against proceeds from the IPO upon the effectiveness of the IPO. In the
event the IPO is terminated, all capitalized deferred offering costs would be expensed. As of December 31, 2020 and
2019, $497,000 and $0, respectively, of deferred offering costs were capitalized.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related asset. Computer software
and hardware, office equipment and furniture, and test equipment are depreciated over five years. Maintenance and
repairs that do not extend the life of or improve an asset are expensed in the period incurred. Upon disposition, the
cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected
in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Research and Development Expense
Research and development expenses consist primarily of external and internal costs incurred for the design and
configuration of the Company’s product. All research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Software Development Costs
Costs related to software development are included in research and development expense until the point that
technological feasibility is reached, which, for Our product, will be shortly before the product is released to
manufacturing. Once technological feasibility is reached, such costs are capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue
over the estimated lives of the product. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no development costs
were capitalized.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when
estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its
carrying amount.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
The Company accounts for funds received from the Paycheck Protection Program as a financial liability with
interest accrued and expensed over the term of the loan under the effective interest method. The loan will remain
recorded as a liability until the Company has been legally released from the liability or the Company repays the
liability. Any amount that is ultimately forgiven by the lender would be recognized in the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss as a gain extinguishment.
Convertible Financial Instruments
The Company bifurcates embedded redemption and conversion options from their host instruments and accounts
for them as freestanding derivative financial instruments at fair value, if certain criteria are met. The criteria include
circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not
clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument
that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-measured at fair value under
otherwise applicable generally accepted accounting principles with changes in fair value reported in earnings as they
occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered
a derivative instrument. Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized to interest expense using the interest
method over the earlier of the term of the related debt or their earliest date of redemption.
From time to time, the Company issues convertible financial instruments to nonemployees in payment for services
that are provided. Until the services are completely rendered, the Company will expense the principal and any
interest earned prior to the service completion to the representative expense account for the services performed and
will record a noncurrent liability for the expected amount of the principal balance. Upon completion of the services,
the Company will reclassify the noncurrent liability balance to the balance of an outstanding convertible financial
instrument and assess the embedded redemption and conversion options that are applicable at that time.
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company records all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock at their respective issuance price less
issuance costs on the dates of issuance. Under certain circumstances the Company will be required to redeem the
Series A and Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock unless an IPO has been consummated prior to April 1,
2021, or an extension or waiver is obtained upon approval of a majority of the holders of such preferred stock. As
the preferred stock becomes redeemable due to the passage of time, the Company considers the preferred stock to be
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redeemable as of April 1, 2021. The Company records the accretion of the Series A and B preferred stock balances to
their respective redemption amounts using the effective interest method. The redeemable convertible preferred stock
is presented outside of stockholders’ deficit on the balance sheets.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and net operating loss and credit carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred
tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. As the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against
its deferred tax assets, the changes resulted in no provision or benefit from income taxes during the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits using a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company establishes
a liability for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will
be due. The Company records an income tax liability, if any, for the difference between the benefit recognized and
measured and the tax position taken or expected to be taken on the Company’s tax returns. To the extent that the
assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination
is made. The liability is adjusted considering changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit.
The provision for income taxes includes the impact of liability provisions and changes to the liability that are
considered appropriate. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in
judgment occurs.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures equity classified stock-based awards granted to employees, directors, and nonemployees
based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant and recognizes compensation expense of those awards on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award.
The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. This valuation model for stock-based compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and
judgments about the variables used in the calculation including the expected term, the volatility of the Company’s
common stock, and an assumed risk-free interest rate. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.
Early Exercised Stock Option Liability
Upon the early exercise of stock options by employees, the Company records as a liability the purchase price of
unvested common stock that the Company has a right to repurchase if and when the employment of the stockholder
terminates before the end of the requisite service period. The proceeds originally recorded as a liability are
reclassified to additional paid-in capital as the Company’s repurchase right lapses.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company accounts for certain of its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Company uses a three-level
hierarchy, which prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information over
entity-specific information for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the valuation of an
asset or liability as of the measurement date. Fair value focuses on an exit price and is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The inputs or methodology used for valuing financial instruments are not necessarily an
indication of the risk associated with investing in those financial instruments.

F-10

Movano Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)
A three-tier fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the inputs in measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly.
Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by market data.
The following tables provide a summary of the assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands).
Fair Value

December 31, 2020
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

Assets – money market funds���������������������� $5,181 $5,181 $— $—
Warrant liability ������������������������������������������ $1,549 $— $— $1,549
Derivative liability���������������������������������������� $121 $— $— $121
Fair Value

December 31, 2019
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

Assets – money market funds���������������������� $4,101 $4,101 $— $—
Warrant liability ������������������������������������������ $32 $— $— $32
The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of
any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Changes in fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are analyzed each period
based on changes in estimates or assumptions and recorded as appropriate. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
warrants related to the Series A preferred stock issuance, the Series B preferred stock issuance, and the convertible
promissory notes and the derivative liability related to the issuance of convertible promissory notes are classified
within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.
The Company measured the fair value of the derivative liability by estimating the fair value of the convertible
promissory notes at certain conversion points. The Company’s derivative liability is classified within Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy because certain unobservable inputs were used in the valuation models.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses, payroll tax credit, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
Based upon interest rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms, the carrying values of the
Company’s convertible promissory notes and Paycheck Protection Program Loan are approximately equal to their
fair values.
Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period,
without consideration for common stock equivalents. The net loss attributable to common stockholders is calculated
by adjusting the net loss of the Company for the accretion on the Series A and B redeemable convertible preferred
stock and cumulative dividends on Series A and B redeemable convertible preferred stock. Diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders,
since the effects of potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 2020-06,
Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) — Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own
Equity. The amendments in this update reduce the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments
and convertible preferred stock, resulting in fewer embedded conversion features being recognized separately from
their host contracts. The pronouncement also revises the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own
equity and improves the consistency of earnings per share calculations as that relates to convertible instruments. The
pronouncement is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2022, and the Company will continue to evaluate the
impact of the guidance on the financial statements and related disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740). The
amendments in this update provide further simplification of accounting standards for the accounting for income
taxes. Certain exceptions for requirements regarding the accounting for franchise taxes, tax basis of goodwill, and
tax law rate changes are made. The Company plans to adopt this guidance as of January 1, 2021 and does not believe
this guidance will have a significant impact on the financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which requires the early recognition of credit losses on
financing receivables and other financial assets in scope. ASU 2016-13 requires the use of a transition model that
will result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. The Company plans to adopt this guidance as of
January 1, 2021 and does not believe this guidance will have a significant impact on the financial statements and
related disclosures.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as amended, which requires all entities that
lease assets under leases with terms of more than 12 months to capitalize the assets and related lease liabilities on
the balance sheet. ASU 2016-02 requires the use of a modified retrospective transition approach for its adoption,
with the option of applying the provisions at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements or at the beginning of the period of adoption. The pronouncement is effective for the Company
as of January 1, 2022, and the Company will continue to evaluate the impact of the guidance on the financial
statements and related disclosures. Currently, the Company does not believe this guidance will have a significant
impact on the financial statements and related disclosures because the Company does not have any leases which are
for a term greater than one year.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 720) — Disclosure
Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this
update provide simplification and revision of accounting standards for the disclosures related to fair value
measurement. Certain disclosure requirements were removed by this pronouncement. Modifications to existing
disclosure requirements include: (1) clarifying that the measurement uncertainty disclosure is to communicate
information about the uncertainty in measurement as of the reporting date and (2) requiring disclosure about the
timing of liquidation of an investee’s assets for those entities that calculate net asset value only if the investee has
communicated the timing or announced it publicly. Additional disclosures that were added include: (1) changes
in unrealized gains and losses for recurring Level 3 fair value investments held at the end of the reporting period
and (2) the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value
measurements. The Company adopted this pronouncement effective January 1, 2020 and this guidance did not have
a significant impact on the financial statements and related disclosures.
In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-11, Earnings Per Share, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity,
Derivatives and Hedging — (Part I) Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features,
(Part II) Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain
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Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception, which
simplifies the accounting for financial instruments with down round features amongst other changes. The Company
adopted this pronouncement effective January 1, 2020 and this guidance did not have a significant impact on the
financial statements and related disclosures.
NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, net, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2020

2019

Office equipment and furniture ���������������������������������������������������������������������������� $43 $43
Test equipment ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
22
22
Total property and equipment����������������������������������������������������������������������������
65
65
Less: accumulated depreciation ����������������������������������������������������������������������������
(27)
(14)
Total property and equipment, net �������������������������������������������������������������������� $38 $51
Total depreciation expense related to property and equipment was approximately $13,000 and $11,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
NOTE 5 — OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other current liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2020

2019

Accrued research and development ���������������������������������������������������������������������� $197 $365
Accrued compensation������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
184
79
Accrued vacation ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
192
150
Accrued legal expense ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
41
129
Accrued accounting and consulting expense ��������������������������������������������������������
40
112
Accrued other��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
12
8
Total other current liabilities������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $666 $843
NOTE 6 — PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN
The Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) was established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (the “CARES Act”) and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). On
April 23, 2020, the Company entered into a promissory note with Silicon Valley Bank evidencing an unsecured
loan in the aggregate amount of approximately $351,000 under the PPP (the “PPP Loan”). The interest rate on
the PPP Loan was 1.00% and the term was two years, with a deferral of payments for ten months from the date of
origination. On May 7, 2020, the Company elected to repay the PPP loan in full until further guidance was provided
by the SBA on the loan origination and eligibility requirements. On May 27, 2020, the Company entered into a
promissory note with Silicon Valley Bank evidencing an unsecured loan in the aggregate amount of approximately
$351,000, with all other terms the same as the prior loan. Beginning eleven months from the date of the PPP Loan,
the Company is required to make monthly payments of principal and interest. The promissory note evidencing the
PPP Loan contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults or breaching the
terms of the PPP Loan documents. The occurrence of an event of default may result in the repayment of all amounts
outstanding, collection of all amounts owing from the Company, or filing suit and obtaining judgment against the
Company. The PPP Loan may be repaid at any time by the Company without prepayment penalties.
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Funds from the PPP Loan may only be used for payroll costs, costs used to continue group health care benefits,
mortgage payments, rent, utilities, and interest on other debt obligations, if those debt obligations are incurred before
February 15, 2020. The Company intends to use the entire PPP Loan amount for qualifying expenses.
Under the terms of the CARES Act, PPP loan recipients can apply for and be granted forgiveness for all or a portion
of the loan granted under the PPP. Such forgiveness will be determined, subject to limitations, based on the use of
loan proceeds for qualifying expenses. No assurance is provided that the Company will obtain forgiveness of the
PPP Loan in whole or in part.
As of December 31, 2020, future minimum payments under the PPP loan are as follows: $248,000 in 2021; and
$103,000 in 2022.
NOTE 7 — CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTES
On various dates between February 2020 and December 2020, the Company received total proceeds of
approximately $11.8 million from the issuance of subordinated convertible promissory notes (“Convertible Notes”)
to investors. The Convertible Notes accrue interest at 4% per year and the principal balance of the Convertible Notes,
plus all accrued interest is due on February 28, 2022 (the Maturity Date).
The Convertible Notes are convertible upon the occurrence of certain events, including upon a change in control or a
next equity financing. The conversion features are described as follows:
Conversion Event

Description

Conversion Price

Automatic Conversion — Next
Qualified Equity Financing

Upon the closing of a Next Qualified
Equity Financing (defined as greater
than $5,000,000), the Convertible
Notes are converted into shares
issued equal to the outstanding
balance divided by the Conversion
Price

An amount equal to the lower of
(i) 80% of the lowest per-share
selling price of such stock sold by
the Company at the Next Qualified
Equity Financing or (ii) the
implied per share price determined
by dividing $60,000,000 by the
total number of Common Stock
Equivalents (defined as fully diluted
common shares for all outstanding
securities, excluding common shares
reserved for issuance or exercise
of options or grants in the future)
immediately prior to Next Financing
Closing

Automatic Conversion — Change of
Control (defined as consolidation or
merger of the Company or transfer
of a majority of share ownership or
disposition of substantially all assets
of the Company)

If at any time before payment
or conversion of the balance,
the Company effects a Change
of Control, all of the balance
outstanding immediately prior to such
Change of Control will automatically
convert into the most senior series
of Preferred Stock outstanding
immediately prior to such Change of
Control at the Conversion Price.

An amount equal to the implied per
share price determined by dividing
$60,000,000 by the total number
of Common Stock Equivalents
immediately prior to such Change of
Control.
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Conversion Event

Description

Conversion Price

Automatic Conversion — Maturity
Date

If the Company has not paid or
otherwise converted the entire
balance before the Maturity Date,
then on the Maturity Date, all of
the balance then outstanding will
automatically convert into the most
senior series of Preferred Stock
outstanding as of the Maturity Date at
the Conversion Price then in effect.

An amount equal to the implied per
share price determined by dividing
$60,000,000 by the total number of
Common Stock Equivalents as of the
Maturity Date.

Automatic Conversion — IPO

If at any time before payment or
conversion of the balance, the
Company consummates an IPO, all of
the balance outstanding immediately
prior to the IPO will automatically
convert into Common Stock at the
Conversion Price.

An amount equal to the lower of
(i) 80% of the lowest per-share
selling price of the common stock
sold by the Company in an IPO
or (ii) the implied per share price
determined by dividing $60,000,000
by the total number of Common
Stock Equivalents immediately prior
to closing of an IPO.

Optional Conversion

If at any time while the Convertible
Notes are still outstanding the
Company sells stock in a single
transaction or in a series of related
transactions that does not constitute a
Next Qualified Equity Financing (and
thus is defined as a Non-qualified
Financing), then, at the closing of the
Nonqualified Financing, the balance
then outstanding may be converted,
at the option of the holder, into that
number of shares of Non-qualified
Preferred Stock (preferred stock
sold in the Non-qualified Financing)
determined by dividing (i) the
balance by (ii) the Conversion Price
then in effect.

An amount equal to the lowest per
share selling price of Nonqualified
Preferred Stock sold by the Company
for new cash investment in the
Non-Qualified Financing.

Convertible Notes totaling approximately $247,000 were issued to nonemployees in exchange for services and
are included in the outstanding balance of convertible promissory notes at December 31, 2020. The Company has
committed to issue additional Convertible Notes up to $500,000 to nonemployees in exchange for future services.
As of December 31, 2020, those future services have not been fully completed. A portion of those services that
have been completed are recorded as other noncurrent liabilities of $150,000 on the accompanying balance sheet as
other noncurrent liabilities. The Company will continue to track the balance of the remaining services of $350,000
and will record the services as operating expenses as the services are provided and increase the balance of other
noncurrent liabilities. When the services are fully completed, the Company will record the Convertible Notes as
issued and reclassify the balance of other noncurrent liabilities.
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In connection with the Convertible Notes, the Company issued 10,000 and 204,500 warrants to purchase common
stock, to a noteholder and its brokers, respectively (see Note 10 — Common Stock Warrants for fair value
computation). The warrants have a five-year life and are exercisable into common stock at $2.97 per share.
Issuance costs and commissions to brokers to obtain the Convertible Notes were recorded as a debt discount in the
amount of approximately $83,000 and $612,000, respectively.
The Company determined that the terms that would result in Convertible Notes automatically converting at (i) 80%
of the lowest per-share selling price of the stock sold by the Company in the Next Qualified Equity Financing or
(ii) 80% of the lowest per-share selling price of the Conversion Stock sold by the Company in an IPO are deemed
a redemption feature. The Company also concluded that those redemption features require bifurcation from the
Convertible Notes and subsequent accounting in the same manner as a freestanding derivative. Accordingly,
subsequent changes in the fair value of these redemption features is measured at each reporting period and
recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
The sum of the fair value of the warrants, the fair value of the embedded redemption derivative liability, issuance
costs and commission payments for the Convertible Notes were recorded as debt discounts to be amortized to
interest expense over the respective term using the effective interest method. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company recognized interest expense of approximately $0.7 million from the accretion of the debt
discounts. As of December 31, 2020, the unamortized remaining debt discount is $0.7 million.
Derivative Liability
As described above, the redemption provisions embedded in the Convertible Notes required bifurcation and
measurement at fair value as a derivative. The fair value of the Convertible Note embedded redemption derivative
liability was calculated by determining the value of the debt component of the Convertible Notes at various
conversion or maturity dates using a Probability Weighted Expected Return valuation method. The fair value
calculation placed greater probability on the occurrence of the conversion or the maturity date scenario, with little
or no weight given to other scenarios. The fair value of the embedded redemption derivative liability is significantly
influenced by the discount rate, the remaining term to maturity and the Company’s assumptions related to the
probability of a qualified financing or no financing prior to maturity. The Financing Date is the estimated date of an
automatic conversion as the result of a Next Qualified Equity Financing or an IPO.
The Company estimated the fair value of the embedded redemption derivative liability using the following weighed
average assumptions on the various closing dates between February 2020 and December 2020:
Financing
Date

Maturity
Date

Probability of Conversion at Financing �����������������������������������������������������������
80%
Expected Term��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
March 2021
Conversion Ratio�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
1.25
Discount Rate��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 1.68% to 11.67%

20%
February 2022
N/A
N/A

The changes in the fair value of the derivative liability for the year ended December 31, 2020 were as follows:

December 31,
2019

Derivative liability���������������������������������������� $—
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On March 28, 2019, the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) approved the Second Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation which (i) increased the number of shares of common stock the Company is authorized
to issue to 22,069,652; (ii) increased the number of shares of preferred stock the Company is authorized to issue
to 7,930,348, of which 2,692,253 shares were designated as Series A preferred stock and 5,238,095 shares were
designated as Series B preferred stock; (iii) amended and set a fixed conversion price of Series A preferred stock to
$1.40; and (iv) extended the IPO Commitment Date from April 1, 2020 to no later than March 31, 2021.
The Company assessed the accounting treatment of the amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation related to
the Series A preferred stock and determined that the amendment is a modification for accounting purposes. After
considering the nature of the changes as a result of the amendment, the Company determined the modification of the
Series A preferred stock did not have a significant impact on the financial statements.
On various dates from March 2019 through August 2019, the Company issued 4,942,319 shares of Series B
preferred stock at $2.10 per share for net cash proceeds of $9.3 million. The Series B preferred stock has a
liquidation preference of an amount equal to the greater of (i) two times the original issue price of $2.10 per share
(adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combination, recapitalizations and certain similar events) plus any
declared and unpaid dividends thereon or (ii) the amount per share that would have been received by the holders had
the Series B preferred stock been converted into common stock immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution
or winding-up plus any declared and unpaid dividends thereon, pari passu with the Series A preferred stock and in
preference to any distributions to the holders of common stock.
The Series B preferred stock was measured and recorded at the transaction price net of issuance costs, resulting in
an initial value of $9.3 million. The accretion to the carrying value of the Series B preferred stock was recorded as
a charge to additional paid in capital. The accumulated accretion as of December 31, 2020 was $9.7 million, which
resulted in an adjusted Series B preferred stock carrying value of $19.0 million.
The accretion to the carrying value of the Series A preferred stock was recorded as a charge to additional paid in
capital. The accumulated accretion as of December 31, 2020 was $7.5 million, which resulted in an adjusted Series
A preferred stock carrying value of $13.9 million.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had the following shares of redeemable convertible preferred
stock outstanding (in thousands, except for the share and per share amounts):
At December 31, 2020:

Class

Original
Issue
Price per
Share

A��������� $2.60
B��������� $2.10

Shares
Authorized

2,692,253
5,238,095

Shares
Issued and
Outstanding

Net
Carrying
Value

Liquidation
Preference

Redemption
Value

2,692,253 $13,856 $15,170 $15,274
4,942,319 $18,962 $21,858 $22,011

At December 31, 2019:

Class

Original
Issue
Price per
Share

A��������� $2.60
B��������� $2.10

Shares
Authorized

2,692,253
5,238,095

Shares
Issued and
Outstanding

Net
Carrying
Value

Liquidation
Preference

Redemption
Value

2,692,253 $11,212 $14,749 $15,274
4,942,319 $12,692 $21,233 $22,011

F-17

Movano Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 8 — REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (cont.)
The significant rights and preferences of the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock are as follows:
Dividends — The holders of Series B and Series A preferred stock (“Holders”) are entitled to receive, on a pari
passu basis, out of funds legally available therefor, prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any
dividend on the Company’s common stock, cumulative dividends on the preferred stock at the rate of 6% per
annum of the original issue price (adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combination, or other similar
transactions), except in the event of default, in which case dividends shall accrue at 12% per annum. Such dividends
shall be deemed to accrue from the issuance date whether or not earned or declared and whether or not there are
profits, surplus or other funds of the Company legally available for the payment of dividends. Dividends shall be
calculated on the basis of a 365-day year, and be payable when, as and if declared by the Board.
As of December 31, 2020, cumulative, unpaid dividends were approximately $1,100,000 and $1,170,000 on the
Series B and Series A preferred stock, respectively. Since inception to date, no dividends have been declared or paid.
Redemption — Under certain circumstances the Company will be required to redeem the Series B and Series A
preferred stock (collectively, the “preferred stock”), unless an IPO has been consummated prior to April 1, 2021
(“IPO Commitment Date”), or an extension or waiver is obtained upon approval of a majority of the holders of
preferred stock (“Required Holders”), whereby each outstanding share of preferred stock shall be redeemed by
the Company at a price of two times the original issue price (adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock
combination, or other similar transactions), plus all accrued but unpaid dividends (“Redemption Price”), in cash.
Further, upon an event of default and while the event of default is continuing, the Required Holders may elect to
cause the Company to redeem the preferred stock through distribution of the Company’s assets and property equal in
value to the Redemption Price.
As the preferred stock becomes redeemable due to the passage of time, the Company considers the preferred stock
to be redeemable as of April 1, 2021. Therefore, in April 2019 and April 2018, the Company began recording the
accretion of the Series B and Series A preferred stock balances, respectively, to their respective Redemption Prices
using the effective interest method and will continue recording the accretion up to the IPO Commitment Date.
Liquidation Preference — In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, either
voluntary or involuntary (a “Liquidation Event”), the Holders shall be entitled to a liquidation preference of an
amount equal to the greater of (i) two times the original issue price per share (adjusted for stock splits, stock
dividends, stock combination, recapitalizations and certain similar events) plus any accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon or (ii) the amount per share of common stock that would have been received had the preferred stock been
converted into common stock immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends. If, upon any such Liquidation Event, the assets of the Company shall be insufficient to make
payment in full to all holders of the preferred stock, then the assets shall be distributed ratably among the holders of
the preferred stock in proportion to the full amounts to which they would otherwise be respectively entitled.
Voting Rights — The holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote on an as-converted basis with the common
stock, assuming conversion of the Series B and Series A preferred stock at $2.10 and $1.40 (as adjusted for stock
splits, stock dividends, stock combination, recapitalizations and certain similar events), respectively.
Conversion — Upon consummation of an IPO or upon consummation of a subsequent placement or offering of
equity or equity linked securities of the Company approved by the Holders, each share of preferred stock shall
automatically convert, through no further action on the part of the Company or the Holders, into that number of
shares of common stock equal to the quotient of (i) the original issue price (adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
stock combination, or other similar transactions) plus all accrued and unpaid dividends divided by (ii) the conversion
price. The conversion prices for Series B and Series A preferred stock shall be $2.10 and $1.40, respectively, as
adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations, recapitalizations, or the like that occur after the
original issuance date.
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Further, at any time after the issuance date and until ten calendar days prior to the consummation of the IPO, each
Holder shall be entitled to convert its preferred stock into that number of shares of common stock equal to the
quotient of (i) the original issue price (adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combination, or other similar
transactions) plus all accrued and unpaid dividends divided by (ii) the conversion price. The conversion price for
the purpose of this optional conversion for Series B and Series A preferred shares shall be equal to $2.10 and $1.40,
respectively, as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations, recapitalizations, or the like that occur
after the issuance date.
Protective Provisions — The affirmative vote of the Required Holders will be necessary to (1) authorize shares,
increase the authorized number of shares, or issue any additional shares of preferred stock or any shares of capital
stock of the Company having any right, preference or priority ranking senior to or pari passu with preferred stock;
(2) authorize, adopt or approve any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws that would increase
or decrease the par value of the shares of the preferred stock, alter or change the powers, preferences or rights of
the shares of preferred stock, or alter or change the powers, preferences or rights of any other capital stock of the
Company if after such alteration or change such capital stock would be senior to or pari passu with preferred stock;
(3) amend, alter or repeal the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws so as to affect the shares of preferred stock
adversely, including in connection with a merger, recapitalization, reorganization or otherwise; (4) authorize or issue
any security convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of the Company having any right, preference
or priority ranking senior to or pari passu with preferred stock; (5) organize a subsidiary of the Company; or
(6) pay any dividend on any junior securities or make any payment on account of the purchase, redemption, or other
retirement of any junior securities (or any instruments convertible into any junior securities), and shall not permit
any corporation or other entity directly or indirectly controlled by the Company to purchase or redeem any junior
securities or any such warrants, rights, calls or options.
NOTE 9 — COMMON STOCK
As of December 31, 2020, the Company was authorized to issue 22,069,652 shares of common stock with a par
value of $0.0001 per share, and 6,393,069 shares were issued and outstanding.
In 2018, 400,000 shares were issued to the Company’s founder at inception pursuant to a Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement. The Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement stipulates that in the event of the voluntary or involuntary
termination of the Company’s founder’s continuous service status for any reason (including death or disability), with
or without cause, the Company or its assignees(s) shall have an option (“Repurchase Option”) to repurchase all or
any portion of the shares held by the Purchaser as of the termination date which have not yet been released from
the Company’s Repurchase Option at the original purchase price of $0.0125 per share. Shares are to be released
from the Repurchase Option over four years. The initial 12/48ths of the shares were released on January 30, 2019,
and an additional 1/48th of the shares are being released monthly thereafter. As of December 31, 2020, 108,333 of
the shares issued to the Company’s founder remain subject to the Repurchase Option. These shares were originally
purchased by the Company’s founder at $0.0125 per share.
In 2018, 3,640,000 shares were also issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement. The holders of these
shares are considered related parties of the Company because the holders are directly related either to the founder or
to the legal counsel of the Company. The same terms described above apply to these issuances. As of December 31,
2020, 985,834 of the shares issued to these holders remain subject to the Repurchase Option. These shares were
originally purchased by the holders at $0.0125 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 890,356 shares were issued upon the early exercise of common stock
options. The Exercise Notice (Early Exercise) Agreement states that the Company has the option to repurchase all
or a portion of the unvested shares in the event of the separation of the holder from service to the Company. The
shares continue to vest in accordance with the original vesting schedules of the former option agreements. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company has recorded a repurchase liability of $417,000 for 856,814 shares that remain
unvested. The weighted average remaining vesting period is approximately 3 years. There were no early exercises
during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Common stock reserved for future issuance as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 is summarized as follows:
December 31,
2020

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock������������������������������������������
Warrants to purchase common stock ��������������������������������������������������������������������
Stock options outstanding��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Stock options available for future grants ��������������������������������������������������������������
Conversion of convertible promissory notes����������������������������������������������������������
Total ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

11,299,425
871,167
3,188,011
1,254,489
4,656,918
21,270,010

2019

10,701,244
960,118
3,027,200
972,800
—
15,661,362

NOTE 10 — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS
Consulting Warrants
On February 8, 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Liquid Patent Advisors, LLC (“LPV”)
pursuant to which LPV agreed to provide business strategy and intellectual property advisory services. In connection
with the consulting agreement, the Company issued warrants (“Consulting Warrants”) to purchase 303,000 shares of
its common stock to four individuals at LPV. The Consulting Warrants have a term of five years and an exercise price
of $0.0125 per share. In October 2020, all of the consulting warrants were net exercised, resulting in the issuance of
295,985 shares of common stock. No consulting warrants remain outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
Preferred A Placement Warrants
On February 22, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with National Securities Corporation (“NSC”),
pursuant to which the Company engaged NSC as the Company’s exclusive financial advisor and placement agent in
connection with an offering or series of offerings of Company securities. Specifically, NSC was the placement agent
in connection with the sale of its Series A preferred stock.
In connection with the closing of Series A preferred stock offering, the Company issued warrants (“Preferred A
Placement Warrants”) to purchase a total of 133,648 shares of its common stock to NSC on March 14, 2018 and
April 23, 2018. On June 1, 2018, the Preferred A Placement Warrants were reassigned among NSC and three
individuals at LPV. The Preferred A Placement Warrants have a term of five years and the exercise price is equal
to the conversion price of Series A preferred stock upon its conversion. The number of common stock shares
issuable pursuant to the warrants shall be equal to 10% of the aggregate number of common stock shares issued by
the Company upon conversion of 1,336,485 shares of Series A preferred stock (as adjusted for stock splits, stock
dividends, stock combination, recapitalizations and certain similar events).
The Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that was approved on March 28, 2019 amended and
fixed the conversion price of the Series A preferred stock at $1.40. As a result, on August 28, 2019, the Company
elected to amend and reissue the Preferred A Placement Warrants, thereby reducing the exercise price to $1.40 and
increasing the number of warrant shares by 109,200 to a total of 242,848 warrant shares. As of December 31, 2020,
the Preferred A Placement Warrants were exercisable into 242,848 shares of the Company’s common stock with an
exercise price of $1.40 per share.
Preferred A Lead Investor Warrants
On February 8, 2018, the Company entered into a letter agreement with several investors (“Series A Lead Investor”),
pursuant to which the Company issued warrants (“Preferred A Lead Investor Warrants”) to purchase 336,612 shares
of its common stock to the Series A Lead Investor in connection with the issuance of Series A preferred stock. The
Preferred A Lead Investor Warrants were issued on March 14, 2018 and have a term of five years and an exercise
price of $0.0125 per share. Under the letter agreement, the Series A Lead Investor was granted (1) a right of first
refusal to purchase up to 100 percent of the securities sold in any offering of securities other than one that is led by
an investor that is purchasing securities primarily for strategic, rather than financial, reasons; (2) the right to receive
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a warrant to purchase a number of shares of common stock equal to ten percent of the number of shares of common
stock issued or issuable (in the case of convertible securities) pursuant to securities purchased by the Series A Lead
Investor pursuant to the foregoing clause (1); and (3) a pre-emptive right (subject to customary pro rata underwriter
cutbacks) to purchase a percentage of common stock sold in the Company’s IPO equal to the Series A Lead
Investor’s percentage ownership of the Company’s common stock (assuming conversion of all convertible securities)
as of immediately prior to such IPO and certain additional preemptive and other rights. All such rights will terminate
upon the Company’s consummation of an IPO.
On June 28, 2019, the Company elected to amend and reissue the Preferred A Lead Investor Warrants, thereby
increasing the number of warrant shares by 139,172 to a total of 475,784 warrant shares. The remaining term and the
exercise price of the warrants are the same as the original warrants.
Concurrent with this reissuance, the holders of the Preferred A Lead Investor Warrants exercised their warrants at an
exercise price of $0.0125 per share. The number of shares issued from this exercise was 475,784 shares.
Preferred B Placement Warrants
On April 16, 2019, in connection with the Series B preferred stock offering, the Company issued warrants
(“Preferred B Placement Warrants”) to purchase 414,270 shares of its common stock to NSC, Newbridge Securities
Corporation, and five individuals at LPV. The Preferred B Placement Warrants have a term of five years and their
exercise price is equal to $2.10, the conversion price of Series B preferred stock. The number of common stock
shares issuable pursuant to the warrants shall be equal to 10% of the aggregate number of common stock shares
issued by the Company upon conversion of 4,142,270 shares of Series B preferred stock (as adjusted for stock
splits, stock dividends, stock combination, recapitalizations and certain similar events). As of December 31, 2020,
the Preferred B Placement Warrants were exercisable into 414,270 shares of the Company’s common stock with an
exercise price of $2.10 per share.
Preferred B Lead Investor Warrants
On March 28, 2019, in connection with the Series B preferred stock offering, the Company issued warrants
(“Preferred B Lead Investor Warrants”) to purchase 23,800 shares of its common stock to several investors. The
Preferred B Lead Investor Warrants have a term of 4.8 years and an exercise price of $0.0125 per share.
In June 2019, the holders of the Preferred B Lead Investor Warrants exercised their warrants at an exercise price of
$0.0125 per share. The number of shares issued from this exercise was 23,800 shares.
The following is a summary of the Company’s warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Warrant
Issuance

Issuance

Consulting
Warrants��������� February 2018
Preferred A
March 2018
Placement
and
Warrants��������� August 2019
Preferred A
April 2018
Placement
and
Warrants��������� August 2019
Preferred B
Placement
Warrants���������
April 2019
Convertible Notes
Placement
Warrants��������� August 2020

Exercise
Price

Outstanding,
December 31,
2019

Granted

$0.0125

303,000

—

$1.40

192,784

—

—

—

192,784

March 2023

$1.40

50,063

—

—

—

50,063

April 2023

$2.10

414,270

—

—

—

414,270

April 2024

$2.97

—
960,117

214,050
214,050

214,050
871,167

August 2025
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Exercised

(295,985)

—
(295,985)

Canceled/
Expired

(7,015)

—
(7,015)

Outstanding,
December 31,
2020

—

Expiration

February 2023
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The following is a summary of the Company’s warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2019:
Warrant
Issuance

Issuance

Consulting
Warrants��������� February 2018
Preferred A
March 2018
Placement
and
Warrants��������� August 2019
Preferred A
April 2018
Placement
and
Warrants��������� August 2019
Preferred A
Lead Investor
Warrants��������� March 2018
Preferred A
Lead Investor
Warrants���������
June 2019
Preferred B
Placement
Warrants���������
April 2019
Preferred B
Lead Investor
Warrants���������
June 2019

Exercise
Price

Outstanding,
December 31,
2018

Exercised

Canceled/
Expired

Outstanding,
December 31,
2019

Granted

$0.0125

303,000

—

—

—

303,000

February 2023

$1.40

106,690

86,094

—

—

192,784

March 2023

$1.40

26,957

23,106

—

—

50,063

April 2023

$0.0125

336,612

—

(336,612)

—

—

March 2023

$0.0125

—

139,172

(139,172)

—

—

March 2023

$2.10

—

414,270

—

414,270

April 2024

$0.0125

—
773,259

23,800
686,442

—
—

—
960,117

March 2024

—
(23,800)
(499,584)

Expiration

Warrants Classified as Liabilities
Preferred A Placement Warrants
The Preferred A Placement Warrants were initially classified as a derivative liability because their variable exercise
price terms did not qualify these as being indexed to the Company’s own common stock and will be measured at
fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of the Preferred A Placement Warrants is approximately $25,000 at
issuance and is recorded as an issuance cost of the Series A preferred stock.
On March 28, 2019, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation which removed the variable exercise price
terms of the Preferred A Placement Warrants. However, the number of warrant shares that are convertible remains
variable based on the total number of preferred shares that are ultimately converted to common shares and thus
these warrants would not qualify it as being indexed to the Company’s own common stock, and will continue to be
measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
On August 28, 2019, the Company elected to amend and reissue the Preferred A Placement Warrants thereby
reducing the exercise price to $1.40 and increasing the number of warrant shares by 109,200 to a total of
242,847 warrant shares. The fair value of the incremental 109,200 warrants was not significant.
Preferred B Placement Warrants
The Preferred B Placement Warrants are classified as a derivative liability because the number of warrant shares
that are convertible is variable based on the total number of shares of preferred stock that are ultimately converted
to common stock and thus these do not qualify it as being indexed to the Company’s own common stock, and will
be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of the Preferred B Placement Warrants is $24,000 at
issuance and is recorded as an issuance cost of the Series B preferred stock.
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Convertible Notes Placement Warrants
The initial exercise price of the Convertible Notes Placement Warrants is $2.97. However, when the Convertible
Notes are converted as described in Note 7, the exercise price of the warrants will be adjusted to equal the
Conversion Price. The Convertible Notes Placement Warrants are classified as a derivative liability because the
exercise price is variable. These warrants do not qualify as being indexed to the Company’s own common stock and
will be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of the Convertible Notes Placement Warrants is
$6,200 at issuance and is recorded as a debt discount.
A summary of the fair values at the issuance dates of the warrants classified as liabilities is as follows (amounts in
thousands):

Warrant Issuance

Issuance Date

Black-Scholes Fair Value Assumptions
Risk-Free
Fair
Dividend Expected
Interest
Value
Yield
Volatility
Rate

Preferred A Placement Warrants –
amended and reissued������������������������� August 2019 $—
Preferred B Placement Warrants – initial
issuance����������������������������������������������� April 2019 $24
Convertible Notes Placement Warrants�� August 2020 $6

Expected
Life

—%

63.04%

1.41%

3.6 years

—%
—%

63.28%
47.65%

2.40%
0.31%

5.0 years
5.0 years

The estimated fair value of outstanding warrants accounted for as liabilities is determined at each balance sheet date.
Any decrease or increase in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability since the most recent balance sheet date
is recorded in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss as a change in fair value of warrant liability. The
fair values of the outstanding warrants accounted for as liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are calculated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
Black-Scholes Fair Value Assumptions – December 31, 2020
Dividend
Expected
Risk-Free
Yield
Volatility
Interest Rate
Expected Life

Warrant Issuance

Preferred A Placement Warrants������������������
Preferred B Placement Warrants������������������
Convertible Note Placement Warrants ��������

—%
—%
—%

67.75%
55.76%
52.93%

0.13%
0.17%
0.36%

2.2 years
3.3 years
4.7 years

Black-Scholes Fair Value Assumptions – December 31, 2019
Expected
Risk-Free
Dividend Yield
Volatility
Interest Rate
Expected Life

Warrant Issuance

Preferred A Placement Warrants������������������
Preferred B Placement Warrants������������������

—%
—%

62.86%
62.66%

1.63%
1.67%

3.2 years
4.3 years

The changes in fair value of the warrant liability for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows
(in thousands):

Warrant Issuance

Warrant
liability,
December 31,
2019

Fair value of
warrants
granted

Fair value of
warrants
exercised

Change in fair
value of
warrants

Warrant
liability,
December 31,
2020

Preferred A Placement
Warrants ���������������������� $12 $— $— $506 $518
Preferred B Placement
Warrants ����������������������
20
—
—
688
708
Convertible Notes
Placement Warrants�����
—
6
—
317
323
$32 $6 $— $1,511 $1,549
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Warrant Issuance

Warrant
liability,
December 31,
2018

Fair value of
warrants
granted

Fair value of
warrants
exercised

Change in fair
value of
warrants

Warrant
liability,
December 31,
2019

Preferred A Placement
Warrants ���������������������� $21 $— $— $(9) $12
Preferred B Placement
Warrants ����������������������
—
27
—
(7)
20
$21 $27 $— $(16) $32
Warrants Classified as Equity
Certain warrants are classified as equity instruments since they do not meet the characteristics of a liability or a
derivative, and are recorded at fair value on the date of issuance using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions. The fair value as determined at the issuance date is recorded as an issuance cost of the
respective series of preferred stock. Those warrants and the assumptions used to calculate the fair value at issuance
are presented below:

Warrant Issuance

Preferred A Lead Investor
Warrants ���������������������������������
Preferred B Lead Investor
Warrants ���������������������������������

Issuance
Date

Black-Scholes Fair Value Assumptions
Fair
Dividend
Expected
Risk-Free
Value
Yield
Volatility
Interest Rate

Expected
Life

June 2019

$51

—%

63.55%

1.73%

3.7 years

April 2019

$9

—%

63.75%

1.75%

4.8 years

NOTE 11 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Adoption of 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective as of March 13, 2018, the Company adopted the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“2018 EIP”) administered
by the Board. The 2018 EIP provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, and
restricted stock awards, for the purchase of up to a total of 1,710,165 shares of the Company’s common stock to
employees, directors, and consultants. The Board or a committee of the Board has the authority to determine the
amount, type and terms of each award. The options granted under the 2018 EIP generally have a contractual term of
ten years and a vesting term of four years with a one-year cliff. The exercise price for options granted under the 2018
EIP must generally be at least equal to 100% of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant,
as determined by the Board. The incentive stock options granted under the 2018 EIP to 10% or greater stockholders
must have an exercise price at least equal to 110% of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of
grant, as determined by the Board, and have a contractual term of five years.
On March 28, 2019, the Board approved the Second Amendment to the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 EIP”)
which provided for an increase in the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to
the 2018 EIP from 960,000 to 1,710,165.
Effective as of November 18, 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2019 Plan”)
administered by the Board. The 2019 Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock
options, and restricted stock awards, for the purchase of up to a total of 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock to employees, directors, and consultants and replaces the 2018 EIP. The Board or a committee of the Board
has the authority to determine the amount, type and terms of each award. The options granted under the 2019 Plan
generally have a contractual term of ten years and a vesting term of four years with a one-year cliff. The exercise
price for options granted under the 2019 Plan must generally be at least equal to 100% of the fair value of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant, as determined by the Board. The incentive stock options granted
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under the 2019 Plan to 10% or greater stockholders must have an exercise price at least equal to 110% of the fair
value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant, as determined by the Board, and have a contractual term
of ten years.
On September 30, 2020, the Board approved an increase in the aggregate number of shares of common stock that
may be issued pursuant to the 2019 Plan from 4,000,000 to 4,500,000.
On December 7, 2020, the Board approved an increase in the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may
be issued pursuant to the 2019 Plan from 4,500,000 to 6,000,000.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 1,254,489 shares available for future grant under the 2019 Plan.
Stock Options
Stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thousands, except share,
per share, and remaining life data):
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Intrinsic Value

$0.68
$0.38
$0.41
$0.92
$0.48
$0.38
$0.66
$0.43

9.9 years

$—

9.6 years

$—

9.0 years
8.8 years

$8,155
$4,607

3,051,811 $0.67

8.97 years

$7,907

Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2018��������������
Granted����������������������������������������������������
Outstanding at December 31, 2019��������������
Granted����������������������������������������������������
Exercised��������������������������������������������������
Cancelled��������������������������������������������������
Outstanding at December 31, 2020��������������
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020����������
Vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2020����������������������������������

270,000
2,757,200
3,027,200
1,732,478
(1,417,500)
(154,167)
3,188,011
1,629,549

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
was $1.78 and $0.19 per share, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 1,417,500 and no
options were exercised, respectively. The fair value of the 1,079,120 and 281,365 options that vested during the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $405,000 and $107,000, respectively.
The Company estimated the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair
value of the stock options were estimated using the following weighted average assumptions for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Dividend yield��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Expected volatility ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Risk-free interest rate��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Expected life����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

—%
68.23%
0.50%
5.89 years

—%
53.64%
1.61%
5.88 years

Dividend Rate — The expected dividend rate was assumed to be zero, as the Company had not previously paid
dividends on common stock and has no current plans to do so.
Expected Volatility — The expected volatility was derived from the historical stock volatilities of several public
companies within the Company’s industry that the Company considers to be comparable to the business over a
period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants.
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Risk-Free Interest Rate — The risk-free interest rate is based on the interest yield in effect at the date of grant for
zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the option’s expected term.
Expected Term — The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock options are expected to be
outstanding. The expected term of option grants that are considered to be “plain vanilla” are determined using
the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting and the
contractual life of the options. For other option grants not considered to be “plain vanilla,” the Company determined
the expected term to be the contractual life of the options.
Forfeiture Rate — The Company made the one-time policy election to recognize forfeitures when they occur.
The Company has recorded stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
related to the issuance of stock option awards to employees and non-employees in the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Research and development������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $86 $42
General and administrative������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
627
48
$713 $90
As of December 31, 2020, unamortized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was approximately
$3.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.0 years.
NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases
The Company has entered into the following operating lease agreements (amounts in thousands).:

Operating Lease

Facility lease – Pleasanton,
California ���������������������������
Facility lease – Pleasanton,
California ���������������������������
Facility lease – Dublin,
California ���������������������������

Purpose of
agreement

Commencement
Date

Expiration
Date

Monthly
Payment

Rent Expense
For the year
ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Office space

December 2018 November 2019 $7 $— $80

Office space

September 2019 September 2020 $5

Office space

October 2019

September 2021 $5

41

15

58
12
$99 $107

The term of the Pleasanton, California agreement expired in September 2020. The future minimum lease payments
on the Dublin, California agreement during 2021 are approximately $41,400.
Litigation
From time to time, the Company may become involved in various litigation and administrative proceedings relating
to claims arising from its operations in the normal course of business. Management is not currently aware of any
matters that may have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

F-26

Movano Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont.)
Indemnification
The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to
these arrangements, the Company indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees to reimburse the indemnified parties
for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, in connection with any trade secret, copyright, patent or
other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to its technology. The term of these
indemnification agreements is generally perpetual after the execution of the agreement. The maximum potential
amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these agreements is not determinable
because it involves claims that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. The
Company has not incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements.
The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and officers that may require the
Company to indemnify its directors and officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service
as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from willful misconduct of the individual.
No amounts associated with such indemnifications have been recorded as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
NOTE 13 — INCOME TAXES
The Company has incurred net operating losses only in the United States since its inception.
The effective tax rate of the Company’s provision (benefit) for income taxes differs from the federal rate as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

US federal provision (benefit)
At Statutory rate����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Valuation allowance ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Changes in fair value of warrants and derivative liability and interest expense
for convertible promissory notes������������������������������������������������������������������������
Other����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Effective tax rate����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

21%
(17%)

21%
—

(3%)
(1%)
—

—
(21%)
—

The Company did not record any income tax expense or benefit as the Company incurred losses in all periods
presented.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are
as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2020

2019

Gross deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards���������������������������������������������������������������������� $4,523 $2,414
Research and development credit carryforwards ����������������������������������������������
367
199
Stock-based compensation��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
74
10
Other������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
27
41
Total gross deferred tax assets ����������������������������������������������������������������������
4,991
2,664
Less valuation allowance ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(4,988)
(2,662)
Total net deferred tax assets����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
3
2
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
(3)
(2)
Total deferred tax liabilities ��������������������������������������������������������������������������
(3)
(2)
Net deferred tax assets ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $— $—
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During 2020 and 2019, the Company has maintained a valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets due
to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of those assets. The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability
of the deferred tax assets and, when it is determined to be more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets are
realizable, the valuation allowance is reduced. The valuation allowance increased by approximately $2,326,000 and
$1,856,000 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$21.5 million and $11.5 million, respectively, all of which do not expire. The net operating loss carryforwards may
be available to offset future taxable income for income tax purposes.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has federal research and development (“R&D”) credit
carryforwards of approximately $238,000 and $132,000, respectively. The federal R&D credits begin to expire in
2039.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has California R&D credit carryforwards of approximately
$418,000 and $274,000, respectively. The California R&D credits do not expire.
The Internal Revenue Code imposes limitations on a corporation’s ability to utilize net operating loss (“NOL”) and
credit carryovers if it experiences an ownership change as defined in Section 382. In general terms, an ownership
change may result from transactions increasing the ownership of certain stockholders in the stock of a corporation
by more than 50% over a three-year period. If an ownership change has occurred, or were to occur, utilization of the
Company’s NOLs and credit carryovers could be restricted.
The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes pursuant to the relevant authoritative guidance. The guidance
clarified the recognition of tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, on a tax return. The impact of an uncertain
income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely than not to
be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain tax position will not be recognized if it has a
less than 50% likelihood of being sustained. No liability related to uncertain tax positions is recorded in the financial
statements.
Total gross unrecognized tax benefit liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $289,000
and $164,000, respectively, related to Federal and California R&D credits. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
Company had no unrecognized tax benefits, which, if recognized would affect the Company’s effective tax rate due
to the full valuation allowance. The Company’s policy is to classify interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as part of the income tax provision in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company
had no accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2020.
The following is a rollforward of the total gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Beginning Balance ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $164 $32
Gross Increases – Tax Position in Current Period��������������������������������������������������
125
132
Ending Balance������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ $289 $164
All tax years remain subject to examination by the U.S. federal and state taxing authorities due to the Company’s net
operating losses and R&D credit carry carryforwards.
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The following table sets for the computation of the basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in thousands, except share and per
share data):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Numerator:
Net loss and comprehensive loss ���������������������������������������������������������������������� $(13,031) $(8,440)
Accretion and dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock����������������
(8,914)
(6,041)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders �������������������������������������������������� $(21,945) $(14,481)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding ������������������������������������������������
3,201,430
1,577,714
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted���������� $(6.85) $(9.18)
The potential shares of common stock that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 because including them
would have been antidilutive are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock ������������������������������������������������
Non-vested shares under restricted stock grants����������������������������������������������������
Shares related to convertible promissory notes������������������������������������������������������
Shares subject to options to purchase common stock��������������������������������������������
Shares subject to warrants to purchase common stock������������������������������������������
Total ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

11,299,425
1,094,167
4,656,918
3,137,811
871,167
21,059,488

10,701,244
2,104,167
—
2,977,000
960,118
16,742,529

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, performance based option awards for 50,200 shares of common
stock are not included in in the table above or considered in the calculation of diluted earnings per share until the
performance conditions of the option award are considered probable by the Company.
Additionally, until March 28, 2019, when the Board approved the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, Series A preferred stock converted into a variable number of shares of common stock.
NOTE 15 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 10, 2021, which is the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.
Between January 1, 2021 and March 5, 2021, employees and directors of the Company exercised a total of 75,208
options for common stock resulting in proceeds to the Company of approximately $40,000.
In February 2021, the Company approved the following:
•

an amendment and restatement of the 2019 Plan which, effective upon completion of the IPO, will
increase the amount of shares of common stock reserved for issuance thereunder to 7,400,000;
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•

the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation which, effective upon completion of the
IPO, will provide for the authorization of 75,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value common stock and
5,000,000 shares of $.0001 par value of preferred stock;

•

a total of 1,415,000 option awards for common stock to be issued to employees of the Company at a
weighted average exercise price of $3.26 per share and vesting terms of approximately four years, and

•

a total of 52,500 warrants for common stock to be issued to advisors to the Company at a weighted
average exercise price of $0.0125 per share.

In February 2021, holders of warrants that were originally issued in August 2020 to purchase 42,220 shares of
common stock agreed to cancel the warrants for no consideration.
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